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Operating profit*

£142.0m
2011:£110.9m

Return on average
capital employed*
14.6%

2011: 11.5%
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* continuing operations, before amortisation and exceptional items

A |ong way in a short time — our evolution

Setting out our aims

In May 2010 Miles Roberts
joined as Group Chief
Executive. In June that year
we set out our aims which
are fo build a company less
cyclical, with consistently
higher refurns and margins,
through differentiating the
business commercially and
engaging with our employees.
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In July 2010 we announced

the acquisition of Otor, a French
corrugated packaging business
specialising in innovative,

high quality solutions designed
particularly for consumer products.
Otor became part of DS Smith

in September 2010. The business
was renamed and rebranded
DS Smith Packaging France.

In December 2010 we gave

a defailed announcement of our
strategy, seffing out financial key
performance indicators for the first
time and seffing festing fargets.
Our aim is to become the leading
supplier of recycled packaging
for consumer goods.




We are becoming the leader

in recycled packaging by offering
our customers high standards of
service, quality and innovation,
on a susfainable basis.




Chairman’s statement

Gareth Davis

2011

| am delighted fo report that 2011/12 has
been a year of transformation for DS Smith,
during which the Group has made great
sfrides towards its sirategic aim of becoming
the leading supplier of recycled packaging
for consumer goods. This has been achieved
through a combination of acquisition and
disposal, while af the same time keeping @
keen eye on the underlying business, which
has continued fo perform very well despite the
current economic difficulties throughout Europe.

DS Smith has gone through a period of great
change in the last 12 months with more
changes still to come. Managing this change
has been a fundamental part of the good
governance of this Company. Meefing the
everchanging demands of the business
environment, wider social and political
influences whilst at the same time ensuring
that our various stakeholders — shareholders,
employees, customers and the environment —
are dll given equal consideration, has been
a challenge that your Board has taken very
seriously. Ensuring that DS Smith has been
able fo rise to these demands as a cohesive
Group has been at the heart of all your
Board's decisions.

Corporate developments and strategy

In December 2010 we set out a clear sfrategy
fo investors, accompanied by key performance
indicators and the actions we would seek fo
fake. A key one of those was fo sfreamline the
Croup, and | am pleased fo report that in July
2011 we announced the agreement we had
reached to dispose of our Office Products
Wholesaling division. While a profitable
business, this had no synergy with the rest

of the Group and the Board believes that

the capital realised will deliver a better refum
invested in our core business. Following the
customary competifion authority clearance
process, that disposal completed in December
2011. We dlso sold a small paper mill in
September 2011, delivering against another
objective fo reduce our exposure to non-
infegrated paper manufaciuring.

In January 2012, affer six months of exclusive
negotiation and due diligence, we announced
our proposal fo acquire SCA Packaging
[excluding its kraffliner assets), the second
largest corrugated packaging group in Europe.
The transaction approximately doubles the

size of the Group and substantially extends

the DS Smith footprint across Europe.

12 has been a year

of transformation for DS Smith
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Due fo the size of the transaction, and to
mainfain an acceptable level of debt, we
announced at the same time our infention to
raise approximately £466 million by way of a
rights issue. | was delighted by the reaction of
our shareholders, who provided support and
leadership, with 98.6 per cent of shareholders
choosing fo take up their right to buy additional
DS Smith shares in the offer. A huge amount of
work has followed, 1o prepare for the point
when we take ownership, expected to be

30 June 2012. | am pleased fo say that we
have a clear plan for infegrating the businesses,
starting from day one.

Trading performance

Throughout this period of strategic change,

the underlying businesses have proved
themselves resilient despite substantial economic
headwinds, delivering a 28 per cent increase
in operating profit (20 per cent excluding the
impact of acquisiions and foreign exchange).
The performance from our European business,
including the Otor business in France, acquired
in September 2010, has been particularly
good, giving confidence in the prospects

for the SCA Packaging acquisifion. Refurn

on averoge capifal employed increased

310 basis points to 14.6 per cent. Eamings
per share from confinuing operations increased
28 per cent in the period to 12.8 pence
(2010/11: 10.0 pence).

Dividend

The Board considers the dividend fo be

an important component of shareholder
returns. In December 2010 we sef out our
dividend policy for a progressive dividend
where dividend cover is expected fo average
between 2.0 and 2.5 times through the cycle.

Accordingly, the Board recommends

a final dividend for 2011,/12 of 4.0 pence
per share which, together with the inferim
dividend of 1.9 pence per share gives a

total dividend for the year of 5.9 pence per
share (2010/11: 4.5 pence per share). This
represents an increase of 31 per cent over the
prior year and a cover of 2.2 times in relation
to adjusted earnings per share, in line with
our policy.

Board changes

In October 2011 Peter Johnson chose to

stand down Tempororﬂ\/ from his responsibihﬂes
as Chairman, due fo personal circumstances,
and in January 2012 he decided fo resign
from the Board. Peter joined the Board as a
nonExecutive Director in 1999 and became
Chairman in 2007 | would like fo thank Peter
for his immeasurable contribution, leading the
business through a period of transition over that
time and leaving the business in an excellent
position fo grow and further develop. | am
delighted to have the honour of chairing

Earnings per share*

12.8p
2011: 10.0p
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DS Smith Ple and look forward to continuing
this work. We are committed fo ensuring

our Board continues to have both relevant
experience and appropriate diversity and,
although we believe it difficult o sef targets or
fimescales for the percentage of women, or any
other group, on our Board, we are opfimisfic
that the targets for board composition set out

in the Davies recommendations can be met.

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to
thank all cur colleagues throughout DS Smith
for the substantial efforts made by everyone

fo deliver these results this year. In a period

of strategic change, it has been their daily
focus on delivering great service, quality and
innovation to our customers, which has enabled
the delivery of such significant progress. | would
also like to extend a warm welcome to our
new colleagues from SCA Packaging, who
will be joining the Group from the end of June.

Looking to 2012/13, we are ready fo sfart
infegrating our new business, and | have every
confidence that the success achieved fo date

will continue.
Aty

Gareth Davis, Chairman

Total dividend per share

59
2011: 4.5p

0.0

02 10 11 12

* continuing operations, before amortisation and exceptional items
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Chief Executive'’s statement

Miles Roberts

Overview

2011/12 has been a year of transformation
for DS Smith, in which we took several
significant steps along the path fo our sfrategic
goal: fo become the leading supplier of
recycled packaging for consumer goods,

with improved mediumerm financial
performance. We are doing this by growing
our packaging and recycling businesses,
reducing our exposure fo paper manufaciuring
and disposing of non-core businesses.

We delivered great improvements during

the first full year of ownership of the French
business, Ofor, which we acquired in
September 2010. In June 2011 we announced
the closure of one paper mill, and in September
2011 we announced the sale of a second,

in aggregate reducing our UK paper capacity
by an annual runate of approximately

120 thousand fonnes. We disposed of our
Office Products VWholesaling division, Spicers,
in December 2011, fulfilling our strategic aim
of streamlining the Group and releasing capital
fo be used in developing the core business.

In January 2012 we announced our intention

fo acquire SCA Packaging [excluding its
kraffliner assets) for €1.6 billion, which will
make DS Smith the second largest provider of
comugated packaging in Europe, and deliver
a pan-European fooiprint. We are funding the
acquisition, in part, with an issue of equity and
we were delighted with the strong support of
our shareholders. This acquisition has received
all the necessary clearances from the
competition authorities and we are on frack

fo complete it, as planned, af the end of

June 2012.

Notwithstanding this period of considerable
change, | am delighted to report that our
operations have performed very well. Unless
otherwise indicated, all references o operating
profit, return on sales, refurn on average capital
employed and earnings per share (EPS), are
on the basis of continuing operations, before
exceptional items and amortisation of
infangible assefs.

In 2011/12 the Group's revenues grew
by 12 per cent, up 8 per cent excluding
the impact of acquisifions and currency. This

increase was driven by volume growth in
corrugated box sales, of 2 per cent, coupled
with strict pricing discipline, recovering

cost increases promptly. Operating profit
increased 28 per cent fo £142.0 million
(2010/11: £110.9 million), an increase of
20 per cent excluding the impact of acquisitions
and currency. EPS increased 28 per cent
despite the dilutive effect of the equity issue
that completed in February 2012. This result
follows the prior year where EPS increased
58 per cent.

The Group has increased its corrugated

box volumes and made good progress in
each of its major markets. This progress was
achieved by focusing on what our customers
value — service, quality and innovation.

Delivering against our Key

Performance Indicators

We have delivered results within our
previously stated farget range for all our
Key Performance Indicators in relation

to our financial metrics, customer service,
employees and environmental performance.

Improved operating performance

www.dssmith.uk.com
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A business model for sustainable growth

Our business model is designed to deliver, consistently, a return on capital above our cost of capital.

The design and manufacture of corrugated packaging s of the heart
of our business, supported by our paper and our recycling businesses.
In the markets that we operate in, we choose to be a net buyer of
paper from third parties, as there are plenty of external suppliers of

this commodity. We regard our recycling business as a way fo connect
with retailers 1o develop the market for corrugated packaging, as well
as providing us with ownership of paper fibre.

1. Recycling

fo our paper mills. Ve see our
recycling operations as more than
a sourcing operation. They also
connect us with our customers'
customer, the retailer. By
engaging with major refailers
about the benefits of corrugated
packaging, we seek to drive
growth in the market for
corrugated packaging.

Recycled paper is made from
recovered fibre, principally from
used corrugated boxes and other
used paper and card. It is a
scarce resource that is fraded
infernationally. We have a
substantial business in the UK
collecting used corrugated and
other fibre direct from refailers.
This gives us security of supply

Customers such as:

Tesco, Sainsbury, M&S, Morrisons
Recovered fibre collected in 2011/12:

1.8m tonnes

The retailer buys products
from the FMCG manufacturer.
They will specify the type of
packaging that they prefer, fo
that manufacturer. The refailer
then crushes and bales up its
used corrugated boxes at the
back of the store.

DS Smith buys used cardboard
from many of the largest
retailers in the UK through

its recycling businesses.

The balance of our business (million tonnes)

Corrugated packaging
CCM manufacture*

Fibre collection

I ©.7

1.2 long

1.8 | long

* Excluding output from Hollins Mill, scheduled to close in calendar H2 2012

2. Paper

We manufacture corrugated case
material [CCM), the paper used
fo make corrugated packaging.
We are a net buyer of CCM,
manufacturing only the amount
strategically necessary fo ensure
consistent economic supply. VWe
also manufaciure a small amount
of other paper grades.

Key raw material: paper.

c. 34 per cent of our paper
requirement is sourced from our
own mills and the remainder

is bought from third parties.

Total sales volume in 2011/12:

2.4bn sq mefres

o CCM volume 2011/12:
0.7 million tonnes

Other paper sales volume
2011/12: 0.4 million tonnes

Cusfomers: corrugated box
manufacturers. 63 per cent of

our CCM is used by our own box
operations and the remainder is
sold. All of our non-CCM grade

paper is sold externally

Key raw materials: recovered fibre.
In the UK all of our fibre is sourced
from our own recycling business.

In Europe the fibre is currently
sourced externally. Approximately
1.1 tonnes of fibre are needed

to make 1.0 tonnes of paper.

CCM manufactured in 2011/12:
0./m tonnes

3. Corrugated packaging

We design, manufacture and
deliver corrugated packaging to
our customers, delivering the high
standards of service and quality they
require. Our corrugated packaging
customers in 2011/12 were over
70 per cent fastmoving consumer
goods [FMCG) manufacturers and
the remainder are other industrial
customers, such as car makers.
Our largest customer comprises
c. 3 per cent of Group revenue.
® Total sales volume in
2011/12: 1.2 million
fonnes/ 2.4 billion square metres
e Cusfomers: product manufaciurers,
e.g. grocery products and home
care products through fo car parts

DS Smith Pl
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Chief Executive'’s statement
continued

Volume in our corrugated box business grew
at 2 per cent in line with our target of GDP+1
per cent for the markefs in which we operate.
Refurn on sales improved a further QO basis
points fo 7.2 per cent (2010/11: 6.3 per
cent), in line with our farget of 7 — @ per cent.
This has been driven by the fight control of
cosfs and a focus on efficiency throughout the
business, and also a focus on prompt inputcost
recovery through pricing where necessary.

Refurn on average capital employed increased
310 basis points to 14.6 per cent (2010/11:
11.5 per cent), towards the upper end of the
fargef range of 12 — 15 per cent and well
above our esfimated weighted average cost
of capital of ¢. 10 per cent. This increase was
driven by improved profitability and strong
confrol of the capital base, including working
capifal. Refurn on average capital employed
is our primary financial measure of success,

as it underpins the susfainability of both our
invesiment strategy and our dividend policy.
This metric is our highest priority. Al senior
management have a return on capital farget
included within their incentivisation
arrangements. /3 per cent of capital

expenditure during the year has been
on packaging or recycling, our sfrategic
priority areas.

Average working capital, as a proportion

of revenue, fell to 4.9 per centin 2011/12
(2010/11: 6.4 per cent). The working capital
improvement has been driven by focused
attention on all three areas of debtors,
inventory and creditors.

The Group was highly cash generative in

the year with free cash flow of £94.5 million
(2010/11: £72.0 million). The ratio of
operafing cash flow, before invesiment capital
expenditure, as a proportion of operating profit,
was 139 per cent, exceeding our target of
maintaining this ratio above 120 per cent,

with the outperformance primarily driven by

the working capital inflow over the year.

As at 30 April 2012, the Group had a nef

cash position due fo the cash raised through

an equily issue in February fo fund in part the
acquisition of SCA Packaging. Cash flow in

the year also benefited from the sale of Spicers,
where net proceeds amounted to £184.5 million
in this financial year, and are expected fo be

approximately £171 million once all
balancing cash ifems (such as tax)

are fully paid. On completion of the
SCA Packaging acquisition, our nef
debt/EBITDA rafio is expected fo be
moderately above our mediumterm target
level of 2.0x. However, as previously
announced, it is expected fo reduce fo
the targeted level by the end of the first
full financial year after completion.

Underpinning the delivery of all our financial
fargets has been the Group's decision to

be a net purchaser of paper, rather than

a fully infegrated producer. By being long

in packoging and short in paper, we have
had the ability to adjust corrugated prices
quickly where we have needed fo and to take
decisions which may have shorterm impacts
on volume, where they have benefited the
financial performance overall.

On cusfomer service, our key measure

of onrime, infull delivery improved from
Q6 per cent fo 97 per cent in line with our
farget. The reason this mefric is important
is because it underpins our aim fo be

a trusted, responsive business pariner.

Key Performance Indicators: measuring our progress, delivering value

We have set testing medium-term targets. We aim to satisfy our four key stakeholders — customers,
employees, shareholders and the environment — because we believe that this is the way to build

a sustainable business.

Mefric Definitions’ FY 2010/11  FY2011/12 Target

Customer service The proportion of customer orders that are delivered within

Ontime, infull delivery the required fimeslot, in ful Q6% Q7% 97%

Financial Volume growth of our corrugated box products, excluding

likeforlike volume growth the effect of acquisitions and disposals +3% +2%  GDP+1%
Eamings before interest, tax and amortisation, as a percentage

Refurn on sales of revenue 6.3% 7.2% 7-9%
Eamings before interest, tax and amortisation, as a percentage

Refurn on average capital employed  of the average capital employed over the 12 month period 11.5% 14.6%  12-15%
Net debt at the period end over earnings before interest, tax,

Net debt/EBITDA depreciation and amortisation for the preceeding 12 month period 1.6x nef cash <2.0x
Cash generated from operations, before investment capital

Operating cash flow,/ operating profit expenditure, as a percentage of earnings before inferest and tax 125% 139% >120%

Employee

Accident frequency rafe The number of lost ime accidents per million hours worked 8.79 6.85 nil

Environmental -20% in

CO, /revenue [kg/£'000) Total CO, emissions (Scope 1 and 2) divided by revenue 518 435 10 years

1. All KPls are calculated in respect of the Group's continuing operations, excluding amortisation and exceptional items

www.dssmith.uk.com
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An effective sirategy driving progress

DS Smith aims to be the leading supplier of recycled packaging because it is an attractive,
growing market. By focusing on our financial aims, we will deliver attractive, sustainable returns
to our shareholders. This matrix sets out the building blocks of how we intend to achieve this.

Improving our
business mix

Our strategy in action

Our implementation strategy

Service is core to our business

To become the leader in recycled packaging for consumer goods

Differentiating by
adding value

Efficiency

Innovation is driving profits

Developing a winning culture
Building on existing foundations

Quality is our frademark

Financial aim

Consistent
GDP+ growth

Reduced cyclicality

Higher operating
profit margins

Returns on capital
above our cost
of capital

Strategic aim

Drive the use of retail-ready packaging

Build our business across Europe

Target FMCG customers — fo reduce volume
cyclicality across products

Reduce exposure fo paper production
Reduce the price review period in contracts

Increase the recycling business

Delivering a high quality product differentiated
by service, quality and innovation

Improve efficiency

Grow our packaging and recycling businesses

Reduce working capital from 8 per cent to 5 per
cent of revenue

Reduce the proportion of paper manufacturing
in the Group

Achievements in 2011/12

e Underlying volume growth in corrugated box sales +2 per cent
e Underlying revenue growth +8 per cent

¢ Announced acquisition of SCA Packaging, building
a pan-European footprint

® FMCG cusfomer base expanded

e Sold one paper mill and announced closure of a second,
tofal reduction c. 120kt

® Recycling business expansion info cenfral and eastern Europe

e Operating profit margin up 90 basis points (bps) to 7.2 per cent

e Disposed of our Office Products VWholesaling division — increased
margin farget from 6 — 8 per cent to 7 — 9 per cent

e Cusfomer service up from 96 per cent to 97 per cent
ontime, infull

e €10.0 million cost synergies delivered from Otor
* Substantial growth from R-Flute®

e £13 million savings delivered from procurement

® Business mix fowards corrugated packaging, paper output
to reduce by c. 120kt

 Working capital reduced to under 5 per cent of revenue

® ROACE up 310 bps to 14.6 per cent

¢ Announced acquisition of SCA Packaging — expected to deliver
a refurn on investment above our cost of capifal in the first full
year of ownership

DS Smith Pl
Annual Report & Accounts 2012
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Chief Executive'’s statement
continued

Our innovation programme has been
developed in the year fo coordinate this activity
throughout the business. We provide customers
with packaging that use less fibre, with less
carbon and less cost, through fechnology.
Examples are the confinued roll out of RFlute®
in the year, the use of our software solutions
"PackRight” and the development of the
mechanisation solutions, which maximise

the performance of our packaging.

DS Smith has a commitment fo provide every
employee with a safe and productive working
environment. | am very pleased that our
accident frequency rate for the continuing
business has dropped 22 per cent year-onyear.
The rate of improvement is principally due fo
the roll out of our safety practices in the plants
previously part of the Otor business, as well
as confinued work throughout the Group. Our
ultimate farget is a zero accident rate and we
continue to srive to achieve this. Lastly, on the
environment, our CO, emissions,/revenue
improved by 16 per cent.

Delivery against our existing

cost-savings targets

In addition to planning for the SCA Packaging
acquisition, we have maintained our focus on
our previously announced cost savings fargefs
in relation fo the existing business.

In respect of the UK efficiency target to deliver
£10 million savings by April 2014, we have
accelerated our plans with additional
restruciuring and are ahead of our original plan,
with a runrate of £7.8 million delivered as we
exit 2011/12. This is principally due to more
coordinated working between the paper and
the packaging businesses in the UK, for
example in the area of logistics where we

now operate o more integrated fleet. We have
announced the creation of a shared services
centre in the UK to improve the efficiency

of our back-office support functions, which

will become operational over the coming

12 to 18 months.

Qur French business had a farget of

delivering €13.0 million synergies from the Otor
acquisition by April 2013, a target which had
originally started at €9.3 million, equivalent to

www.dssmith.uk.com
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

3 per cent of the revenue of the acquired
business. In 2011/12 we delivered savings
of €10.0 million and are on target to deliver
the full amount as planned.

Our procurement team had a farget of
delivering a run-ate of £10.0 million cost
savings by April 2012. | am delighted with the
performance of this team, with £13.0 million
delivered in 2011,/ 12 alone, of which around
half relates to capital expenditure projects.

The typical saving from procurement projects
has been approximately 10 per cent and

this team has become an infegrated part of
the business. The procurement function will

be central fo delivering procurement savings
following completion of the acquisifion of

SCA Packaging, and their delivery this year
demonstrates the capability within DS Smith.

In December 2010 we sef out a target fo
reduce average working capital from 8 per cent
of revenue o 5 per cent, over the three years

fo April 2014. As set out above, we have now
delivered that, two years ahead of schedule,
with working capital at an average of 4.9 per
cent of revenue in 2011/12.

Culture

Sefting out our strategy in 2010, | said that
culture would be a key element 1o its successful
implementation. Since then, this has been an
area of important focus throughout the Group
and we have made considerable progress
this year. Ve have launched a new sef of
corporate values, which are fo be caring,
challenging, trusted, responsive and tenacious,
and which are brought together under @
programme of communication under the
banner "OWN ITI". These values apply to

all of us throughout the organisation, in both
our dealings with customers and with each
other. We have undertaken a defailed rollout
programme with every member of staff, in
conjunction with their feam and line manager,
working through how these values apply to
them and their work and how they confribute
personally to the success of DS Smith. We will
be rolling these out to our new colleagues
following completion of the SCA Packaging
acquisition fo help all our people o understand
what it means to work for DS Smith.

It has been a great year for DS Smith, with
hard work from our employees, all of whom
have played their part in delivering the
excellent results we are reporting today.

Outlook

Since the start of this new financial year, the
good frading performance reported for the
year 2011,/12 has continued, with good
performance from packaging and, as
expected, a more challenging market for our
modest paper business. Completion on the
SCA Packaging acquisition is expected fo
fake place on 30 June 2012. The key drivers
in this financial year will be the infegration of
SCA Packaging and delivery of the associated
cost and cash synergies we have previously
identified, along with the underlying
performance of the enlarged Group.

With regard to SCA Packaging, as previously
announced, we continue to expect that in the
first 12 months of ownership the acquired
business (inclusive of synergies) will deliver a
return above the Group's pre-tax cost of capital
of ¢. 10 per cent. The economic conditions
across Europe remain challenging. DS Smith is
positioned to perform well in this environment,
due to our resilient customer base, the
opportunity for subsfantial cost and cash
synergies as previously announced, and our
frack record of delivering sustainable returns

in challenging market conditions. Accordingly,
the Board views the prospects for the enlarged
Group in the coming year with confidence
and expects fo make continued progress.

i

Miles Roberts, Group Chief Executive



A sustainable business model, creating value through differentiation on

a pan-European scale

Service

Innovation

Quality

DS Smith Recycling prides itself on the level of
service offered fo customers. Ve make thousands
of collections per day, across the UK. Our transport
fleet operates out of 15 recycling facilities. Our
customers rely on us regularly collecting their used
paper and board, and we then ensure it is recycled,
with nothing to landfill.

Tesco has been a customer of DS Smith Recycling in
the UK for over 25 years. We were delighted when
they chose us to manage their recycling and residual
waste streams in Poland as part of a total waste
management contract. VWe now collect from over
400 sites in Poland, covering all major fowns and
cities. This provides an excel?en'r plaﬁ!orm for us to
grow in this important developing region.

The Impact and Innovation Centres in the UK and
France have proved fo be a successful format for
demonstrating fo customers and refailers the benefits
that packaging, designed by DS Smith, can bring. In
April 2012 the new Impact and Innovation Centre in
Poland opened. The 300 m? space was adapted to
show the supermarket, back of store and warehousing
areas in order fo present the DS Smith expertise and
understanding of the FMCG packaging. Customers
are able fo inspect wide ranging examples of best
practice across all categories, get fo grips with
leading edge developments and conduct practical
experiments with their own packaging in order fo
generate solutions for better sales and profis.

DS Smith worked closely with valued customer
Chivas Brothers and leading brand Chivas Regal, to
create a consumer pack fo promote their 4.5L botile
of 12 year old Premium Blended Scotch Whisky.

The bottle is housed in a creatively designed cradle
for dispensing, held securely within the pack. The
result is an impressive EFIA 2011 award-winning
corugated pack that is post printed in 5 colours with
a vamish. The print includes a stylish metallic silver
look, produced o complement the gift carton pack.

DS Smith Pl
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DS Smith combined with
SCA Packaging at a glance

30 June 2012

Our enlarged business

DS Smith will have a

pan-European foofprint,
following the acquisition

or SCA Packaging on

The acquisition of SCA Packaging — an exceptional opportunity to accelerate our sirategy

On 30 June 2012 DS Smith will acquire SCA Packaging
DS Smith announced the proposed acquisition of SCA Packaging
on 17 January 2012. The acquisition will complefe on 30 June 2012.

The fransaction accelerates our sirategy to become the leading supplier
of recycled packaging for consumer goods. There are many compelling
strategic benefits to the deal, including:

1. Geographic fit. We will be able to access new markets through
an expanded network for corugated packaging across Europe;

2. Delivering more to our customers, who want a panEuropean provider;

3. Offering even more innovation as we combine the DS Smith research
and development with that of SCA Packaging;

4. Cost synergies from procurement and operating efficiencies
of €75 million (by the end of the third full year of ownership); and

5. Capex and working capital synergies of at least €40 million
[by the end of the third full year of ownership).

www.dssmith.uk.com
Annual Report & Accounts 2012
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The acquisifion is expected to deliver a refum on investment above our
cost of capital in the first full year of ownership, with further improvement
in the second and third years. Return on average capital employed is
our key measure.

How we fit together

Following the acquisition of SCA Packaging, DS Smith will continue
to have a similar balance of business as before, with a substantial
recycling business and a smaller paper business, both supporting

a sfrong corrugated packaging business.

Pro-forma balance of our combined businesses (million tonnes)

Corrugated packaging [ 3.0 | long |
CCM manufacture* T 2.1 . Short
Fibre sourcing,/collection 5.4 [Pleng

Note: this proforma combines SCA Packaging volume metrics for the year ended
31 December 2011 with those for DS Smith for the year ended 30 April 2012.

* Excluding output from Hollins Mill, scehduled to close in calendar H2 2012



Corrugated manufacturing sites
Enlarged Group corrugated
packaging operations

SCA Packaging — snapshot

3,348mms

cormugated board in 201

2,000

employees

Over

€2./on

3/8ki

testliner in 201

DS Smith Pl
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Operating review

UK Packaging

Market and business background

e In the UK, DS Smith operates three
inferconnected businesses, being
packaging, paper manufacturing
and used fibre collection. Prior fo the
acquisiion of SCA Packaging our
operations comprised 28 corrugated
packaging manufacturing sites, 3 paper
mills and 15 recycling depots.

In 2011/12, DS Smith in the UK sold
1.1 billion m? of corrugated packaging
and board. The UK market size is
estimated at 3.3 billion m? (FEFCO
2011). Excluding output from our mills at
Hollins (expected to close later in 2012)
and Higher Kings (sold in September
2011) we sold approximately 600
thousand fonnes of corrugated case
material (CCM) in 2011/12; the UK
market is estimated at 2.1 million fonnes
(CEPI, to March 2012). We also made
an addifional 266 thousand fonnes

of other paper grades, principally
plasterboard liner. Of the CCM that

we manufactured in 2011/12,
approximately 340 thousand tonnes
was used within our packaging business.

In2011/12, DS Smith Recycling
collected 1.8 million tonnes of old
corugated containers and other used
paper, the majority of which is utilised
by our UK paper business. The market
size for all types of recycled paper

and board in the UK is 8 million tonnes.

In 2011/12, our corugated box
revenue was approximately 75 per
cent from FMCG customers. The largest
customer in the UK comprised 2 per
cent of the division’s revenue.

www.dssmith.uk.com
Annual Report & Accounts 2012
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2011/12 2010/11
Revenue — £m 960.2 Q177
Operating profit — £m’ 64.4 54.2
Return on sales — %" 6.7 59
Return on average capital employed — % 13.9 10.3

* before exceptional items and amortisation

Packaging

In 2011/12, our corugated business has
grown ahead of the market. In the countries in
which DS Smith currently operates the market in
France has been flat, the market in Poland has
continued to show good growth, while the UK
market has been difficult (European Federation
of Corrugated Board Manufacturers, FEFCO,
vear to 31 March 2012). Blended market
growth in the markets in which we operate

was around 1 per cent. Volume growth in our
corrugated box business of 2 per cent has been
driven by a focus on our customers, with volume
gains both with existing and new customers.

The input cost environment has remained
volatile, with the market price of recovered
fibre rising yearonyear by 11 per cent, for
example. Our fofal Group input costs increased
by £124.9 million and we have addressed
this through the usual prompt pricing

recovery discipline.

UK Packaging

The UK Packaging business, which comprises
our recycling operations, paper manufacturing
and the design and manufacture of corrugated
packaging, has delivered a revenue increase
of 5 per cent, principally driven by pricing

fo recover input costs. The year has been
characterised by a robust performance from
the corrugated packaging and recycling
businesses and firm cost control resulting in

an improvement in operating profif of 19 per
cent and an improvement in margin of 80 basis
points, despite significant headwinds from the
paper manufacturing business, where market
conditions have been volatile, particularly in
the second half of the year.

In recycling, which includes all recycling
operations including those outside the UK,
overall volumes of fibre collected increased by
3 per cent fo 1.8 million fonnes. VWe are now
operating in Poland where we have a sole fibre
and waste supply confract with Tesco, collecting
from 400 locations across that country. While
the volumes from this are modest in the context

of the overall business, it gives us an excellent
platform for growth in the region. Revenue in
the recycling business increased significantly
and margins remain good while refurn on
average capital is excellent, reflecting the
quality of service we provide.

In the paper business, the volatile pricing
environment has meant that, while the business
has performed well operationally, financial
returns have, as expected, been disappointing.
Over the year our focus has been on ensuring
that the paper business is aligned to support
our corugated packaging operations with
infegrated operations where possible to reduce
duplicate costs. One example is in logisfics,
where we have started operating our fleet in o
coordinated way across paper and packaging
fogether. VWe have also been working on the
performance qualities of the paper produced
so that the paper oufput supports the drive
within the packaging operations to deliver
lighter weight recycled boxes. In the year we
have reduced our UK paper capacity, with

the sale of Higher Kings Mill in September
2011, and the announced closure of our
Hollins Mill, which is expecfed fo close

in the second half of 2012.

In the corrugated packaging business, we
have outperformed a difficult market, while
swift decision making and pricing discipline
has meant that we have succeeded in
recovering cosfs. VWe have continued fo see
success from the development of RFlute® in

the UK which has shown volume improvements
considerably ahead of the market. VWe continue
fo see growth in our FIMCG customers, where
our focus on delivering high quality, innovative
product, with high standards of service has
helped us gain market share, principally by
expanding our position with existing customers.

The refurn on average capital employed
for UK Packaging improved significantly to
13.9 per cent (2010/11: 10.3 per cent,
reflecting both increased profitability and
a sustained reduction in working capital.



Our strategy in action:

Service

IS core fo
our business

Nesté Aero Biscuit — Retail Ready Packaging
DS Smith Packaging worked alongside leading
FMCG brand, Nestlé, fo create striking refail
ready packaging for the major product launch
of Aero Biscuits.

The eight colour pre-print flexographic pack
features a superb replication of the product.
ImageRight, part of DS Smith’s PackRight suite
of tools, ensured colour harmonisation with
the shopper pack.

In addition 1o the excepﬂono| print, the pock
includes very effective perforation which offers
a balance between sirength for machine
assembly, supply chain stability and reliability
of opening in store.

The high performing pack has been optimised
fo minimise the amount of material required fo
meet Nestlé's needs and is 100% recyclable.

High impact design for Coca-Cola

The specialist refail print and display
division of DS Smith Packaging, DS Smith
CELEBRATE | Muliigraphics, has combined high impact
OLYMPIC _ graphics with structural stability to produce
GAMES ' a stunning point of purchase display for
(Cestl CocaCola Enferprises’ campaign for the
= 2012 Olympics.

The ‘Coke Bus' designed to combine the
image of a london Routemaster Bus with
Olympic graphics provides an innovative
modular large scale display that can fit either
three, four or five pallets of product. These
high quality screen printed units have been
developed for wholesale channels.

DS Smith Pl
Annual Report & Accounts 2012
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Operating review continued

Continental European Corrugated Packaging

Market and business background

e The market for corrugated packaging
across continental Europe is esfimated
at 33 billion m? (FEFCO 201 1) of which
the markefs in France comprised c. 15 per
cent, lialy c. 17 per cent and Poland
c. 8 per cent.

o Our confinental European business
(prior fo the acquisition of SCA Packaging)
comprises 27 manufacturing sites in
France, lialy, Poland, Czech Republic
and Slovakia. In 2011,/12, DS Smith
in continental Europe sold 1.3 billion m?
of corrugated packaging and board.
DS Smith also sold ¢. 290 thousand
fonnes of recycled paper, of which
c. 130 thousand tonnes was CCM,
used by our packaging operations
and the remainder was other specialist
grades, sold externally.

In 2011/12, our corugated box
revenue was c. 68 per cent from FIMCG
customers. The largest customer in the
continental European division comprised
c. 5 per cent of the division’s revenue.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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2011/12 2010/11
Revenue — £m 743.9 599.4
Operating profit — £m’ 55.6 39.8
Return on sales — %" 7.5 6.6
Return on average capital employed — %' 14.0 12.5

* before exceptional items and amortisation

The continental European business has delivered
an excellent performance, with revenue growth
of 24 per cent, 10 per cent on a likeforlike
basis. This likeforlike growth was driven by a
mix of volume and pricing where our operations
outperformed the underlying market, due to

our focus on FMCG in those regions. The
combination of Otor with the existing DS Smith
business has enhanced the market position

of the enlarged business. In Poland we saw
particularly strong growth driven by our FMCG
customers in the region with growth from both
existing and new customers. In lialy we also
performed well with good volume growth in a
declining market despite a strategic decision fo
reduce our exposure fo lower quality corrugated
sheet sales.

In France, volumes have been robust with a
focus on high quality, innovation-led products
for FMCG customers driving our increase in
market share. We have been working with
our cusfomers, not only fo supply corrugated
boxes, but also supplying bespoke packaging
machinery for the end of packaging lines.

This technology, combined with our boxes
manufactured fo a high degree of accuracy,
can substantially improve the performance

of the packaging while using lighter weight
material, delivering greater value fo our
customers. This innovative approach allows
us to develop a longterm working partnership
with those cusfomers.

Operating profit increased 40 per cent to
£55.6 million (2010/11: £39.8 million),
17 per cent on a likeforlike basis. Operating
margin increased 90 basis points fo 7.5 per
cent (2010/11: 6.6 per cent]. This increase
has been achieved through a combination

of operational gearing, and the benefit

of synergies from the Otor acquisition

coming through as planned, in particular

on procurement.

Return on average capital employed
increased 150 basis points to 14.0 per
cent (2010/11: 12.5 per cent), fowards
the fop end of the Group fargef range of
12 — 15 per cent, principally driven by
increased profit margin.
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DS Smith Packaging France has worked

with longterm customer Danone fo develop
9 a new corrugated display unit for their Evian

product. The boxes and display unit use
pre-print in six colours fo give a high quality
finish. This was combined with the heavy-duty
corugated base unit for the display to stand on.

Overall, the product demonsrates the benefit of
different elements of DS Smith working together.

AA4
evian

Live young
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DS Smith Packaging in Poland has worked
with a leading beer brand to develop

an innovative corrugated container with

a waterproof liner for botlled beer, called
the Ice Pack. Consumers simply remove
the lid and add their own ice fo create an
ice bucket, with special design fo prevent
leaking. This is the first product of ifs type
on the market in Poland.

L
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cu;én!
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Operating review continued

Plastic Packaging

Market and business background

® Our Plastic Packaging business comprises
liquid packaging and dispensing (LP&D)
and refurnable transit packaging (RTP).

e [P&D is principally used in the beverage
secfor and is also used in some indusfrial
solutions such as oils and in-home
products such as laundry defergents.
The global market for LP&D products is
estimated at c. £500 million. DS Smith
has a number two position in the global
market, with a particularly strong
position in the US. It operates from

11 manufacturing operations in Europe,
USA, Australia and New Zealand.

RTP is used across the retail, automotive,
electronics and beverage secfors. RTP
operates across 10 locations in Europe.

* \We also make modified atmosphere
packaging for fresh fruit and vegetables.

2011/12 2010/11
Revenue — £m 265.3 242.2
Operating profit — £m’ 220 16.9
Return on sales — %" 8.3 7.0
Return on average capital employed — %" 19.6 14.9

* before exceptional items and amortisation

Our Plastic Packaging division has

delivered a very strong performance, with
revenue up 10 per cent fo £265.3 million
(2010/11: £242.2 million). Operating
profit increased 30 per cent fo £22.0 million
(2010/11: £16.9 million) while return on
sales increased 130 basis points and refurn
on average capital employed increased
470 basis points.

In the LP&D business, the US business continued
to perform well with confinued success for our
products for fea ums, smoothie dispensers and
coffee bags. Margins in this part of the business
improved significantly due both to a move to a

higher margin mix of products, as some lower
margin sales have been replaced by higher
quality products, and also due fo cost
restructuring in the European part of the LP&D
business. We have set up a new factory in
Thailand to shorten our supply chain fo serve
the growing market in that region for fruit juice
and concentrate exports; this facility is expected
fo become operational shorly.

The RTP business has seen significant revenue
growth in the year, with the extrusion business
performing particularly well, supplying products
particularly info the pharmaceutical and
aufomotive industries.

Our strategy in action:

Quality

IS Our

trademark

Eco-friendly innovation

DS Smith Plastics has developed an
environmentallyfriendly and innovative bag
solution in collaboration with Ecologic for
their eco.botle™ line. The innovative bag
was designed o fit the eco.botile™ outer
shell, made from 100% recycled fibre.
Through R&D and innovation the bag sealing
was developed fo withstand and perform
under stringent criticalto-quality criteria in the
disfribution chain. The bag can be filled by
any standard commercial botfle filling
equipment — eliminating the need for

cusfomers to invest in new filling equipment.
This bag uses up to 70 per cent less plastic
than regular blow-moulded jugs, and its inner
pouch and spout can be recycled along with
plastic grocery bags in refailer dropoff bins.

Since commercialising the bag for Ecologic
in January of 2011, we have supplied
approximately 1 million 50-ounce bags
with a defergentstyle closing cap or twist
cap, for the US market, with other sizes
under development.

The eco.botile™ is well suited fo a

wide array of consumer products ranging
from pourable goods to beverages and
personal care products, making it atiractive
to ecologicalminded customers. If is

100 per cent recyclable and compostable.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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Financial review

The Group achieved another
strong financial performance in
2011/12, despite an economic
environment which continues to

be challenging and sustained

input cost pressures. It has been

a period of significant change

for the business, with the sale of
the Office Products Wholesaling
division and the planned
acquisiion of SCA Packaging,
partially funded by a rights issue,
and the remainder fun&ged through
refinancing. Throughout, we have
maintained a rigorous focus on our
core business and are delivering on
the strategic, medium term financial
fargefs we have set ourselves.

Steve Dryden, Group Finance Director

Overview

The Group achieved another strong

financial performance in 2011/12, despite
an economic environment which confinues

to be challenging and sustained input cost
pressures. It has been a period of significant
change for the business, with the sale of the
Office Products Wholesaling division and the
planned acquisition of SCA Packaging, partially
funded by a rights issue, and the remainder
funded through refinancing. Throughout, we
have maintained a rigorous focus on our core
business and are delivering on the sfrategic,
medium term financial fargets we have

set ourselves.

Revenue from confinuing operations for the year
increased by 12 per cent and operating profit
increased by 28 per cent. Adjusted earnings
per share increased 28 per cent, despite the
dilutive effect of the equity issue that completed
in February 2012. Free cash flow increased
by 31 per cent, principally due fo improved
management of working capital despite the
impact of price increases and higher volumes.
These results reflect the resilience of our FMCG
customer base and the success of our pricing
strategy fo recover increased input costs

faster, along with the fullyear impact of the
Otor acquisition and our ongoing focus on
controlling costs and reducing working capital.

Trading results

The Group's frading results for 2011/12 are
summarised in Table 1 (all results exclude the
Office Products VWholesaling division which
was sold in December 2011 and is therefore
reported as a discontinued operation).

The 2011/12 results were driven by a sfrong
performance across the Group with volume
growth and improved refurmn on sales, combined
with the full year benefit from the acquisition of
Otor which has been successfully integrated.

Revenue from confinuing operations for
2011/12 of £1,969.4 million represents
an increase of 12 per cent. On a likeforlike
basis, excluding the fullyear impact of

the acquisition of Otor, revenue was up

8 per centon 2010/11.

Operating profit from continuing operations

in 2011/12 increased by 28 per cent to
£142.0 million, likeforlike operating profit

is up 20 per cent. UK Packaging was up

19 per cent at £64.4 million, whilst Continental
European Packaging increased 40 per cent

fo £55.6 million (17 per cent on a likeforlike
basis). This performance was supported by
Plastic Packaging which increased operating
profit 30 per cent to £22.0 million. Refumn

on sales from continuing operations increased
Q0 basis points to 7.2 per cent.

MOIADY ssaulsng

Operating profit was up 41 per cent in

the first half, 22 per cent on a likeforlike
basis. Operating profit was up 15 per cent
on a reported basis and 18 per cent on

a likeforlike basis in the second half.

The Group's preax return on average capifall
employed (which is defined as the operafing
profit divided by the monthly average capifal
employed) increased from 11.5 per cent in
2010/11 1o 14.6 per centin 2011/12,
significantly above the Group’s esfimated
predax cost of capital of c. 10 per cent.

The increase in the Group's refurn on

capital employed reflected higher returns in
2011/12 across all continuing operations.

Exceptional items

Acquisition costs in respect of the proposed
acquisiion of SCA Packaging are in line
with our initial estimate of £50 million. Of
this, £18.4 million has been recognised as
an exceptional cost in the 2011/12 income
statement, £16.9 million has been charged
fo share premium and £7.0 million has been
capifalised on the balance sheet and will

be amortised through the income statement.
The remainder is expected to be incurred

in2012/13.

A net exceptional gain affer tax of

£3.3 million has been recognised in the

year (2010/11: costs of £1.8 million). This
comprises a £58.0 million postiax exceptional
gain in discontinued operations arising from
the sale of the Office Products VWholesaling
division offsef by other confinuing operations
postiax exceptional costs of £54.7 million
(2010/11: £2.0 million). These costs primarily
relate to the impairment of intangible and
tangible fixed assets (£36.5 million) and
restructuring cosfs within the UK Packaging
division (£30.6 million) (after the benefit

of a £15.4 million tax credit], as part of

our sfrafegy to reduce paper production and

fo reduce costs to underpin future retums in

the Packaging business.

Inferest, tax and earnings per share
Net interest expense decreased from
£20.0 million in 2010/11 1o £18.4 million
in 2011/12, the reduction being principally

DS Smith Pl
Annual Report & Accounts 2012



Financial review continued

Table 1 - Trading results summary

First half Second half Full year
2011/12 2010/11 2011/12 2010/11 2011/12 2010/11
Revenue — £m 1,034.5 822.3 934.9 937.0 1,969.4 1,759.3
Operafing profit — £m 78.3 55.5 63.7 554 142.0 110.9
Refurn on sales* 7.6% 6.7% 6.8% 5.9% 7.2% 6.3%
Return on average capital employed* 15.4% 12.4% 13.7% 10.8% 14.6% 11.5%
* before amortisation and exceptional ifems
Table 2 - Cash flow 4 "
2011/12 2010/11 and a fax credit of £15.4 million on other
£m ¢m  exceptional items. Reported profit after tax
Operating profit 1420 1100 from continuing operations was £8.4 million
Depreciafion 63.9 67.1 (2011/10: £53.1 million).
EBITDA 205.9 178.0 !n November '201 1 the Group reinstoTeFJ
Working ccpito| movement 43.7 02 ifs |nv§stmenf .|n Rubezhons'k, the Grgups
Pens o 241 990 associate business in Ukraine, following a
ension payments/ofher _ (24.1) (2201 ¢\ cessful refinancing. As such, the Group
Cash generated from operations 2255 156.2 has recognised ifs share of the associate’s
Capital expenditure (94.2) (62.3)  result from this date.
Disposal of fixed assefs 8.3 99 Adiusied earmings per share from
Tox paid (25.3) (16.0)  continuing operations were 12.8 pence
Net inferest paid (19.8) (15.8) (2010/11:10.0 pencel, an increase
Free cash flow 94.5 72.0 of 28 per cent.
SCA Packaging acquisition costs (7.0) - Discontinued operations
Other exceptional cash costs (19.5) (15.1) lhe Oflﬂce fPrcgjolucts \g\/holesolin% division has
Dividend 315 22 6 een classitied as a discontinued operation,
AM ‘ertwf ’ f <ubsidiany bus ( 2 3; 1(65 ]) having been disposed of on 30 December
cquisttion efsubsicliary businesses : 16511 2017 Postiax profit for the period to disposal
Divestment of subsidiory businesses 1845 ~ was £9.3 million. Profit on disposal of the
Net cash flow 218.7 (130.8)  Office Products Wholesaling division of
Shares issued 449.9 43.6 2()7.;| million has been |recogniAsfed in the
Net debt ired 14.2 36 6) Period as an exceptional item. After a tax
o enacaure 4 1142 1860 charge of £9.1 million, the nef gain is
Foreign exchange and fair value movements 24.7 (14.1) 580 million
Net debt movement — continuing operations 679.1 1379 '
Discontinued operations (6.4) 26.4 Dividend
: —  The proposed final dividend is 4.0 pence
Total net debt movement 672.7 (111.5)

due fo inferest received on the proceeds

from the rights issue and the proceeds arising
from the disposal of the Office Products
Wholesaling division. The employment
benefit net finance expense, which is

largely a noncash item, was £4.8 million
(2010/11: £7.4 million), reflecting a

lower deficit of the defined benefit schemes
following the actions taken at the end of last
year fo reduce the liabilities of the UK scheme.

Profit before tax from continuing operations
[excluding amortisation, exceptional items and
share of loss of associate) was £118.8 million

www.dssmith.uk.com
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(2010/11: £83.5 million), an increase
of 42 per cent. Reported profit before tax
from continuing operations was £21.7 million

(2011/10: £77.6 million).

The Group's effective tax rafe from continuing
operations, excluding exceptional ifems and
associate, at 27.6 per cent, was marginally
lower than the previous year's rate of 28.2
per cent, principally due fo a reduction in
the UK corporation tax rafe. A fax credit on
exceptional items of £17.3 million resulted
from both the tax allowances for SCA
Packaging acquisition costs of £1.9 million

(2010/11: 3.1 pence), giving a
fotal dividend for the year of 5.9 pence
(2010/11: 4.5 pence). Dividend cover

before amorisation and exceptional items was

2.2 timesin 2011/12(2010/11: 2.9 times).

Rights issue

Cross rights issue proceeds of £466.2 million
were received in February 2012, less
£16.9 million of costs. The purpose of the
rights issue was fo contribute fowards the
financing of the proposed SCA Packaging
acquisition along with new and existing debt
facilities. The take up for the rights issue was
highly successful, with acceptances being
received in respect of approximately 98.6 per
cent of qualified shareholdings.



Cash flow
The Group generated free cash flow of
£94.5 million (2010/11: £72.0 million),

a 31 per cent improvement.

Despite increases in prices of paper, energy
and corrugated boxes, fight control of working
capital resulted in o working capital cash inflow
of £43.7 million (2010/11: £0.2 million).
Ouwr farget was 1o reduce the monthly average
working capital fo revenue rafio to 5 per cent
by 30 April 2014; we achieved 4.9 per cent
in 2011/12, consequently exceeding our
farget two years ahead of schedule. VWe
believe there are further improvements that
can still be made and will continue to maintain
focus in this area.

Pension cash contributions were £30.4 million
in2011/12(2010/11: £32.3 million),
principally comprising £14.8 million in
respect of the agreed confributions to the

UK Group pension scheme deficit (for the
future financing of the pension scheme] and
a further £14.8 million relating to the disposal
of the Office Products VWholesaling division
in respect of those employees who will
remain in the UK Group pension scheme

as deferred members.

Cash generated from operations was
£225.5 million (2010/11: £156.2 million),

a 44 per cent improvement.

Capital expenditure of £94.2 million
(2010/11: £62.3 million) reflects our
commitment fo invest in processes and
technologies to sustain future growth.

Growth capital expenditure was £33.0 million
(2010/11: £20.0 million). Tax payments
were £25.3 million (2010/11: £16.0 million),
the increased payments largely resulting from
improved profitability on confinuing operations
across the Group. Net inferest paid of
£19.8 million was £4.0 million higher

than 2010/11, mainly due to o full year's
payment of interest on the private plocement
debt issued to finance the Otor acquisition

in August 2010.

Cash dividend cover, defined as free cash

flow divided by dividends declared for the
year, was 1.9 fimes [2010/11: 3.6 times).

Net proceeds from acquisitions/disposals
of £182.3 million primarily relate to the sale
of the Office Products VWholesaling division.

SCA Packaging acquisition costs of
£7.0 million were paid during the year.

Revenue Operating profit* Returns on sales*
£1,969.4m £142.0m 7.2%
2011: £1,759.3m 2011: £110.9m 2011: 6.3%
@OO @ 7.5
1,750
125
— 6.0
1,500 —
100
1,250 45
1,000 75
750 30
= 50
500
o 1.5
25 —
250 -
0 0 00
09 10 11 12 09 10 11 12 09 10

* confinuing operations, before amortisation and exceptional

items

The cash outflow in respect of other
excepfional costs was £19.5 million

(2010/11: £15.1 million).

Overall, the Group had a reduction in

net debt of £672.7 million, principally due
fo the rights issue proceeds, the proceeds
from the disposal of the Office Products
Wholesaling division and strong free cash
flow. This resulted in @ net cash position

at the year end of £321.7 million.

Financial position

Shareholders’ funds of £1,057.5 million

at 30 April 2012 were up from

£584.2 million at 30 April 2011,
principally due fo an increase in share

capital as a result of the rights issue and
retained profit for the year. Profit attributable
fo shareholders was £75.3 million
(2010/11: £70.1 million) and dividends

of £31.5 million (2010/11: £22.6 million)
were paid during the year. In addition,
actuarial gains of £16.1 million from the
Group's defined benefit pension schemes were
credited to reserves. Other items recognised
directly in reserves include currency franslation
losses of £14.2 million, adverse movements
on cash flow hedges of £6.6 million,

Return on average
capital employed*
14.6%

2011: 11.5%

DS Smith Pl
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Financial review continued

a reclassification from the foreign exchange
reserve in relation to the disposal of the Office
Products Wholesaling division of £9.8 million
and a tax charge relating fo these items of

£14.3 million.

The Group has committed facilities of

c. £1.5 billion. The Group is temporarily

in a net cash position (£321.7 million at
30 April 2012}, principally due fo the nef
inflow from the disposal of the Office Products
Wholesaling division and the rights issue
proceeds. These proceeds will be reinvested
as part of the proposed SCA Packaging
acquisition and, on completion, net debt fo
EBITDA ratio is expected to be moderately
above the farget level of 2 times. However,
as previously announced, we expect to
reduce if fo the targefed level by the end

of the first full financial year after completion.

The Group's banking covenants for the
syndicated loan specify an EBITDA fo

net inferest payable ratio of nof less than

4.5 times, a maximum ratio of net debt

fo EBITDA of 3.25 times and net assets fo

be in excess of £360 million. The covenant
caleulations exclude from the income
statement exceptional items and the nef
inferest income/charge arising from the
defined benefit pension schemes. The
calculation of net assets excludes the net
asset or |iobi|i1y arising from the defined benefit
pension schemes. As at 30 April 2012, the
most sensifive covenant is EBITDA to net interest
payable and this has an EBITDA headroom

of £122.1 million (o ratio of 11.1 times).

Just as the DS Smith business model is resilient
and focused on cash generation we have
made sure the financing strategy is equally
resilient. During the financial year 2011/12
and in the year fo date we have therefore put
in place a diverse mix of bank and US private
placement funding and we have renegotiated
our covenants 1o provide further covenant
headroom in a downturn scenario. The
Group refinanced its mediumterm borrowings
in September 2011 with a new fiveyear
revolving credit facility of £610 million.
Included in Table 3 are acquisition facilities
tofalling €700 million which are dependent
upon completion of the acquisition of SCA
Packaging, expected on 30 June 2012,
Since the year end we have agreed

pricing with debt investors over the issuance
of a new private placement with average
maturity of nine years at a competitive
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4.28 per cent annual finance charge and
have fixed inferest rafes in euro and sferling.
The new private placement will repay the
shortest maturing element (€300 million
three-year bridge finance| of the SCA
Packaging acquisition facility and consequently
the next significant maturity is not until 2016.
We now hedge EBITDA fo debt by currency
and ensure that in each country in which

we operate, we have a substantial banking
relationship with a leading bank in that country.

Energy costs

High energy costs continued to be a
significant factor for the Group in 2011/12.
The Group's fotal costs for gas, electricity and
diesel fuel increased from c. £113 million in
2010/11 to c. £126 million in 2011/12.
The Group continued with its strategy of
hedging energy costs with suppliers and
financial insfitutions, the purpose of which is
to reduce the volatility of energy cosfs and to
provide the Group with a degree of certainty
over future energy cosfs.

Financial capital management

The Group funds its operations from the
following sources of cash: operating cash
flow, borrowing, shareholders” equity and
disposals of non-core businesses where
appropriate. The Group's objective is to
achieve a capifal structure that results in an
appropriate cost of capital whilst providing
flexibility in immediate and medium-erm
funding so as to accommodate material
investments or acquisitions. The Group also
aims fo maintain a sfrong balance sheet and
to provide continuity of financing by having
a range of maturities and borrowing from
a variety of sources.

The Group's overall freasury obijectives are
to ensure sufficient funds are available for

Table 3 — Borrowing facilities at 30 April 2012

the Group fo carry out its sirafegy and fo
manage financial risks. The Group's freasury
strategy is controlled through the Treasury
Committee, which meets regularly and
includes the Group Chief Executive, the
Group Finance Director, the Group Financial
Contfroller, the Group Treasurer and the Group
Tax Manager. The Group treasury function
operates in accordance with policies and
procedures approved by the Board and is
controlled by the Group Treasurer. The functfion
arranges funding for the Group, provides

a service fo operations and implements
strategies for interest rate, foreign exchange
and energy exposure management.

The Group’s main borrowing facilities are
shown in Table 3. At 30 April 2012, the
Group's fotal committed borrowing facilities
were c. £1.5 billion. The total gross
borrowings (including derivatives) af

30 April 2012 were £331.5 million.

At 30 April 2012, the Group's borrowing
facilities had a weighted-average

maturity of four years and eight months

(30 April 2011: four years and two months).

The maijor freasury risks to which the Group

is exposed relafe fo movements in inferest and
foreign exchange rates and volatility of market
prices for energy. The overall objective of the
Treasury function is fo control these exposures
whilst striking an appropriate balance
between mitigating risks and controlling

costs. Financial instruments, inc\uding
derivatives, may be used in implementing
hedging strategies but the speculative use

of financial instruments, including derivatives,
is not permitted.

The Group manages the risks associated
with its purchases of energy in the UK through
its Energy Procurement Group, which operates

Committed funds

Facility million Maturity
Private placement Us$105.0 2012
Private placement £25.0 2012
Private placement Us$105.0 2014
Acquisition facility — Term Loan A €300.0 2015
Acquisition facility — Term Loan B €400.0 2016
Syndicated revolving credit facility £610.0 2016
Private placement US$95.0 2016
Private placement €59.0 2018
Private placement €59.0 2020




under the oversight of the Treasury Committee.
UK purchases of energy represent the majority
of the Group's overall energy costs.

The Treasury Committee regularly reviews
the Group's exposure to interest rates and
considers whether to borrow on fixed or
floating terms. Fixed-rate borrowings, taking
info account the effect of related swaps,
comprised 63 per cent of fotal borrowing at

30 April 2012 (30 April 2011: 58 per cent).

The Group has a net investment in major
overseas subsidiary companies’ foreign
currency assefs and liabilities, in particular
those whose functional currency is the euro.
The Group’s policy is fo hedge o large part
of the resuhing exposure fo movements in
foreign currency rates, by means of debt

in the same currency, to a level determined
by the Treasury Committee. The overseas

net assets hedged through euro borrowing
were 97 per cent at 30 April 2012

(30 April 2011: 87 per cent), as a
proportion of the Group's euro net investment.
Following completion of the SCA Packaging
acquisition, the currency profile of the Group's
borrowings will be aligned to the currency
profile of the enlarged Group's EBITDA.

The Group's foreign currency debt may be put
in place either in the currency itself or through
the use of crosscurrency swaps on differently
denominated borrowing. The Group applies
hedge accounting under IAS 39, ‘Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’,
fo its hedges of its net investment of foreign
currency subsidiaries and records exchange
differences arising on the net invesiments and
the related foreign currency borrowing directly
in equity. In addition, the Group's operations
make product sales and purchases of raw
materials in foreign currencies and cash

flow hedges are taken out to reduce the

risk associated from these fransactions.

Impairment

When applying IAS 36, ‘Impairment of
Assets’, the Group compares the carrying
amounts of goodwill and infangible assets
with the higher of their net realisable value
and their value in use to defermine whether
an impairment exists. The value in use is
calculated by discounting the future cash
flows expected to be generated by the assets

or group of assets being fested for impairment.

During April 2012 a series of fests were

undertaken fo determine whether there

had been any impairment fo the balance
sheet carrying values of goodwill and other
infangible assefs. The key assumptions behind
the calculations are a growth rate of 3 per
cent and an average pre-ax discount rate

of 10.1 per cent.

An impairment charge of £36.5 million was
recorded in exceptional items during the year.
An impairment of £28.0 million has been
made in UK Paper, the largest constituent of
which was for property, plant and equipment
relating fo cerfain specialised plant and
machinery which is no longer fully utilised.
Following the announcement of the closure
of Hollins Mill, £4.5 million of goodwill

has been impaired. The remaining charge
of £4.0 million relates to other impairments
in the Plasfics and UK Packaging divisions.

The net book value of goodwill and
other infangibles at 30 April 2012
was £309.7 million (30 April 201 1:
£344.8 million).

Pensions

IAS 19, ‘Employee Benefits’, requires the
Group fo make assumptions including, but not
limited to, future asset returns, rates of inflation,
discount rates and current and future life
expectancies. The use of different assumptions
could have a material effect on the accounting
values of the relevant assets and liabilities,
which in turn could result in a change to the
cost of such liabiliies as recognised in the
income sfatement over fime. The assumptions
involved are subject fo periodic review.

The Group operates one main defined
benefit pension scheme in the UK which is
now closed to future accrual, and also has
some overseas arrangements and a small
UK unfunded scheme. The aggregate gross
assets of the schemes at 30 April 2012
were £765.1 million and the gross liabiliies
at 30 April 2012 were £869.3 million,
resulting in the recognition of a gross
balance sheet deficit of £104.2 million
(30 April 2011: £147.5 million), a

net deficit of £77.1 million {30 April
2011: £111.8 million) after a deferred
tax asset of £27.1 million (30 April

2011: £35.7 million).

A triennial valuation of the main UK scheme

was carried out at 30 April 2010 at which

point the Group agreed that cash confributions

would be £14.8 million per annum, rising
by 2 per cent per annum for the remaining
10 years, with a view fo closing the deficit
within a 10 year recovery period. Pension
cash contributions were £30.4 million
in2011/12(2010/11: £32.3 million),
principally comprising £14.8 million in
respect of the agreed contributions fo the
UK Group pension scheme deficit (for the
future financing of the pension scheme) and
a further £14.8 million relating fo the disposal
of the Office Products Wholesaling division
in respect of those employees who will
remain in the UK Group pension scheme
as deferred members.

The reduction in the gross balance sheet
deficit of £43.3 million is principally
affributable to cash contributions.

Guidance for the year 2012/13

Taking into account completion of the SCA
Packaging acquisition on 30 June 2012,
we expect the average cost of debt for the
Group in 2012/13 to be c. 4.5 per cent.
Depreciation and capital expenditure are
expected to be approximately £160 million.
The expected tax rate for the Group as a
whole is expected to be 27.6 per cent. The
cost of capital for the Group is expected to
be approximately 9.5 per cent. The pension
interest finance charge is expected fo be
approximately £6.0 million in 2012/13,
rising fo approximately £9.0 million in
2013/14 1o reflect changes 1o IAS 19

that are applicable then.

N -

Steve Dryden, Group Finance Director
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Corporate Responsibility review

A sustainable approach

DS Smith collects used paper and cardboard, makes recycled paper, then turns it into packaging —
the full recycled loop. We play our part by helping our customers meet their environmental targets.
DS Smith also has its own targets that we strive to achieve and exceed.

Our corporate responsibility approach

Health and Sofety

Aims

2011/12 actions and progress

e Ensure the safety of our staff and others
affected by our operations.

® Reduce the number of accidents with
the ultimate goal of zero accidents.

Environment

Health and safety is our top priority — in
all senior operational meefings it is the first
item on the agenda.

e |ost time accidents (LTAs) down
23 per cent.

e Accident frequency rate [AFR) down
22 per cent.

e Accident severity rate down 10 per cent.

e 47 sites had no [TAs in 2011/12.

Aims

2011/12 actions and progress

® Reduce our emissions by 20 per cent over the

next 10 years, relative fo production.

e Contribute fo optfimising resource usage
and minimising waste throughout our
supply chains.

Community involvement

DS Smith has set the target of reducing
CO,, water and landfill usage, relative to
production, by 20 per cent over the next

10 years. Each of our businesses has targets

as part of their business plans to achieve this.

e CO, emissions per £'000s revenue down
16 per cent.

o Water usage per £'000s revenue down
12 per cent.

* Waste sent fo landfill down to 12 per cent
from 13 per cent.

Aims

2011/12 actions and progress

® Develop and maintain good relations
with our local communities.

DS Smith seeks 1o focus its charitable
activity on projects local fo our operations
that foster engogement with and between
our employees and our communities.

® We have established the DS Smith
Charitable Foundation to partner with
charities aligned with our activities
and values.

Employees

Aims 2011/12 actions and progress

® Develop our employees fo fulfil The Group has set new corporate values e The 'OWN ITI" programme has been
their potential. under the banner OWNI IT!". rolled out across all employees.

® Promote the alignment of the Group's talent
behind the corporate strategy through
communication, engagement and effective
people management.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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Environment

DS Smith's business model is built
on sustainability — by providing
corrugated packaging that is largely
made of recycled material, and
that is fully recyclable. Our plastics
products, such as baginbox,

also offer significant environmental
benefits over alternative packaging
materials. Therefore, for DS Smith,
sustainability is part of our

business model.

FTSE4Good

FTSE Group confirms that DS Smith Plc has
been independently assessed according to
the FTSEAGood criteria, and has satisfied
the requirements fo become a constituent of
the FTSE4Good Index Series. Created by
the global index company FTSE Group,
FTSE4ACood is an equity index series that is
designed fo facilitate investment in companies
that meet globally recognised corporate
responsibility standards. Companies in the
FTSE4AGood Index Series have met stringent
social and environmental criteria, and are
positioned fo capitalise on the benefits

of responsible business practice.

Our principles and approach to

corporate responsibility

At DS Smith we are committed fo conducting
our business in a responsible and sustainable
manner, delighting our customers, creating
value for our shareholders, and providing
our employees with a safe and productive
work place.

Our core business is the design and
manufacture of recycled packaging for
consumer goods. VWe recognise that our
businesses have direct environmental impacts
through running our operations and also
indirect impacts through our sourcing activities
and how our customers use and dispose

of our products.

Our corporate responsibility (CR) approach
covers health and safety, the environment,
our employees, and our communities.

The Board considers risks o the Group's short
and long-term value arising from CR matters as
part of its regular review of the key risks fo the
Group's operations. It ensures that the Group
has in place effective policies and systems for
managing any significant CR risks and it
receives regular reports on performance.

The Group Chief Executive is the Director
responsible for CR matters and he reports to
the Board on these. It is the responsibility of the
Divisional Chief Executives to communicate and
fo apply the policies, to ensure compliance and
fo review procedures, taking account of local
legislation and potential risks.

The Group has a Workplace Malpractice
Policy, under which employees may report in
confidence any perceived wrongdoing within
the Group on matters relating fo safety, the
environment, unethical business conduct or
breaches of Group policies, the law or other
regulations. This policy is reinforced by @
confidential Employee Concern Helpline
and e-mail facility. Any concerns reported
are appropriately investigated.

How DS Smith plays its part in

a sustainable economy

Corrugated packaging produced by

DS Smith has attractive environmental
characteristics, being both made from
recycled raw material and recyclable.

We work closely with our customers to reduce
the carbon footprint of the packaging they

require — and at the same time, fo save costs.
We look at the cost and carbon impact of the

whole supply chain, 1aking info consideration
the fransporfation, wastage on the pocking

line, and the materials used in the packaging.
DS Smith has been developing lightweight
solutions for some time. For example, we

have developed a type of corrugated board,
RFlute®, which significantly improves the carbon
footprint in the supply chain. While it has similar
strength properties fo alternafive types of
cormugated board, it is 20 per cent thinner.

That means that 20 per cent more boxes can
be fitted in one |orry from our fodory fo that

of our customer, so fewer lorry joumeys are
needed. This is a simple example of saving

our customers cash and carbon in their

supply chain.

DS Smith Recycling is the largest collector and
recycler of used paper and cardboard in the
UK. We are different from our main competitors
in the UK as, unlike them, we do not own
landfill sites. Therefore customers of our
recycling services know that our commitment
lies in landfill diversion.

Corrugated packaging has good
environmental characteristics and we see
substantial opportunities fo confinue the
expansion of its use as a subsfitute for
other forms of packaging material.

Our baginbox technology is used for a wide
range of products in substitution for rigid plastic
confainers, botlles, or other packaging formats
for liquids. The cardboard box is readily
recyclable, while the plastic content in the

bag and fap is often significantly less than the
amount of material used in the production of an
alernative plastic botfle. The benefits continue
through the supply chain as boxes of liquids can
be packed in a more space-efficient manner
and the weight of the packaging is less — often
making it cheaper and less energy infensive

fo fransport. These benefits of bagrinbox
packaging have been independently verified
by PIRA [the Paper and Board, Prinfing and
Packaging Association] and are promoted to
customers by our Plastic Packaging business.

Environmental management and regulation
The environmental performance and acfivities
of the divisions are reviewed at the Group
Environment Committee, which is chaired

by the Group Chief Executive.

Each of our sites is required fo implement an
environmental management system (EMS) which
is appropriate fo its activity. DS Smith has 58
sites accredited under the ISO 14001 sfandard

DS Smith Pl
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Corporate Responsibility review continued

and 26 that have in place a simplified EMS,
appropriate fo their lower level of potential
environmental impact. As part of their EMS,
many Group businesses have procedures

in place for assessing their suppliers’
environmental policies and management
sysfems, as appropriate.

The Group had a number of minor
environmental incidents during the year,
following which prompt corrective action and
steps o prevent any recurrence were faken. As
previously reported, in 2010 the Environment
Agency brought a case against DS Smith Paper
Limited in relation to alleged breaches of the
Higher Kings Mill's Pollution Prevention and
Control (PPC) permit that occurred between
December 2005 and March 2008. The
charges primarily related to the training of

staff, record keeping and the operation of

the mill's effluent treatment plant. A defailed
environmental survey has indicated that these
breaches did not result in any significant
environmental impact. At the court hearing

in October 2010, DS Smith Paper Limited
pleaded guilty to a number of the offences,
generally relating fo record keeping, and
pleaded not guilty to charges of infentionally
making false entry in a required Environmental
Agency record. DS Smith Paper Limited was
found guilty on all charges. DS Smith Paper
Limited appealed against three of the 19
charges, being those charges (and related fines)
of intentionally making false entries in a required
Environmental Agency record. The appeal

was heard af the Court of Appeal in November
2011 and the inifial guilty verdics in relation

fo these charges were overturned.

In accordance with our general practice
relating to any regulatory breaches, at the time
of the incident a full investigation was prompily
undertaken of all cur UK paper mills to ensure
that nothing similar arose. As a result we
implemented a range of actions fo strengthen
our systems including increasing the scope
and frequency of our infernal audis.

The Group's paper manufacturing

operations account for the maijority of the
Group's environmental impact, particularly
because their manufacturing process uses large

www.dssmith.uk.com
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quantities of energy and water. The UK poper
mills are regulated through PPC permits under
which they each have specific improvement
programmes and fargets. DS Smith Paper’s
overall compliance with its environmental
permits rose fo 99.7 per centin 2011/12
(2010/11: 99.0 per cent] principally due

to better performance of our effluent treatment
plants. DS Smith Paper is a key participant

in the UK paper sector Climate Change Levy
(CCL) Agreement with the Depariment of
Environment, Food and Rural Affairs under
which the industry has undertaken to achieve
energy consumption reduction targets. DS Smith
Paper met the final target of the existing scheme
with future fargets yet fo be identified awaifing
Government revision of the scheme.

The Group's UK and French paper operations
are subject fo the terms of their respective
national schemes for implementing the EU
Emissions Trading Directive. We expect the
Croup's emissions fo be slightly below our
emissions allocations during EU ETS Phase

2. The effects of subsequent phases from
2013 onwards are likely fo be more
onerous, being dependent upon the defails of
the emissions allocations and the market price
of carbon under future phases of the scheme.

Environmental performance

In 2010/11 DS Smith set o farget of a

20 per cent reduction in carbon dioxide (CO,)
emissions, water use and of waste to landfill,
relative fo the activity level of the business,

over the following 10 years.

Our businesses include their environmental
impact in their budgeting plans in order fo
frack their progress against their targets.

During the year, we again employed
independent consultants, Bureau Veritas,

fo review our environmental data collection
and reporting process in order o ensure the
robustness and accuracy of the Group's
environmental performance indicators. This
review concluded that overall there was a
good level of process control and reporting
at the sites but identified some areas for
improvement which are being considered
and, as appropriate, implemented.

The Group reduced its carbon dioxide
emissions by 3 per cent in absolute amounts.
Relative to revenue, carbon dioxide emissions
fell 16 per cent reflecting the effect of price
inflation on revenue as well as underlying
improvements. As disclosed, the proportion

of Scope 1 emissions has increased with @
commensurate reduction in Scope 2 emissions.
This reflects the change in ownership of the
power plant at our Kemsley site, where
ownership has transferred from E.ON o

DS Smith, and hence a change in reporting

in accordance with DEFRA guidelines. Water
usage per £'000s revenue fell reflecting a focus
on rollout of best industry practice in this area.
The proportion of waste generated by the
Group which was sent to landfill fell from

13 per centto 12 per cent, a relative
improvement of 8 per cent.

Energy efficiency

Our two largest paper mills, at Kemsley in the
UK and Kaysersberg in France, have on-site
CHP plants. These CHP facilities provide energy
more efficiently, with lower CO, emissions and
at significantly lower cost than if it were fo

be sourced from the external grid. In addition,
Kemsley Mill recycles, in the form of energy
recovery, a substantial proportion of the reject
material, such as plastic and polystyrene, which
enters ifs process mixed in with the wasfe paper
and is separated out during paper manufacture.
The mill's own wastetoenergy plant efficiently
recovers the energy to produce steam for use in
the mill's operations. Further, we applied in April
2010 for planning permission for a sustainable
energy plant af Kemsley to reduce the mill's
reliance on fossil fuels. The proposed fuel for
this plant is hardtorecycle materials, sourced
and pretreated offsite, which might otherwise
go to landfill. The power plant would be built
by energy company E.ON and by waste
specialist VWheelabrator, with DS Smith
providing the site. Planning permission has
been granted and an operating permit from

the Environment Agency has been received. The
project is now subject fo securing the necessary
contracts for a supply of waste. If the contracts
are agreed, it is expected that the plant will be
operational by 2017.



Environmental Performance Indicators

2011/12 2010/11
Energy consumption'’
Gigawait hours 4,078 3,460
Megawatt hours/£'000 revenue 2.01 1.97
Carbon dioxide (CO,) emissions?
Scope 1 (direct) emissions — ‘000 tonnes 687 312
Scope 2 (indirect) emissions — ‘000 tonnes 196 600
Total Scopes 1 and 2 emissions — ‘000 tonnes 883 Q12
Kilograms,/£'000 revenue 435 518
Water usage
Million cubic metres 14.9 14.5
Cubic metres/£'000 revenue 7.3 8.3
Waste management®
Waste recycled — ‘000 tonnes 223 221
Waste sent fo landspread — ‘000 fonnes 100 162
WostetoEnergy — ‘000 tonnes 121 9
Waste sent to landfill = ‘000 tonnes 59 70
Tofal waste generated 504 553
Kilograms/£'000 revenue 249 314
Per cent of fotal waste sent to landfill 12% 13%

Methodology: The Group aims to collect and report its environmental data in accordance with the guidelines
specified by the Global Reporting Initiative and the Greenhouse Gas Protocol (GHGP), to the extent that this is
currently practicable. The figures reported above include data from all of the Group's wholly-owned or majority-owned
operations and sites worldwide. The methodology used is consistent for 2010/11 and 2011/12.

1. The energy figures relate fo the usage of all fuels used in fixed installations on the Group’s sites plus the diesel
fuel used for freight transport

2. The CO, emissions have been calculated using the energy data, as defined above. The factors used for converting
gas, coal, fuel oil and diesel usage into CO, emissions are the latest factors for each year as published by the
UK Department for the Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA] in the Guidelines to DEFRA's GHG Conversion
Factors. The factors used for converting electricity usage are the national figures for each country in which the Group
operates, also sourced from DEFRA; these factors therefore reflect the mix of fuels used for electricity generation
in each country. As required by the GHGP, Scope 1 and Scope 2 CO, emissions are reported separately.
Scope 1 (direct] emissions are those arising from combustion of fuel in installations or vehicles owned by the Group;
Scope 2 (indirect) emissions are those arising from bought-in energy (i.e. electricity or steam) where the combustion
has been carried out by another company. Scope 3 emissions from sources external to DS Smith but involved
in the supply chains for the Group's products and services are not included

3. The waste figures relate to waste generated by our operations; they do not include waste that is collected from
external sources for recycling within our paper and plastic packaging operations

Verification Statement from
Bureau Veritas UK Ltd

BUREAU
VERITAS

For the fourth year we have worked with

DS Smith Ple fo provide an independent
opinion on the Environmental Performance
Indicators presented on this page of its 2012
Annual Report. Having completed a process
incorporating site visits, document review and
inferrogation of associated management and
reporting systems, it is our opinion that the
presented performance indicators provide

a fair and accurate representation of

DS Smith Plc’s performance.

DS Smith Ple should be commended on their
approach fo data collection, which continues
fo remain consistent across the divisions with
a clear understanding of required processes
demonstrated by those with responsibilities

in this regard at both divisional and site level.
It remains clear that DS Smith Plc is constantly
looking to improve these processes; both via
internal mechanisms, and as demonstrated in
the proactive manner in which the company
has continued fo engage Bureau Veritas on
this project.

Bureau Veritas encourages DS Smith Plc
fo continue o improve its data capture
and reporting processes at the Group
and divisional level.

A full verification statement inc|uding
our methodology, basis for our
opinion, additional recommendations,
limitations and a statement of

Bureau Veritas independence can

be found on the DS Smith Plc website
(http:/ /www.dssmith.uk.com/ pages/
CorporateResponsibility.asp).

June 2012
Bureau Veritas UK Lid
Llondon
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Corporate Responsibility review continued

Health and Safety

Safety is our highest priority.

In 2011/12 we have made
excellent progress, improving
our safety performance in each
of our three Key Performance
Indicators (KPls).

The safety of our staff and those affected by our
operations is our highest priority. In 2011/12
the Group continued fo improve its safefy
performance. Our businesses benchmark their
safety performance intemnally and through the
use of external data. Information on safety
performance, including stafistics related o our
KPls, is reported to the Board quarterly. The
overall goal is to achieve zero accidents and
our divisions set interim targets against their
KPls, which reflect the nature of their business
and their previous performance.

In September 2010, the Group acquired

a business in France, Otor, whose historic
health and safety record significantly lagged
that of DS Smith, as we reported last year. In
December 2011 we sold our Office Products
Wholesaling division, Spicers. In 2011/12,
we have worked very hard to improve the
health and safety performance of the Otor
business, along with making improvements
throughout the Group as part of our continuing
programme. The stafistics quoted below

compare 2011/12 with 2010/11, where
2010/11 has been adjusted to include a
full year ownership of Otor. Statistics relating
to Spicers are excluded from all years, as it
is no longer part of the Group.

In September 2011, there was an accident

at Higher Kings Mill {prior fo ifs disposal) which,
sadly, resulied in one fatality. The accident
remains under invesfigation.

In 2011/12, we achieved a 23 per cent
reduction in Lost Time Accidents (LTAs): these
are accidents that resulted in one shift or more
of working fime being lost. There was a 22 per
cent reduction in the accident frequency rate
[AFR), which measures LTAs in proportion fo the
number of hours worked. There was a 10 per
cent improvement in the accident severily rafe,
which measures the hours lost as a result of
accidents as a percentage of the tofal hours
worked. The improvements in the Group's
safety record reflect the leadership shown

by the Group's managers and the ongoing
commitment of our employees fo working
safely. As a Group we remain resolute in our
determination fo redlise a zero accident culiure
and fo continue to build on the progress we
have made fo date.

The Group's progress fowards a zero
accident culture is evidenced by 47 of the

Group’s 107 sites having no [TAs in 2011/12.

In the Group's engagement survey, 84 per cent
of respondents agreed that health and safety

was faken seriously at their workplace. 84 per
cent of respondents also felt empowered fo
raise concerns about unsafe practices. The
Croup's safety communications programme,
operating under the slogan ‘Think Safe, Be
Safe’, aims to raise awareness of key issues,
fo challenge unsafe attitudes and behaviour
and to promote a collective responsibility for
maintaining a safe working environment. This
year we have particularly focused on nearmiss
reporting, supported by training at site level.

The Group has a well esfablished safety audit
programme conducted by internal specialists
and external consuliants. These audits are used
fo ensure sites’ consistent adherence to safety
standards and fo invesfigate possible areas of
concemn. The resulting action plans sef a clear
pofhwoy for improvement. Infegrating sofet\/
info the Group's operational improvement forum
has enabled further progress in spreading best
practice across the Group, focusing on issues
such as reengineering processes fo improve
safety and factoring safety issues into
procurement decisions.

All accidents and situations that might have
resulted in an accident are invesfigated o
ensure we learn from these incidents and

fake steps to prevent a recurrence. In addition
fo focusing on specific risks, through fechniques
of risk assessment and root cause analysis, the
Group also underiakes extensive safety fraining
programmes af all levels of the organisation.

Safety performance indicators

Lost time accidents

(numbers of accidents resuliing
in lost time of one shift or more|

127
2011: 166
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Accident frequency rate

[numbers of lost time accidents
per million hours worked)

6.85
2011:8.79
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Accident severity rate

[working hours lost as a result of accidents
as a percentage of fofal hours worked)

0.21%
2011:0.23%
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Community

involvement

DS Smith has established @
charitable foundation to support
the work of charities aligned
with our activities and values.

We seek to develop and maintain good
relations in the local communities in which we
operate. VWe aim to make positive confributions
fo our communities and build a reputation as @
good neighbour and employer. Our businesses
work closely with local schools and colleges
providing fraining, mentoring, work experience
placements and other opportunities for pupils
fo learn about industry and business. The
Group is involved in a wide range of other
local community activities including sponsorship
of community projects or sports teams and
provision of adult skills training. For example,
staff from our office in Caerphilly are involved
in the Keep Wales Tidy initiafive.

The DS Smith Charitoble Foundation has
been esfablished this year to provide support
fo charities in two areas aligned with the
acfivities and values of the business, being
(1) environmental /conservation issues and
(2) opportunities info work. Application forms
can be found on our corporate website.

The DS Smith Charitable Foundation also
acfively encourages ideas from employees
regarding pofential partnership charities.

The DS Smith Charitable Foundation infends
to identify and start working with its first
parinership charities later in 2012.

Employees
DS Smith employees are skilled,
dedicated and hardworking. We

are engaging with our employees
to deliver the Group strategy
and realise their true potential.

Engagement in our DS Smith story

In 2010 DS Smith ran a Groupwide
employee survey to undersiand better the views
and opinions of all employees on a range of
fopics including the business, their role, their
manager, and their working environment. This
information was used fo formulate acfion plans
for 2011/12 at a local, divisional and Group
level. The actfion plans and progress made
towards their completion has been widely
communicated and will be measured formally
in the next survey later in 2012. Some of

the actions at a Group level that have been
undertaken as a result of this process are
outlined in more defail below under the

DS Smith story = OVWN [T

The DS Smith story — OWN [T!

Delivery of the strategic narrafive has been
accompanied by illustrative stories that recognise
and celebrate the success of individuals and
teams achieved to dafe. These success stories
help fo build pride and belief in the Company
and identify examples of best practice, as well
as connecting the high level goals and narrative
to reaHife experiences with which individuals
can relofe.

Whilst the DS Smith story aims o engage

and excite employees in what we want fo
achieve as a business, the wider OWN [T!
programme also acts fo redlise the potential of
our people by enabling them to own their part
of the sfory. Each and every team in DS Smith
will be engaging in interactive meetings focused
on a local goal that links to one of the strategic
goals. These meefings seek small yet significant
steps that can be faken fo work more efficiently,
collaborate more effectively, use or develop
latent potential or learn from our past success

fo improve the business. Each small step is
suggested and owned by a member of the
team and the accountability for the projects
undertaken shared between the team members,
including the recognition of a project's successful
completion. Once established, this process

will promote the continuous identification and

implementation of improvements which are
directly linked to the Group's strategic goals and
supported by behavioural and attitudinal change
in line with the values of the business. VWe look
forward fo sharing some of these complefed
projects in our 2012/13 Report.

To help share stories and experiences of best
practice across the Group globally, DS Smith
has a new infernal network portal, which allows
employees to read about the success of other
teams, form project groups to discuss ideas, and
connect virtual teams or those with similar clients
or interests. In 2012,/13 this will be developed
as a route fo improved collaboration, better
dissemination of best practice and network
thinking fo harness the “wisdom of the crowd'.
As part of this development, the tool will start
thought leadership around key strategic
questions fo form interest communities who

will meef in summits fo discuss the leading

ideas in those fields based on infernal

and external learning from practical and
theoretical perspectives.

The programme has united employees who
work in a range of countries and with a range
of different product or service offerings around
a single purpose and common sfrategic goals.
There is also a clear declarafion of how

DS Smith employees act through the common
values that form a crucial section of the narrafive:
DS Smith employees are caring, challenging,
frusted, responsive and fenacious. These values
clearly draw on the sfrengths that are already
present within DS Smith but also represent the
common standards required of each employee
in order fo realise our vision.

"Engaging with our
employees, listening
to their views and
responding through
our actions s
an infegral part
of becoming a
leading business.”

DS Smith Pl
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Corporate Responsibility review continued

Engaging with our employees - OWN [T!

The DS Smith story in action In addition, fraining programmes are

The DS Smith story is not a stand-alone carried out by the Group's businesses Our 5 core VOlUGS

programme and the principles are embedded  in response fo their specific operational

in all aspects of the business, including performance requirements. The individual Be caring

people management practices and fraining and development needs of employees We take pride in what we do and

initiafives, from recruitment fo performance are mef through a variety of schemes including: care about our customers, our people

management, falent management and management development programmes, and the world around us

leadership development. which in some cases involve external

The DS Smith narrative tells of a need to occre.d itotion;dsuppfort for sTinyinl%extfernql Be challenain

realise the frue potential of our employees and vocational and proressional quatiticafions; Wi QT ? idt iructivel

it was decided that an objective assessment eIl SEENES Vfor GG el e | e”ore i lhOl ho cor;is i |v|ey

against fixed compefencies would provide e g1, i (oo niexizins] eire chatlenge edch oie dne ourselves
itamal EsouicEs, fo find a betfter way forward

a framework fo better identify and develop

falent throughout the business. Therefore, The DS Smith Group is also commitied, as
bespoke DS Smith leadership and fechnical @ minimum, fo meeting the labour rights and Be frusted
compefencies have been designed that legislation requirements in each of the countries  [RYAEReel kel WeAReeRITS o RioNe Sl
provide a consistency of vocabulary and in which it operates; in practice the Group on our commitments
standards for recruitment, development often exceeds the local and infernational
and assessment across the Group. requirements. As DS Smith’s operations are
This is evidence of e Group's commitrment almost entirely located in member countries B )
T p—. of the OECD, human rights matters are not BIRREEE A
g equal opporl perceived as a significant Group risk. We seek new ideas and understanding
fransparency in all recruitment and and are quick fo react fo opportunities

employment practices.

To continue fo develop the consistency of
performance appraisals across national and
business boundaries within the Group, a new
performance management system has been
launched with all senior managers across
the Group that assesses their performance
against personal objectives, the new
competencies and how they live out the

DS Smith values in their work life. The next
steps for 201213 will be to expand the
new system further within the Group and to
confinue fo develop the predictive measures
for identifying potential and talent.

Be fenacious
We get things done

A new fraining course has also been
developed for new and potential leaders
across the Group that through a range of
modules builds leadership skills that help
deliver and live out the messages of the

DS Smith narrative. This means there will

be a common sfandard of what makes

a ‘DS Smith Lleader’, that they will be
equipped to manage, lead and coach

as well as act as role models of the values
and culture fo their colleagues. At present this
course is running in the UK and in 2012/13

will be extended to other Group locations.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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Risk management

The Group maintains rigorous procedures for understanding
and managing its risks.

How risk is managed at DS Smith

The Board
Overall responsibility

The Group Steering Team
Responsible for making recommendations to the
Board and for proposing risk mitigation plans

The Risk Committee

Responsible for the detailed analysis of risks and
the implementation of proposed plans

Key risks

The Group has various risks, both external and infernal, which could
have a material impact on its performance. The Group's exposure is
mitigated to some extent by the range of geographies and markets
served that constitute the business of the Group, and by the broad
customer base. The principal Groupwide risks, their impact on the
Group and how we mitigate those risks, are set out below.

There are further references fo risks faced by the Group in the
Financial review, Corporate Governance section and in the Notes
to the Consolidated Financial Statements of this Report. The Group
seeks to mitigate insurable risks through an insurance programme
that covers property, liability and other risks where it is relevant
and costeffective fo do so.

Dependence on UK, continental European and other global economic conditions

Impact

Mitigation

The demand for packaging will vary according to the economic
climate in which the Group operates, in particular the UK and
continental Europe. This is particularly frue of customers outside the
fastmoving consumer goods (FMCG) sector, where purchases are more
discrefionary in nature. The impact of the current slow-down in these
regions on the operations of the business is difficult to predict and
could potentially lead to a decline in demand for packaging products.
There is no visibility on when the current uncertain economic outlook
will improve.

Availability and voldtile pricing of raw materials

DS Smith seeks to focus on supplying packaging to FMCG
customers who, because they supply consumers with grocery and
home care products, tend to show more resilient volumes compared
to suppliers of discrefionary purchases. In the event of a sustained fall
in demand, the Group would take mitigating action fo protect ifs
profitability, as sef out below.

Impact

Mitigation

In 2011/12 the Group spent c. £200 million on purchasing paper,
plastics and other raw materials. The Group also spent ¢. £126 million
on energy. These costs have increased substantially over the prior year,
and to date the Group has largely recovered these costs in pricing,
typically with the usual three 1o six month delay depending on the
business. However, in the event that, due fo competitor behaviour or
other factors, DS Smith were unable to recover further price increases
on a similar time-scale, the profitability of the Group would be
substantially reduced.

The Group is seeking to improve the speed with which we are
contractually able to recover input costs, by bringing the UK confract
structures, typically with six month price-treview periods, info line with
our confinental European operations which operate on a three month
priceeview struciure. We also seek fo differentiate our packaging
through a focus on adding value o our customers’ supply chains

by focusing on service, quality and innovation. A description of

our exposure fo energy costs specifically is given later in this Risk
management section.

DS Smith Pl
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Risk management continued

Key risks continued

Strategy implementation and acquisition risk

Impact

Mitigation

The Group has a strategy to become the leading supplier of

recycled packaging for consumer goods. It aims fo achieve this
through a combination of cost control, improved procurement
processes and through organic investment and acquisition. In
particular, on 30 June 2012 DS Smith will complete its acquisition

of SCA Packaging, with fargefed cost synergies of €75 million and
capital savings of €40 million, both to be achieved over three years.
Were the Group not able to implement its savings or were the Group
not able fo find further suitable acquisition targets available at prices
that enable the Group fo achieve ifs strategic refurn on capital fargets,
or were the Group unable to fund such acquisition or investment on
acceptable ferms or fo infegrate the acquired businesses effectively,
this could curtail the delivery of the Group's strategy and negatively
impact the Group's financial refums.

Restrictions due to level of indebtedness

The management feam of DS Smith is being developed with
additional resource, both from within the Group and externally,
dedicated to operational efficiency, procurement, acquisition and
infegration acfivities. There is considerable experience of this work
within the senior team, gained both within the Group and from
their previous roles.

Impact

Mitigation

As at 30 April 2012 the Group had nef cash of £321.7 million.

At completion of the SCA Packaging acquisition, the Group will

pay consideration proceeds of approximately €1.6 billion from cash
reserves and committed banking facilities. The average interest rate

on the resultant debt balance is expected to be 4.5 per cent. Were
events, either specific to DS Smith, or to the financial systems externally,
fo mean that capital was not available at competitive rates, this

could have a material impact on the profitability of the Group.

A one percentage point change in the inferest rate paid by the

Group would increase interest costs by c. £10 million.

In addition, the Group will temporarily increase its level of
indebtedness to above the farget level of 2.0x net debt/EBITDA,

in order fo fund the acquisition of SCA Packaging. The new debt
financing arrangements require the Group to dedicate a substantial
proportion of operating cash flow to make payments on the debt, and
contain cerfain resfrictions on the Group. These include, among other
things, the ability to take on further borrowings, pay dividends, make
certain disposals or fo move asses.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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The average ferm of the facilities committed is four years and eight
months and 63 per cent of the Group's debt is at fixed rates for a
period of 12 months or more. The Group sources ifs debt finance
from a mixture of private placements with institutional investors and
bank debt from a syndicate of 15 institutions. The counterparty risk
is carefully monitored such that the failure of one lender would not
materially impact on the Group's access to capital. Cash deposits
are placed with insfitufions with a Standard and Poors credit rafing
of Aminus or above. In countries where this is not possible, deposits
are held with sfrong local banks.

The Group expects fo reach ifs target of <2.0x net debt/EBITDA
by the end of the first full financial year of ownership of SCA
Packaging. A number of the more onerous restrictions are confained
only in ferm loan A, which is expected to be refinanced shortly
after completion of the SCA Packaging acquisition.

Please refer to the Financial review section of this Annual Report
for a descripﬁon of our financing arrangements.



Key risks continued

The funding position of the Group's defined benefit pension schemes

Impact

Mitigation

The Group’s UK defined benefit pension scheme is sensitive to a
number of key factors: the value of the assets, the discount rate used fo
calculate the scheme's liabilities (based on corporate bond yields) and
the mortality assumptions for the members of the scheme. The valuation
of the Group's various pension schemes as at 30 April 2012, of which
the UK scheme makes up the largest proportion, was a deficit of
£104.2 million. While the UK scheme is now closed to future accrual,
changes in these assumptions could mean that the deficit increases
further. On completion of the SCA Packaging acquisition, the Group
has now assumed responsibility for defined benefit pension obligations
with an assef value [af 30 September 201 1) of approximately

£45 million and liabilities of approximately £100 million.

Environmental risks

On 30 April 2011 the Group's UK defined benefit pension scheme
closed fo future accrual. This decision was taken by the frustees in light
of the growing deficit of the scheme and the trustees’ responsibility fo
safeguard the accrued benefits to existing members. The Group also
reached agreement with the frustees for a profile of future payments

to repay the deficit, being annual payments of £14.8 million sfarting
in 2011/12, increasing by 2 per cent per annum, for 10 years.

Impact

Mitigation

Were a material environmental incident to occur at a DS Smith site,
this could result in material financial costs and reputational damage
that could undermine our commercial position as a provider of
environmental solutions. New regulations relating to environmental
standards and to climate change and CO, emissions can give rise
fo significant additional costs of compliance.

Fall in demand

As set out in the Corporate Responsibility review section of this Annual
Report, the Group has defailed processes in place af all sites to ensure
that, as a minimum, we comply with all relevant environmental rules
and regulations.

Impact

Mitigation

The profitability of the Group is sensitive to volume, the mix of sales and
product pricing. A fall in demand could arise due to competitive action,
product substitution, changes in consumer preferences or an overall
decline in the macroeconomic environment. A 5 per cent reduction in
corrugated packaging volumes across the Group would theoretically
result in a fall in Group operating profit by around £25 million, to the
extent not mitigated by cost control.

Other risks

In the event of falling demand, the Group would take prompt action

fo address its cost base. Further, the strategy of the Group s fo focus

on developing packaging for FMCG, as this sector has historically
shown substantially less volatility in demand during periods of economic
downtum, than indusfrial users of packaging.

Competition in the paper market and the corrugated packaging market

Impact

Mitigation

DS Smith is the largest producer of corrugated case material [CCM)

in the UK, and also the largest producer of corrugated packaging.
Including the capacity of SCA Packaging, the Group will be one of the
largest manufacturers of CCM in Europe and will be the second largest
supplier of corugated packaging in Europe. In the event of material
new paper production capacity being installed by our competitors,

this could impact the market for CCM, which is largely a commoditised
product, both directly or through the impact of imports, which could

in turn influence pricing in the corrugated packaging market.

We aim to develop long-standing relationships with our corrugated
packaging customers based on the value that we add fo their supply
chain, and fo differentiate DS Smith by the service, quality and
innovation that we offer. We are also implementing plans to reduce
our cosfs in the UK Packaging division and fo improve procurement.

DS Smith Pl
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Risk management continued

Other risks continued

Energy costs

Impact

Mitigation

The Group's exposure fo energy costs is sef out in the Financial review
in this Annual Report. The most significant energy risk relates fo the
purchase of gas in the UK, where a 10 pence per therm increase
represents an increase in operating costs of £ million.

The Group aims fo mitigate ifs exposure fo energy coss by a
combination of diversifying away from fossil fuels and, where

this is not possible, through longerm purchasing strategies.

The Group is looking to maximise in-house energy generation from
its combined heat and power (CHP) plants in the UK and France.

The Group operates a centralised approach fo purchasing energy in
the UK and France. The impact of energy costs is managed through
the use of longterm contracts and through hedging techniques. The
Group monitors its hedging instruments to ensure that it is not overly
reliant upon any single counterparty.

Operational failure such as IT systems and controls or facilities failure

Impact

Mitigation

Like most businesses, the Group depends on ifs IT systems and confrols

The Group manages its IT through a combination of experienced

staff and contracted-out teams. The Group has back-up arrangements in
place at all its major sites. The Group operates to the highest standards
of safety at its facilities. The Group has a large network of sites such
that manufacturing of some products could be transferred between sifes.
The Group s also insured against losses arising from certain incidents
that might impact on the operations of our facilities. Note, however, that

for the management of its operations. Were these to fail for a material
length of time, this could disrupt the Group from fransacting its business.
Were an incident such as a fire fo happen at a maijor site, this could
impact on the operations and financial performance of the Group.

Competition

certain losses are either not insurable or not economically insurable,
such as losses due to natural disasters, riofs, acts of war or terrorism.

Impact

Mitigation

The Group operates in a market confrolled by laws governing
competitive behaviour. Penalties for breaching competition laws
could result in substantial fines.

Industrial relations breakdown

The Group has a rigorous programme of training for all relevant
employees, to ensure that they fully understand the applicable laws
and the high standards to which they are expected to operate.
Furthermore, the Group operates a VWorkplace Malpractice helpline
in those jurisdictions where this is permissible, providing a confidential
route for employees to report perceived malpractice of any type.

Impact

Mitigation

The Group including SCA Packaging will employ c. 22,000 people.
Were an issue fo arise that caused a material breakdown in industriol
relations, such that there was a prolonged strike or other industrial
action within a part of the business, this could have a material impact
on the financial performance of the Group.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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The Group maintains good relationships with all significant
organisations that seek fo represent its employees. Furthermore, the
Croup aims fo provide employees with a safe working environment
and a culture that fosters excellent performance and encourages
self-development. Through being an employer of choice, we aim

to avoid material industrial relations issues arising.



Other risks continued

Employee safety
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Impact

Mitigation

Employee safety is the Group's fop priority. VWere an incident to
arise where unsafe practice was found to be faking place, this could
potentially result in the interruption of some of our operations for o
period of time and the Group could incur financial penalties and
reputational damage.

Product liability

The Group has a very detailed and extensive health and safety
programme, which is embedded in all its operations. Further details
of this programme are set out in the Corporate Responsibility review
in this Annual Report.

Impact

Mitigation

The Group's products are used, amongst other things, for packaging
food and drink products and accordingly are manufactured to

conform fo the relevant standards. Were any products o be defective,
or were the applicable standards to become significantly more onerous,
this could give rise to both financial and reputational damage to

the Group.

Taxation

The Group has not been held liable in any material product liability
claims in the past several years. The Group observes all applicable
safety standards and engages with industry bodies in their research
on the use of packaging for food and drink products.

Impact

Mitigation

The amount of faxation paid by the Group is dependent on the
applicable tax law in the jurisdictions in which we operate and on the
geographic mix of the business. Were the tax rafe fo be increased in
those jurisdictions, or the geographic mix of the business to change fo
be skewed towards higher tax jurisdictions, then the overall fax rate of
the Group may rise, impacfing on the profits that may be distributed
fo shareholders.

Foreign exchange rate movements

The Group acfively manages ifs fax affairs in order to minimise
the tax paid, within the scope of the tax laws where we operate.

Impact

Mitigation

Following the SCA Packaging acquisition, approximately 65 per cent
of the Group's operating profit, per annum, will be derived from non
sterling currencies, principally the euro. The Group does not hedge for
currency franslation effects on revenue or operating profit. As described
in the Financial review section of this Annual Report the Group's debt

is mainly denominated in euros and this acts as a net investment hedge
of the Group's euro net assets.

Other social and environmental matters

In relation to currency franslafion, the conversion rate which is

material fo the Group is sterling fo the euro. A decrease in the value
of the euro by 1 cent would reduce operating profit by c. £1.1 million
and, dfter a benefit to the interest cost of c. £0.3 million, pretax profit

by £0.8 million.

Impact

Mitigation

The Group's management of other social and environmental risks is
described in the Corporate Responsibility review in this Annual Report.

As described in the Corporate Responsibility review.

DS Smith Pl
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Directors and Company Secretary

An experienced and dedicated team

Gareth Davis

Chairman

Miles Roberts
Group Chief Executive

Steve Dryden
Group Finance Director

Committee membership

Nomination Committee
Remuneration Committee

General Purposes Committee
Nomination Committee

General Purposes Committee

Skills and experience
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Appointed to the Board on

1 June 2010 as a nonExecutive
Director. He became Chairman
of the Board on 4 January
2012 and is Chairman of the
Nomination Committee. He
was previously Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee. He is
Chairman of both William Hill
PLC and Wolseley Plc. He was
previously Group Chief Executive
of Imperial Tobacco Group PLC.
Age 62.

Appointed to the Board on

4 May 2010 as Group Chief
Executive. He was previously
Chief Executive of McBride Plc
from July 2005 until April 2010,
having originally joined as ifs
Group Finance Director in January
2002. He was a nonExecutive
Director of Care UK Plc until

May 2010. Age 48.

Appointed to the Board on

1 April 2008 as Group Finance
Director. He is a non-Executive
Director of Fiberweb Plc. He
previously held the position of
Finance Director of Filtrona Plc
following its demerger from

Bunzl Plc in 2005. Prior to that he
was divisional Finance Director of
the Filirona businesses and held
other senior finance positions within
Bunzl Plc. He began his career

at Price Waterhouse and has also
held various finance roles within
RollsRoyce Ple. Age 44.



Christopher Bunker Philippe Mellier Jonathan Nicholls Matt Jowett

Senior Independent Director NonExecutive Director Nontxecutive Director Group General Counsel
and Company Secretary

Nomination Committee Nomination Committee Nomination Committee

Remuneration Committee Remuneration Committee Remuneration Committee

Audit Committee Audit Commitiee Audit Commitiee

Appointed to the Board on Appointed to the Board on Appointed to the Board on Appointed Group General

@ December 2003 as a non-
Executive Director. He is the
Senior |ndependent Director and
is Chairman of the Remuneration
Commitiee. He was previously
Group Finance Director of Thames
Water Ple, Tarmac Plc and
Westland Group Plc. He is @
non-Executive Director of Travis
Perkins Plc and was a non-
Executive Director of Mowlem Plc,
Baltimore Technologies Plc and

Xansa Ple. Age 65.

7 September 2006 as a non-
Executive Director. He is Group
Chief Executive Officer of

De Beers Group. He was
President of Alstom Transport and
an Executive Vice-President of
Alstom Group, was previously
Chairman and CEO of Renault
Trucks and @ Member of the
Executive Committee of AB Volvo,
and prior fo that held senior
management posifions with
Renault S.A. and Ford Motor
Company. Age 56.

1 December 2009 as a
non-Executive Director and is the
Chairman of the Audit Committee.
He was previously Group Finance
Director of Hanson Plc and, most
recently, Group Finance Director
of Old Mutual Ple. He is a
non-Executive Director and
Chairman of the Audit Committees
of Great Portland Estates Plc and
SIG Ple and was a non-Executive
Direcfor of Man Group Plc.

Age 54.

Counsel and Company Secrefary
on 1 July 2011. He was previously
Group General Counsel and
Company Secretary of VT Group
Plc and prior fo that he was Group
General Counsel of RMC Group
Plc. He began his career at law
firm Linkloters. Age 44.

Board nationalities

W British (5)
French (1)

Board tenure

W 1 - 3 years (3)
4 - 6 years (2)
W 7 -9 years (1)
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Corporate Governance

VWhat does good governance
mean to DS Smithe

Topics discussed at 2011/12
Board meetings

8

meetings held*

B Covernance 27%
B Strategy 23%
M Financial Management 21%
Operations 15%
Health & Safety / Environment 10%
B Human Resources 3%
Other 1%

* A further 6 unscheduled meetings were held during the
year, principally to discuss the proposed acquisition of
SCA Packaging

www.dssmith.uk.com
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Dear Shareholders

DS Smith has gone through a period of great change in the last 12 months with

more changes sfill to come. Managing this change has been a fundamental part of the
good governance of this Company and the Company is committed fo the principle and
application of sound corporate governance. Meefing the everchanging demands of the
business environment and taking info account wider social and political influences whilst o
the same time ensuring that our various siakeholders — shareholders, employees, customers
and the environment — are all given equal consideration, has been a challenge that your
Board has faken very seriously. Ensuring that DS Smith has been able fo rise to these
demands as a cohesive Group has been at the heart of all your Board's decisions.

This Report shows how the Board looked af the challenges laid down by the UK Corporate
Govermnance Code last year and reviews the Code’s impact on the Company during the
year. Through the Nomination Commitiee, a good deal of attention has been paid fo the
composition of the Board and succession planning, faking info account knowledge and
experience, key skills, diversity and the mix befween Executive and nonExecutive Directors.

As regards diversity, the Board of DS Smith has considered carefully Lord Davies'
recommendations. VWe have a small Board, comprising two Executive Directors, three
non-Executive Directors and a non-Executive Chairman, and therefore believe it difficult to
set fargets or fimescales for the percentage of women, or any other group, on our Board.
We are committed fo ensuring our Board continues to have both relevant experience and
appropriate diversity. Ve believe the Board would be strengthened by the addition of
women with the right skills and experience and will continue fo seek fo identify suitable
candidates. In view of this, we are optimistic that the fargets for Board composition sef
out in the Davies recommendations can be met.

Executive remuneration has again been a hot topic and the Remuneration Commitiee’s Report
[on pages 43 to 54) sets out in detail the Company’s approach fo this important area.

Last year, before the Code came into force, the Board agreed that the Chairman and
non-Executive Directors would put themselves up for re-election annually but the Executive
Directors would only stand for reelection every three years. Having reviewed best practice
and after further discussion, the Board has now resolved that all Directors will stand for
re-election onnuo”\/.

/ Hr s

Gareth Davis, Chairman



Committee structure
The Board

A

Audit
Commitiee

Nomination

Committee

Remuneration [l General Purposes

Committee

Committee

The Company has complied throughout the
financial year with all the provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code. The Board
has regard fo corporate governance issues in
all of its decision making. Further explanation
of how the principles and supporting principles
of the Code have been applied is set out
below and in the Directors’ Remuneration
Report. The Company's Auditor has reviewed
the compliance with those provisions of

the Code specified for their review.

Board and Board Committees

The role of the Board

The Board is collectively responsible for
promoting the success of the Company by
directing and supervising the Company’s affairs.
The Board's role is to provide leadership of the
Company within a framework of prudent and
effective confrols which enable risk fo be
assessed and managed.

The Board sets the Company’s srategic
aims, ensures that the necessary financial
and human resources are in place for the
Company to meet ifs objectives, and reviews
management performance.

In addition, the Board sefs the Company’s
values and standards and ensures that ifs
obligations fo ifs shareholders and others are
undersfood and met.

The offices of Chairman and Group Chief
Executive are held separately. During the year,
each of the non-Executive Directors has at all
times acfed independently of management

and has no relationships which would materially
interfere with the exercise of their independent
judgement and decision making. Gareth Davis
was regarded as independent when

appointed Chairman.

All Board members attend all Board and
relevant Commitiee meetings unless exceptional
circumstances prevent them from atiending.

For meefings where Directors were unable
fo aftend, where practicable, they gave full
consideration fo the matters being discussed
and provided their input fo the Chairman.

In addition to formal Board meetings, the
Chairman and Group Chief Executive maintain
regular contact with all Direcfors and hold
informal meefings with non-Executive Directors
fo discuss issues affecting the Company.
Individual Direcfors are encouraged o make
site visits during the year. The Board reviews
the performance of the Group and underiakes
a strategic review on an annual basis. There
is a formal schedule of matters reserved for
consideration and approval by the Board,
which was reviewed and updated in April
2012. These include the annual budget,
substantial acquisitions and disposals, the
approval of the fullyear and halfyear resuls
and a review of the overdll system of internal
confrol and risk management.

Each Direcfor has access fo all information
relating fo the Group and to the advice and
services of the Company Secretary (who is
responsible for ensuring that Board procedures
are followed and is also the Company’s
General Counsel] and, as required, external
advice af the expense of the Group. The
Directors are provided with opportunities for
fraining fo ensure that they are kept upfodate
on relevant new legislation and regulation
changes, corporate governance developments
and changing commercial risks. On
appointment, new Directors are given
appropriate induction fraining, failored to

their specific needs, taking into account their
individual qualifications and experience, which
includes individual time with the Chairman,
Group Chief Executive and Group Finance
Director and site visits fo major business unifs.

The Board carried out a comprehensive
appraisal of its performance and that of

the Committees and the individual Directors
between January and March 2012. The
review was carried out by an external facilitator,
who has no other connection with the Group,
and who was appointed fo provide a more
independent view and a new focus for

the 2012 Board evaluation. The review
invesfigated a variety of aspects associated
with Board effectiveness, specifically:

1) the way in which the Board defines its role
and approaches ifs work (sirategy, risk and
confrol, performance management, and
communication); and

2) the way in which the Board works together
[culture and dynamics), and optimises its use
of time and its contribution to the Company.

The facilitator obtained feedback from each
Director through defailed onefoone interviews
and attendance as an observer af a Board
meefing. The feedback was collated info @
report which was discussed with each Director
and then presented fo the Board. All Directors
and the Company Secretary participated in the
exercise. Individual Directors were encouraged
fo discuss feedback with the facilitator.

2011/12 Board meetings

Corporate strategy

The main discussions on strategy for 2011,/12
were around the disposal of the Office Products
Wholesaling division and the acquisiion of the
packaging division of SCA. The Company’s
medium-erm targets are fo remain focused on
recycled packaging fo consumer companies;
reducing cyclicality of returns; and reducing
nonintegrated paper production.

Board committees

Details of the matters discussed in the Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Commitiees
during 2011/12 are set out in the following
pages. In addition fo those matters, the
Remuneration Committee reviewed and updated
its terms of reference in April 2012 and the Audit
and Nomination Commitiees’ terms of reference
were reviewed and updated in June 2012.

Board visibility

In addition to regular reports from the Group
Chief Executive and Group Finance Director the
Board received reports from and engaged with
divisional managers and key members of the

support teams.
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Corporate Governance continued

Annual General

Nomination Audit Remuneration Meeting and

Board Commitiee Commitiee Commitiee  General Meeting
Total number of meetings in 2011/12 14 3 4 4 2
Number of meetings atiended in 2011/12
Executive Directors
Miles Roberts 14 (14) = - - 2(2)
Steve Dryden 14 (14) - - - 2(2)
Non-Executive Directors
Gareth Davis' 14 (14) 2 (3) 2 (3) 4 (4) 2(2)
Chris Bunker 13 (14) 3(3) 4 (4) 4 (4) 2(2)
Pefer Johnson? 2 (8) 1(2) - - O (1)
Philippe Mellier® 11(14) 0(0) (1) 4 (4) 2(2)
Jonathan Nicholls* 13 (14) 3(3) 4 (4) 2(2) 1(2)

The Board held eight scheduled meetings during the year and six ad hoc meetings were held to discuss specific issues, principally relating to the SCA Packaging acquisition.
In addition fo the AGM in September there was a General Meeting held in February 2012. Figures in brackets denote the maximum number of meefings that could have

been aftended.

1. Gareth Davis stepped down as a member of the Audit Commitiee on his appointment as Chairman of the Board in January 2012

2. Peter Johnson refired from the Board on 4 January 2012
3. Philippe Mellier was appointed as a member of the Audit and Nomination Committees in January 2012

4. Jonathan Nicholls was appointed as a member of the Remuneration Committee in January 2012

The facilitator concluded as follows: e The responsibilities of the Audit Commitiee
and Board are appropriately drawn.

The Remuneration Commitiee will focus on
ensuring the remuneration policy consistently
reflects the business sfrategy and goals. The
Nomination Committee needs to confinue
fo focus on bench strength and executive
succession planning as a priority.

e During the review the Board demonsrated o
methodical and thorough approach to its
work. The Board demonsirated strategic
clarity and conviction, and spends a
significant amount of time on risk and
control. The Board is assisted by improving
financial information, professional infernal
and external audit processes, and a strong  Three areas were identified by the facilitator

Audit Committee. There is an active and for further Board discussion, all of which
collaborative approach fo performance will become more important following the
management, and a constructive Company's latest fransaction:

Remuneration Committee. The dynamics
and confribution of the Board are fostered
through an open and transparent culture
([promoted by the Group Chief Executive
and executive team), high quality debate,
an even confribution, and respected
Boor\;l Ieodersihilfol. The Boord%nd he e The understanding of the Board and its
Commitiees benefit from carefully planned visibih‘T\/ of risk and executive succession
agendas, and effeciive support from the planning needs fo be further developed.

Company Secrefary. e The Board should give further consideration o
having more site visits and using the informal
time Direcfors spend together for further
discussions which would complement the
formal Board meetings.

e There is a need for a greater level of Board
knowledge and discussion regarding the
infernational landscape, the Company’s
attention to customers, and the relevance
of the Board's future composition.

e There is an open Board culiure. The Board is
focused on ifs ability to deliver value, and fo
make a significant difference through its
culture and dynamics. The Executive Directors

are open and honest in their dealings with The Board has discussed the findings of the

the nonExecutive Directors, respect their facilitator in defail and an action plan has been
views and listen to their concerns. Non- developed by the Chairman, with the assistance
Executive Directors address the right issues of the Company Secretary, to address the

and are both challenging and supportive. areas identified.
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Following this evaluation the Board
recommends the re-election of Directors
standing for re-election at the 2012 Annual
Ceneral Meeling.

Summary of Board and Committee
changes in the year

Month Change

September 2011 Gareth Davis appointed
as Deputy Chairman.

October 2011 Peter Johnson stepped down
as Chairman (but continued
as a nonExecutive Director)
and Gareth Davis appointed
as Interim Chairman.

Jonuary 2012 Gareth Davis appointed
as Chairman. Pefer
Johnson retired from
the Board. Chris Bunker
becomes Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.
Jonathan Nicholls appointed
to Remuneration Committee.

Philippe Mellier appointed
fo the Audit and

Nomination Committees.




Board Committees

The principal Committees of the Board are

the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination
Commitiees. All Board Commitiees have
written terms of reference agreed by the Board.
These are available on the Company's website
af hitp:/ /www.dssmith.uk.com,/aboutus/
corporate-governance or are available

on request o the Company Secretary.

Audit Committee

The Audit Commitiee is chaired by Jonathan
Nicholls. The other members are Chris Bunker
and Philippe Mellier. In addition to the
Commitiee members, the Chairman, the Group
Chief Executive, the Group Finance Direcor,
representatives from Internal Audit and the
Group Financial Controller attend parts of these
meefings by invitation. The Board is safisfied
that Jonathan Nicholls and the members of the
Audit Commitiee have both current and relevant
financial experience (as sef out on page 35).

The terms of reference of the Audit Commitiee
include all the matters indicated by the Code,
except the oversight of business risks which

is the direct responsibility of the Board. The
primary obijective of the Audit Committee is

to assist the Board in fulfilling its responsibilities
relating fo:

® the accounting principles, policies and
practices adopted in the Group's accounts;

® external financial reporting and
associated announcements;

® the appointment, independence, effectiveness
and remuneration of the Group's Audifor;

® the resourcing, plans and effectiveness of
Internal Audit performed on behalf of the
Company by a major accountancy firm
(currently KPMG), which is independent
from the Group's Auditor;

® the adequacy and effectiveness of the
financial control environment; and

® ihe Group's compliance with the Code.

The Commitiee receives and reviews regular
reports from the external Auditor, Internal Audit
and the Group Finance Director. Under its ferms
of reference the Commitiee is empowered fo
seek independent external advice but did not
do so during the year.

The Commitiee meets with the external Auditor
fo defermine annually their qualifications,
experfise, resources, independence, obijectivity,
and effectiveness. The Audit Commitiee
receives writien confirmation from the external
Auditor as fo any re|oﬁonships that might have
a bearing on their independence, whether they
consider themselves independent within the
meaning of the UK regulatory and professional
requirements, and on their quality control
processes and ethical standards.

In order to ensure the independence and
obijectivity of the Auditor, the Commitiee
maintains and regularly reviews the Auditor
Independence Policy which covers services
which may be provided by, and fees paid to,
auditors. Audit fees are negotiated with the
Group Finance Director and approved by the
Audit Commitiee. The policy on the supply of
nonaudit services by external auditors is as
follows: The Group should not employ the
Auditor fo provide non-audit services where
either the nature of the work or the extent of
such services might impair the Auditor's
independence or obijeciivity. The external
Auditor is permitted to undertake some
non-audif services, providing they have the
skill, competence and integrity fo carry out the
work in the best interests of the Group, on, for
example, advisory services and due diligence
activities associated with pofential acquisitions
and disposals and major changes in
accounting regulations. Nonaudit services and
fees are reported fo the Audit Committee twice
a year. For guidance, annual non-audit fees
payable fo the external Auditor should not
exceed /5% of the annual Group audit fee
without prior formal opprovo| of the Commitiee.
During 2011/12, tofal nonaudit fees were
136% of the annual Group audit fee. The most
significant element related to the proposed
acquisiion of SCA Packaging, where the use
of external auditors was approved by the Audit
Committee. Approvo| for permiﬁed non-audit
services is sought as required by this policy
which specifies that individual projects which
would cost over £100,000 must be referred
fo the Chairman of the Commitiee for prior
approval. The outcome of these reviews

was not on|\/ that performonce of the relevant
nonaudit work by the Auditor was the most
costeffective way of conducting business, but
also that no conflicts of interest existed between
such audit and non-audit work. In addition,

£5.4 million was paid to other accounting firms
for non-audit work, including £0.9 million for
work relating to Infernal Audit.

Deloitte LLP, a leading international audit
parinership, was first appointed as Auditor 1o
the Group companies in 2006 and their fees
are regularly compared with peer companies
by the Commitiee. There are no confractual
restrictions on the Group with regard fo
Deloitie’s appoiniment. In accordance with
professional standards, the partner responsible
for the audit is changed every five years.

During the year, the Committee met privately
with the external Auditor after each Commitiee
meeting. The Chairman of the Audit Commitiee
also held separate private meefings during the
year with the external Auditor, representatives
from Internal Audit and the Group Finance
Director. The Committee received sufficient,
reliable and timely information from
management fo enable it fo fulfil its
responsibilities. The Committee is satisfied

that the Group's executive compensation
arrangements do not prejudice robust

controls and good stewardship.

At its meefing in June 2011, the Committee
reviewed the annual financial statements of the
Company and received reports from Infernal
Audit on internal control matters and from the
external Audifor on the conduct of their audit,
their review of accounting policies, areas of
judgement and the financial statements and
their comments on statemnents concerning risk
and internal control. A similar review was
undertaken in December 2011 when the
halfyear resulis were considered. At these
meetings and the meetfing in April 2012,
the Committee dealt with the following
particular matters:

e ot the yearend a series of fesfs were
undertaken to defermine whether there had
been any impairment fo the balance sheet
carrying values of goodwill and other
infangible assets. The key assumptions
behind these calculations can be found
in note 10 to the financial statements;

af the meeting in June 2011 it received a
report from Infernal Audit covering, amongst
other things, the work undertaken by the
Internal Audit funcfion and management
responses fo proposals made in the audit
reports issued by the function during the year;
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Corporate Governance continued

® it considered the effectiveness of systems considers the appointment of Directors,
for monitoring and reporting on risks reviews succession planning and diversity
faced by the Group; at Board level, identifies the skills required of

future Directors and makes recommendations
fo the Board as a whole. A rigorous process
isin p|o1ce for the appointment of new
Direcfors, involving the use of external
recruitment consuliants followed by meetfings
with the Commitiee and then with the Board.

e it carried out an appraisal of the external
Auditor and Internal Audit function, the
results of which were reported to the Board.
The Committee concluded that each area
operated satisfactorily during the year;

® it reviewed and updated the terms of

reference of the Audit Commifiee; and The Committee had developed a succession

plan for the appoiniment of a new Chairman

* it oversaw the continuing development fo replace Pefer Johnson. The Commitiee
and the operation of the Group's Workplace  regarded the appoiniment of Gareth Davis as
Malpractice Policy. Chairman as the best for the Company, based
The performance of the Commitiee was on his skill, experience and knowledge of the

Company. Consequently the Commitiee did
not consider it appropriate fo place an external
advertisement for the position of Chairman.

evaluated as part of the Board performance
evaluation process described above.

Nomination Committee

Gareth Davis became Chairman of the
Nomination Committee on 4 January 2012,
taking over from Peter Johnson on his refirement
from the Board. The other members of the Other Board Commitiees

Nomination Committee are Miles Roberts, Chris The Board has delegated certain powers,

Bunker, Philippe Mellier and Jonathan Nicholls. mainly of a roufine nature, fo the General
Purposes Committee, which comprises

The Nomination Committee evaluates the the Group Chief Executive and the Group

balance of skills, knowledge and experience Finance Director under the chairmanship of
(including the length of service of each Director]  the Group Chief Executive.

of the Board, develops role specifications,

The performance of the Commitiee was
evaluated as part of the Board performance
evaluation process described above.

Conflicts of interest

The Company’s Articles of Association permit
the Board of Directors to authorise a conflict of
interest or potential conflict of interest nofified by
a Director [subject to conditions if appropriate],
provided that the Board considers this to be in
the best interests of the Company.

Each of the Directors in office reviews their
individual position regularly and new Directors
review their individual positions prior fo joining
the Board. Directors are reminded from time o
time of their obligations. The Company has put
procedures in place via the Company Secretary
Whereb\/ the Directors can noTiF\/ any future
conflicts or potential conflicts of interest that may
arise so that the Board can consider whether
authorisation is appropriate. Any nofifications
are reviewed af the next Board meeting and,

if considered appropriate, authorised. Directors
do not participate in the discussion, or vote
regarding their own conflicts. If authorised, any
conflicts are entered in the Conlflicts Regisfer.

An annual review of conflicts is carried out and
this is incorporated info the yearend process
of verifying Directors’ interests. The procedures
continue to operate effectively.

Relations with shareholders
The Company has a programme of regular
meefings (which sometimes includes the

Non-Executive Directors’ objectives

Objectives for the year

My primary responsibility is
leading the Board, to promote
openness and effective debate,
sefting its agenda and ensuring
sufficient fime is given fo
strategic issues. | am also
responsible for ensuring that the
Board acts in the best inferests
of the Company's stakeholders
and guiding the Company’s
business conduct and

ethical standards.

Gareth Davis Jonathan Nicholls

Objectives for the year

As Chairman of the Audit
Commitiee, my obijecfive

is to ensure that the Audit
Commitiee reviews and repors
fo the Board on the Group's
financial reporting, infernal
control and risk management
systems and the independence
and effectiveness of the Auditor.

Chairman Chairman Audit Commitiee

www.dssmith.uk.com
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Chairman and the Senior Independent Director,
site visits and results briefings with its major
insfitutional shareholders, which provides
opportunities fo discuss the progress of the
business. Presentations are conducted in
accordance with the Financial Services
Authority’s Disclosure and Transparency Rules

on the dissemination of inside information fo
ensure the protection of such information that
has not already been made available generally
to the Company’s shareholders. The Board also
receives feedback from major shareholders
following the full and halfyear results. Together,
the Chairman, Group Chief Executive, Group
Finance Direcfor, and Head of Investor Relations

ensure the Board is fully briefed on shareholders’

views such that any issues or concerns are

fully understood and considered by the Board.
The Senior Independent Director is available fo
discuss with shareholders any major issues that
cannot be resolved through normal channels.

The Annual General Meeting is used as an
opportunity to communicate with private
shareholders, including a short presentation on
the business and current trading position as well
as an opportunity for questions from investors

to the Chairman of the Board and the chairmen
of the Audit and Remuneration Committees.

All Directors who attend the Annual General
Meeting make themselves available to meet

Chris Bunker
Chairman Remuneration
Committee

shareholders after the formal business of the
meeting. To ensure compliance with the Code,
separate resolufions are proposed on each
discrefe subject. All Directors will retire and
stand for reelection. To reflect the vofing
preferences of all shareholders wishing to
vote af the meefing, the Company will take
a poll on all resolutions put fo shareholders.
The final results are published through @
Regulatory Information Service and on the
website following the Meeting.

Regular communication with shareholders also
takes place through the Annual Report and via
the Company’s website, www.dssmith.uk.com.
In addition, the Company provides Inferim

Management Statements and frading updates.

Internal control

The Board has overall responsibility for the
Group's system of internal control, including
financial, operational and compliance
controls, and risk management systems, and
for reviewing its effectiveness. Such a sysfem,
however, can only be designed to manage
rather than fo eliminate risk and therefore can
provide only reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or
loss. In accordance with the Turnbull guidance,
the Company has in place the procedures
necessary fo ensure that there is an ongoing

Philippe Mellier
Non-Executive Director

process for identifying, evaluating and
managing the significant risks to the

Group. These procedures have been in place
throughout the year under review and up to
the date of the approval of these financial
statements and have been reviewed by

the Board during the year. A Group Risk
Commitiee, comprising the Group Steering
Team (Group Chief Executive, Group Finance
Director, Company Secretary, Group Human
Resources Director, Chief Procurement Officer
and Divisional Chief Executives) meets regularly.
The Group Risk Commitiee discusses the key
risks facing the Group and whether there are
any material new risks, and the adequacy
and suitability of the mitigation arrangements
in place to manage those risks.

The Board determines the objectives and

broad policies of the Group. It meets regularly
and there is a schedule of matters which

are required to be brought fo it for decision.
The Board has delegated to management the
responsibility for establishing a system of infernal
confrol appropriate to the business environments
in which the Group operates. Key elements

of this system include:

® o clearly defined divisionalised organisation
structure for monitoring the conduct and
operations of individual business units;

Objectives for the year

As an independent non-
Executive Director | feel

that keeping an open and
fransparent culture is very
important, whilst af the same
fime maintaining a methodical
and thorough approach to
our work.

DS Smith Pl
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

9oUDUISACS)

Objectives for the year

As Chairman of the
Remuneration Commitiee

| believe it is important that our
remuneration sfrategy ensures
that we continue to affract,
reward and retain the key
people to drive the business
forward whilst refaining our
'pay for performance’ culture.
As Senior Independent Director
I am available to assist in
resolving shareholder concems
should dlfernative channels be
exhausted or inappropriate.



Corporate Governance continued

® clear delegation of authority throughout
the Group, starfing with the matters reserved
for the Board:

® o formal process for ensuring that key risks
affecting all the Group's operations are
identified and assessed on a regular basis,
fogether with the confrols in place to mitigate
these risks. Risk consideration is embedded
in decisionrmaking processes. The most
significant risks are periodically reported
fo the Board and considered by it;

e the preparation and review of comprehensive
annual divisional and Group budgets and
an annual review and approval by the Board
of the corporate strategy;

e the monthly reporting of actual results
and their review against budget, forecasts
including bank covenant headroom) and the
previous year, with explanations obtained for
all significant variances;

e clearly defined policies for capital
expenditure and investment, including
appropriate authorisation levels, with larger
capital projects, acquisifions and disposals
requiring Board approval;

® procedures manuals laying down common
control procedures and policies to apply
throughout the Group;

e formal monthly meetings between the
Group Chief Executive, the Group Finance
Director and divisional management to
discuss sfrategic, operational and financial
issues; and

® communicating key corporate values fo
all employees.

The Group’s Infernal Audif function undertakes
regular reviews of the individual businesses’
operations and their systems of infernal control,
makes recommendations fo improve controls
and follows up fo ensure that management
implement the recommendations made.

The Infernal Audit plan is defermined on a
risk assessment basis and is reviewed and
approved by the Audit Commitiee. Infernal
Audits findings are reported to Group and
business area management as well as fo

the Audit Committee.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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The Board can confirm that it has carried out

an annual review of the overall effectiveness

of the Group’s system of infernal control and risk
management procedures, during the year and
up fo the date of approval of this Annual Report.
This included a process of selfcertification by
senior divisional management in which they
were asked to confirm that their divisions have
complied with Group policies and procedures
and to report any significant confrol weaknesses
identified during the past year. In addifion,

it involved reviewing the results of the work

of the Group’s Infernal Audit funcfion and the
risk identification and management processes
identified above.

Going concern

In considering the going concern basis

for preparing the financial statements, the
Directors have considered the Company's
objectives and sfrategy, risks and uncertainties

in achieving its objectives and its review of
business performance which are all sef out in
the Strategic summary, Operating review and
Financial review sections of this Annual Report
and Accounts. The Group's liquidity and funding
arrangements are described in nofes 16 and

18 1o the financial statements as well as in

the capital sfructure and freasury management
section of the Financial Review and the Direciors
consider that the Group has significant covenant
and liquidity headroom in its borrowing facilities
for the foreseeable future.

After reviewing the Company's expenditure
commitments, current financial projections and
expected future cash flows (with appropriate
sensitivities applied), fogether with the available
cash resources and undrawn committed
borrowing facilities (and including consideration
of the impact from the acquisition of SCA
Packaging), the Directors have considered

that adequate resources exist for the Company
fo confinue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Accordingly, the Directors
continue to adopt the going concem basis

in preparing the financial statements.



Remuneration Report

The aim of our remuneration policy is fo affract, develop and retain
leaders who are focused and adequately incentivised to deliver
outstanding business results.

—

Remuneration Committee

Committee membership

Chris Bunker (Remuneration Committee
Chairman from 4 January 2012)

Gareth Davis (Remuneration Committee
Chairman fo 4 January 2012; Commitiee
member from 4 January 2012)

Philippe Mellier

Jonathan Nicholls

Dear Shareholders

As the new Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee, | am pleased fo infroduce our report
on remuneration for 2012, for which we seek your support af our Annual General Meeting
on 4 September 2012.

The Remuneration Report is designed to provide you with the necessary information to
demonstrate the link between our Group’s sfrategy, ifs performance, and the remuneration
outcomes for ifs senior execufives. It is also infended fo deliver the remuneration disclosures
required by UK regulation.

| know that senior execufive remuneration has been the subject of much comment,
particularly in the last year or so. In the past the Remuneration Commitiee has sought the
views of shareholders before making any substantial changes to policy and | intend to
continue that good pracfice.

This has been the year in which the Group has changed significantly with the disposal

of the Office Products VWholesaling division and the announcement of the acquisition of
SCA Packaging. Our remuneration sfrategy reflects that change to ensure that we confinue
fo affract, reward and retain the key people to drive the business forward whilst refaining
our 'pay for performance’ culture. Within an increasingly demanding, competitive and
infernational environment we want our employees to be fairly compensated and incenfivised
to deliver our strategic vision.

For the financial year ahead, following the announcement of such a transformational
acquisition, the Commitiee has considered the impact on the remuneration arrangements

and policy for the senior execufive feam. Whilst no changes requiring shareholder approval
are proposed, some amendments fo the policy are proposed for the year ahead. These
changes are necessary to reflect the revised complexity, breadth and near doubled size of the
business and to ensure that the arrangements are aligned with the achievement of our sfrategic
objectives. At the same time, this has to be balanced with the need to align senior executives
with the achievement of a fully integrated, enlarged Group focused on the longterm interests
of the shareholders and not simply for the delivery of an acquisition.

We seek, through a substantial proportion of performance-related variable remuneration,

fo ensure that outstanding performance is well rewarded and that underperformance is
addressed through a structured process of executive development and performance appraisal.
The Committee is firm|\/ of the view that payment for failure is Tofo||y Unoccepfob|e, whilst
executives should be well rewarded for outstanding performance. It will exercise the powers

it has at its disposal to achieve these godals.

| was appointed as Chairman of the Remuneration Commitiee in January this year, toking
over from Gareth Davis on his appoiniment as Chairman of the Board. | would like to confirm
that both | and the Committee continue o be commitied fo the principles of good governance
and best pracfice.

X"

Chris Bunker, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

27 June 2012
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Remuneration Report continued

(A) Introduction

The Remuneration Commitiee (the ‘Commitiee’), is constituted in accordance with the recommendations of the UK Corporate Governance Code
the 'Code’). The Commitiee is a commitiee of the Board. lis terms of reference can be found on the Company’s website. The Commitee’s key
objectives are to:

® sef and agree with the Board a competitive and transparent remuneration framework which is aligned 1o the Company’s sirategy and is in
the inferests of both the Company and its shareholders; and

® determine the specific remuneration packages for each of the Executive Directors, the Chairman and Company Secretary. It also considers
the remuneration of senior executives reporting o the Group Chief Executive, taking info account recommendations from him.

Defails of the membership of the Remuneration Commitiee are sef out on page 43. All members of the Commitiee are independent
nonExecutive Directors.

In accordance with section 439 of the Companies Act 2000, shareholders’ approval of the Remuneration Report will be sought af the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting [ AGM'). The Remuneration Report has been approved by the Board of Directors.

(B) Compliance
The Board, in conjunction with the Committee, has taken the necessary sfeps to ensure that the Company complies with the provisions of the
Code which relate to Directors’ remuneration.

This Report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, Schedule 8 of the Large and Medium sized Companies and Groups
[Accounts and Reports) Regulations 2008 (Schedule 8) and the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority. In this Report we describe how the principles
of good govemance relating to Directors’ remuneration, as sef out in the Code, are applied in practice. The Committee confirms that throughout the
year it has complied with these govemnance rules and best practice provisions.

The Regulations require our Auditor 1o report to shareholders on the audited information within this Report and to state whether, in their opinion, the
relevant sections have been prepared in accordance with the Act. The Auditor's opinion is sef out in the Auditor’s Report and we have clearly marked
the audited sections of the Report.

The members of the Committee have no personal financial interest, other than as shareholders of the Company, in the matters 1o be decided by
the Commitiee, no potential conflicts of interest arising from cross-directorships and no daytoday involvement in running the business.

(C) Advisers to the Committee

New Bridge Street [a brand of Aon Hewitt Limited) has been appointed by the Committee to provide advice on the remuneration of Executive
Directors and other senior execufives. New Bridge Street also provides advice fo the Company in connection with the operation of the Company’s
sharebased incentive schemes. The Committee consults with the Chairman of the Company and with the Group Chief Executive, who may attend
meetings of the Commitiee, although they are not involved in deciding their own remuneration. The Commitiee is assisted by the Company Secretary
and the Group Human Resources Direcfor, and also receives advice from Mercer limited, the Actuary to the Company’s pension scheme, in relation
fo Executive Direcfors” pensions. New Bridge Street and Mercer are signatories to the Code of Conduct for Remuneration Advisers. Neither New
Bridge Street nor any other part of Aon Hewitt provided any other services fo the Company during the year.

(D) General policy on remuneration

The Commitiee’s overall policy is to ensure that the remuneration packages are competitive and enable the Company o aftract, refain and
mofivate Executive Directors and other senior managers of sufficient calibre to meet the Company's needs. The Commitiee regards remuneration
policy as an essential tool fo underpin the performance culture of the Group and the remuneration packages are designed to align the inferests of
executives with those of our shareholders. We seek, through a substantial proportion of performance-related variable remuneration, to ensure that
outstanding performance is well rewarded and that underperformance is addressed through a structured process of executive development and
performance appraisal.

Following the announcement of the acquisition of SCA Packaging, the Committee has considered the impact on the remuneration arrangements

and policy for the senior executive team. Whilst no changes requiring shareholder approval have been proposed, some amendments to the policy
are proposed for the year ahead. These changes are necessary fo reflect the revised complexity, breadth and near doubled size of the business and
fo ensure that the arrangements are aligned with the achievement of our strategic objectives. At the same fime, this has to be balanced with the need
fo align executives with the achievement of a fully infegrated, enlarged Group focused on the longferm interests of the shareholders and not simply
for the delivery of an acquisition.

As well as considering the impact of the reconfigured Group on the 2012/13 remuneration policy [defails of which are provided below), it
has also been necessary for the Commitiee fo consider whether any changes should be made to outstanding awards under our share schemes.
As with most rights issues, existing awards will be adjusted to reflect the increased number of shares in issue following the Rights Issue.
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The acquisifion of SCA Packaging will be completed at the end of June 2012 and the Company has therefore only had limited access to non-publicly
available information with regard to SCA Packaging's financial performance. Accordingly, the Remuneration Committee has set provisional fargets
for the SCA Packaging elements of the 2012,/13 incentive schemes and the targets will be reviewed again following completion of the fransaction.

The Committee is firmly of the view that payment for failure is tofally unacceptable, whilst executives should be well rewarded for outstanding
performance. It will exercise the powers it has at ifs disposal fo achieve these godls. In particular, it is worth noting the following safeguards that exist
in the Company’s remuneration policy:

® Executive Directors have 12 month nofice periods, with instalments payable for leavers rather than a lump sum.

® claw back exists in the bonus and longferm plans to recover payments if there is a material misstatement of results or if there is serious misconduct.
® bonuses are not confractual and also not payable o 'bad leavers if an executive has left (or is under nofice| af the time of payment.

® deferred bonuses (half of the annual bonus) and longterm incentives will lapse in the case of 'bad leavers'.

As in previous years, the main elements of the remuneration policy in 2012,/13 will be as follows:

® basic salary;

® pension provision;

e annual bonus scheme; and

® long-erm incentives, comprising the Performance Share Plan PSP’} and Share Matching Plan ('SMP').

Basic salaries and pension provision are not linked to performance [except when basic salaries are reviewed), whilst payments under the annual
bonus scheme and any longterm incentive scheme operated by the Company are wholly dependent upon performance against agreed targets.
Only basic salary is pensionable.

Variable performancerelated remuneration for Miles Roberts and Steve Dryden for 2012/13 will account for approximately 64% (2011,/12: 57%)
of tofal target remuneration (excluding pensions and benefits).

The Board is ultimately accountable for executive remuneration but delegates responsibility fo the Commitiee. The Committee addressed the following
main issues during the year:

Date Key agenda item

21 June 2011 — Authorise 2011 bonus payments;

— Approve targets for 2012 bonus plan;

— Approve the 2011 Direcfors’ Remuneration Report;

— Review of the Executive Directors’ and senior executives’ pay,/incentive arrangements;
— Oversight of remuneration policy for senior management and employees;

— Review of the Chairman’s fees;

- 2011 PSP award — fotal shareholder return (TSR'), average adjusted eamings per share ['EPS') and average adjusted refum
on capital employed [ROACE') range proposals;

— Approve changes to the rules of the PSP and the Deferred Share Bonus Plan {DSBP') to infroduce claw back.
September 2011 — Agree the vesting schedule for the release of 2008 PSP and the release of Miles Roberts’ Replacement 2008 LTIP award;

— Approve the conversion of existing share awards info Nil Cost Options.

7 March 2012 — Assessment of Commitiee performance;
— Discussion of adjustment of share-based incentive scheme awards following the Rights Issue;

— Consideration of the adjustment of the performance conditions for the share-based incentive schemes following the acquisition
of SCA Packaging.

24 April 2012 — Revised terms of reference for the Commitiee;

— Review of feedback on the Commitiee’s performance;

— Discussion of the provisional adjusiment fo the performance conditions for the sharebased incentive schemes following the
acquisition of SCA Packaging.
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Remuneration Report continued

The Committee has reviewed salaries in the confext of the roles, experience and responsibilities of the Executive Directors and senior executives.

It is cognisant of the current environment for executive pay and understands investors’ view that Executive Director salaries should not normally
increase faster than those of the executive team generdlly. It is also fully aware of the duty it has to shareholders to ensure that the right remuneration
arrangements are in place. The Group Chief Executive’s basic salary was increased by 6.5% on 1 August 2011 and the Group Finance Director's
basic salary was increased by 6.0%. Other senior execufives’ basic salaries were increased in the range of 0% to 10.7% from 1 August 2011.
This compares fo an average increase of 3.0% for the rest of the workforce. Whilst there is no overall policy on the relationship between Executive
Directors’ pay and that of the workforce, the Company aims to pay fairly across the business.

The last 12 months have seen a fransformation at DS Smith as the Group sfrives to implement its sirategy fo become a focused, international supplier
of recycled packaging for the FMCG market. The 2011 calendar year closed with the complefion of the disposal of the Office Products Wholesaling
division. This was closely followed in January 2012 by the announcement of the acquisition of SCA Packaging which received overwhelmingly
positive support from shareholders af the General Meeting.

Against this background, the Remuneration Commitiee has been considering how fo ensure that key management performance and remuneration is
aligned with the inferests of our investors. The Remuneration Committee believes this can best be achieved by having key management well rewarded
for achieving fruly stretching objectives, and furthermore that the shape of this reward should emphasise the development of a significant shareholding
in the Company by those key managers.

The Company is consulting with its major shareholders, the Association of British Insurers and RREV prior to finalising the details of the remuneration
arrangements summarised below:

Element of remuneration package  Basic salary and benefits
Purpose — Reflect the individual's experience and role within the Group;

— Help recruit and refain key senior executives.

Policy for 2012/13 — Increase Executive Directors’ basic salary 1o the mid-market level over the next two years
[toking info account the crificality of each individuall;

— Regard given fo individual skills, experience and performance.

Summary of how it operates — Paid monthly in cash;
— Normally reviewed by the Committee annually and fixed for the 12 months commencing 1 August;

— Salary is supplemented with normal benefits available to Executive Directors and senior managers
including car allowance, life cover and medical insurance.

Element of remuneration package Annual bonus

Purpose — Incentivise executives to achieve specific, predefermined goals during a oneyear period;
— Reward ongoing delivery and confribution 1o sfrategic initiafives;

— Deferred proportion of bonus, awarded in shares, provides a retention element and additional alignment
of interests with shareholders.

Policy for 2012/13 — Bonus awards will be measured against the achievement of Group objectives. In 2012/13 there will
also be a requirement for the infegration and synergy savings to be substantially as indicated in the
acquisition prospecius;

— At target 50% of maximum bonus will be payable. Maximum bonus is 150% of salary for the Executive
Directors and generally 100% for the other most senior executives;

— Percentage of bonus deferred and awarded in shares.

Summary of how it operates — The Executive Directors have obijectives related to Group profit before tax and amortisation ('PBTA) and
ROACE. Other senior executives are measured against a mix of Group PBTA, ROACE and Business
Segment operating profit, as relevant fo each individual’s job;

— Bonus results are determined by the Commitiee affer the year end, based on performance against fargets;
— 50% of the bonus is paid in cash and 50% is paid in deferred shares;

— The deferred shares vest dfter three years and are paid together with an amount equal fo the value of dividends
payable on the vested shares during the deferral period. The deferred element is subject to forfeiture for
'bad leavers” who depart prior fo vesfing.
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Element of remuneration package  Performance Share Plan and Share Matching Plan

Purpose — Drive longerterm performance and refention and align interests of executives and shareholders
through building a shareholding;

— Retain key executives over a set performance period — usually three years.

Policy for 2012/13 — PSP Awards [Nil Cost Options] made annually, with vesting dependent on the achievement of TSR
[50%), EPS (25%) and ROACE (25%] performance conditions. SMP Awards [Nil Cost Options) will
vest dependent on the achievement of EPS (50%] and ROACE (50%) performance conditions;

— Executive Directors normally receive annual PSP grants fo a maximum value of 150% of salary, plus SMP
rants fo a maximum of 75% of salary (1.5x the first 50% of salary worth of deferred shares eamed under
%e annual bonus plan). Other senior executives generally receive PSP grants at 100% of salary plus SMP
grants fo a maximum of 50% of salary.

Summary of how it operates — TSR performance is measured against the Industrial Goods and Services Supersector within the FTSE 250
over the performance period;

— EPS performance is measured based on average adjusted EPS achieved over the performance peried;

— ROACE performance is measured based on average adjusted ROACE achieved over the
performance period;

— The three conditions are measured independently;

— Under the TSR tranche, threshold performance is set af ranking af median relative to the Group, at which point
25% of the award vests. This increases on a straightline basis fo full vesfing for ranking af the upper quartile;

— Under the EPS tranche, af threshold performance 25% of the award vests, increasing on a straightline basis
fo maximum performance or more where full vesting occurs;

— Under the ROACE tranche, af threshold performance 25% of the award vests, increasing on a siraightline
basis fo maximum performance or more where full vesting occurs;

— The Committee has the discretion to vary the metrics used each year and their relative weightings.

(E) Basic salaries

The basic salary for each Executive Director is targeted at the rates of salary for similar roles within a selected group of UK businesses of similar size
with substantial overseas operations. In reviewing these salaries, the Commitiee is fully aware of the duty it has to shareholders o ensure that the right
remuneration arrangements are in place. It has concluded that the increased infernational dimension of the enlarged Group, its near doubled size and
the complexity this brings means that, subject o safisfactory individual performance, salary levels for Executive Directors and certain senior executives
should move fo the mid-market level over the next two years. VWhilst the increased complexity of the business and responsibilifies of the execufives
should be recognised, this should be aligned with the successful achievement of the infegration of the new businesses. When determining the level
of salary, the Committee takes into account market salary levels, the relative performance of the Group and of the individual Director, together with
their experience in the particular job. The Commitiee also considers relevant information on the remuneration of other senior employees elsewhere in
the Group and, where appropriate, communicates ifs views on the levels of such remuneration to the Group Chief Executive. During its deliberations,
the Committee has regard fo salary levels in other countries where this is relevant for any nonUK based senior executive. The table of emcluments

of the Direcfors is sef out on page 51.

The current basic salaries of Miles Roberts and Steve Dryden are £570,000 and £357,000 respectively. These were fixed following a review
on 1 August 2011 and reflected the Commitiee’s views of the excellent achievement of each Executive Director as well as the Company's
strong performance.

DS Smith Pl
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

9oUDUISACS)



Remuneration Report continued

(F) Annual bonus

The Executive Directors participate in an annual bonus scheme which has been approved by the Commitiee.

The annual bonus payable to Miles Roberts and Steve Dryden for the financial year 2011,/12 was 50% based on PBTA with the other 50% based
on ROACE. The outcome of the results for the financial year 2011/12 means that Miles Roberts eamed a bonus of 100% of salary (£570,000)
and Steve Dryden earned a bonus of 100% of salary (£357,000). Full bonus was achieved for both the PBTA and ROACE targets and this required
the Executive Directors o exceed the top end of the range of financial targets, a financial performance significantly ahead of what was anficipated
af the start of the year and a very significant improvement on the results for 2010/11.

The Commitiee has reviewed the maximum potential bonus for 2012,/13 for the Executive Directors, which is being increased from 100% to 150% of
basic annual salary, of which half will be deferred in shares. The Committee has sef a range of demanding targets 1o reflect the Company’s announced
strategic obijectives of substantially improved earnings quality, particularly with regard to PBTA growth and improved ROACE. The growth targets set are
significantly higher than in the past reflecting the prospects for the business following the disposal and acquisition. The threshold above which payment
starts fo be made will be significantly above 2011,/12 actual performance and target performance will be significantly ahead of the Group’s historic
best performance.

The annual bonus schemes are not contraciual and bonuses under the schemes are not eligible for inclusion in the calculation of the participating
executives’ pension scheme benefits. No bonus payments are made to ‘bad leavers' if an executive has left (or is under nofice] af the time of payment
and the deferred element will also lapse. Claw back provisions have been infroduced into the annual bonus plan and the DSBP so that individuals
are liable to repay,/forfeit some or all of their bonus if there is a material misstatement of results or if there is serious misconduct.

(G) Performance Share Plan awards
The Company operates a PSP which was approved by shareholders in 2008. The individual grant limit under this Plan is 150% of basic salary
per annum. In exceptional circumstances this may be increased to 200% of basic salary.

The 2011 award to Executive Directors was 150% of salary. Award levels for the other most senior executives were generdlly at the 100% of
salary level. It is intended to award af the same levels in 2012. Following the acquisition of SCA Packaging, the Commitiee infends 1o review

the membership of the PSP.

Under the PSP, the Commitiee has the power to vary the mefrics used each year and their relative weightings. It also has the power to review
the specific targets for each award to ensure that they remain appropriate, but the new targets must be at least as challenging in the circumstances
as the original targets were when they were sef.

It is proposed that for the 2012 awards the same balance of metrics as for the 2011 awards will be used. The TSR targets will remain the same
and these, together with the revised EPS and ROACE targets, are set out in the fable below:

Relative TSR Average EPS? Average adjusted ROACE®
Percentage vesting as a proportion (50% of award) (25% of award) (25% of award)
100% Upper quarile 23p 13.3%
Between 25% and 100% Between median and upper quariile Between 19.2p and 23p Between 11.6% and 13.3%
25% Median 19.2p 11.6%

1. The Industrial Goods and Services Supersector within the FTSE 250 currently contains 45 companies and is considered to provide a better basis for comparison than the
FTSE 250 as a whole. The Committee considers there are foo few publicly quoted competitors to DS Smith to form a more bespoke group

2. Average adjusted EPS as disclosed in the Annual Report
3. Average adjusted Group operating profit divided by the monthly average of capital employed in each year

4. The EPS and ROACE calculations will be based on the average figures for the forthcoming three financial years, commencing with the financial year starting immediately
prior to the award. Targets may be adjusted by the Committee (for example, to reflect the impact of acquisitions and disposals) to ensure that the conditions achieve their
original purpose

Each element operates independently and is capable of vesting regardless of the Company’s performance in respect of the other elements.

The Commitiee considers that the targets are significantly more demanding than those sef in previous years and achieving significant vesfing

will require performance which is better than anything achieved previously.

Claw back provisions have been introduced info the PSP and the SMP (described below| so that individuals are liable o repay,/forfeit some
or all of their awards if there is a material misstatement of resulis or if there is serious misconduct. Awards lapse in the case of 'bad leavers'.
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(H) Share Matching Plan

This Plan was approved by shareholders in 2011. The number of shares in a matching award will be based on the number of shares in the

related DSBP. The maximum match for the Executive Directors will be 1.5:1 (on the first 50% of deferred shares earned under the annual bonus) for
a stretch level of performance and the maximum will be 1:1 for other participants. 25% of the maximum maich (i.e. 0.375:1 for Executive Direcfors,
0.25:1 for others) will be available for achieving a threshold level of performance. The performance measures applying fo the Maiching Shares
are EPS and ROACE. The growth fargets sef are significantly higher than in the past reflecting the prospects for the business following the previously
described disposal and acquisition. The potential tofal value of matching awards will not increase as a consequence of the change fo the quantum
of the annual bonus plan.

Maiching awards normally vest three years after grant, fo the extent that the applicable performance conditions have been safisfied, the related
DSBP award has not lapsed and provided the participant is still employed within the Group.

If o DSBP award lapses before the vesting of the related maiching award then that matching award will lapse at the same fime.

(I) Shareholding guidelines

Senior executives are expected fo refain in shares half of the aftertax gains on the vesting of longferm incentive plan awards until they have built up

a holding of 150% of base salary for the Group Chief Executive, 100% for the Group Finance Director and 75% for the rest of the Group Steering
Team. There is also a 50% of base salary target for other senior executives. In addition, irespective of the refention of shares, the Commitiee expects
that these levels of share ownership should normally be achieved by 2015 or within four years of appointment if later. If these levels are not achieved,
the Committee reserves the right not to make, or to scale back, further awards.

The inferests of the Directors in the share capital of the Company and awards made under the PSP {last award 201 1) and DSBP (last award 201 1)
are shown on pages 52 fo 54.

Non-Executive Directors are expected to build up and then maintain a shareholding that is equivalent to 50% of their annual fee from the Company
within two years of their date of appointment. All of the non-Executive Directors have met their minimum shareholding requirements. The Directors’
interests in shares can be seen on page 54.

(J) Pension and benefits
Benefits in kind include provision of a company car, free fuel, permanent health insurance, life cover and private medical cover.

Miles Roberts receives an annual pension allowance of 30% of salary, in lieu of pension benefits, plus death in service cover equal fo four times
basic salary. This payment is not considered to be salary for the purpose of calculating any bonus payment.

Steve Dryden participates in the Group's Registered Defined Contribution Scheme with death in service cover equal fo four fimes basic salary.
Members of this scheme are required to contribute a minimum of 3% of their basic salary to qualify for matching Company contributions, with
higher levels of Company contributions payable (up to a maximum of 6%) if the members pay a higher contribution.

Steve Dryden has elected to pay contributions at a level that qualifies for the maximum Company contribution. Steve Dryden also receives a
cash supplement of £65,000 per annum. This payment is not pensionable and is not considered to be salary for the purpose of calculating any
bonus payment.

(K) Service contracts and compensation
The Committee’s general policy is that the nofice periods for Executive Direciors appointed in future will not exceed one year, although on
appointment it may be necessary in exceptional cases fo offer a longer inifial period which reduces fo one year or less after a specific dafe.

The service contracts for Miles Roberts and Steve Dryden are dated 4 May 2010 and 1 April 2008 respectively. The service contracts may be
terminated by 12 months’ notice by the Company, and by the Executive Director. The Company may ferminate the confract with immediate effect by
making a payment equal, in Miles Roberts' case, fo basic salary and pensions allowance for any unexpired period of nofice and, in Steve Dryden's
cose, fo basic salary for any unexpired period of notice. The Company may make such payment in a lump sum or in monthly instalments from the
fermination date. These monthly payments will be reduced to take account of any dlternative employment or consultancy income during the period
over which such instalments are payable.
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Remuneration Report continued

(L) Policy on external appointments

Executive Directors are allowed to accept external appoiniments as a nonExecutive Director of up fo two other companies provided that these are
not with competing companies and are not likely to lead to conflicts of inferest. In normal circumstances, the Group Chief Executive may not accept
more than one external appointment. Executive Directors are normally allowed to refain the fees paid from these appointments.

Miles Roberts has no external appointments. Steve Dryden is a non-Executive Director of Fiberweb plc and received fees of £38,000 for the year

ended 30 April 2012 (2010/11: £38,000.

(M) Fees for non-Executive Directors and the Chairman

The remuneration for non-Executive Directors consists of annual fees for their services as members of the Board and, where relevant, for their work
on selected Committees. NonExecutive Directors have lefters of appointment for a term of three years whereupon they are normally renewed but
generally for no more than three terms in aggregate.

Unexpired period ~ Nofice period

Date of contract

Chairman

Gareth Davis 4 January 2012! 11 months Six months’ nofice by the Company and three months by Gareth Davis.
Senior Independent Director

Chris Bunker 8 December 2009 Five months Six months’ nofice by the Company and three months by Chris Bunker.
Philippe Mellier 7 September 2009 Two months Six months” notice by the Company and three months by Philippe Mellier.
Jonathan Nicholls 1 December 2009 Five months Six months” nofice by the Company and three months by Jonathan Nicholls.

1. Date of appointment as a Director was 30 June 2009
The lefters of appointment detfail the time commitment expected of each non-Executive Director and are available for viewing at the registered
office during normal business hours and prior to and at the AGM.

The fees for the Chairman and the nonExecutive Direciors were increased, following a comprehensive review, with effect from 1 August 2011,
The review took into account market practice with reference to the comparator group. Neither the non-Executive Directors nor the Chairman are
eligible for pension scheme membership and they do not participate in any of the Group's annual bonus or other incentive arrangements.

The rates for the Chairman’s and non-Executive Directors' fees are:

Chairman of
Remuneration

Senior Independent
nontxecutive

Chairman of Audit

Chairman’s and nonExecutive Directors' fees Base fee (£) Director fee (£)  Committee fee (£)  Committee fee (£) Total (£)
Gareth Davis 190,000 - - - 190,000
Chris Bunker 47,500 7,500 - 7,500 62,500
Philippe Mellier 47,500 - - - 47,500
Jonathan Nicholls 47 500 - 8,500 - 56,000

The Company's Articles of Association enable the Board to set the remuneration of nonExecutive Directors within the limits set b\/ shareholders. The
current aggregate limit is £750,000 and the aggregate amount paid in the financial year 1o the non-Executive Directors was £414,742. Executive
Directors are remunerated in respect of their executive appoiniments, under the terms of their service contracts, and receive no additional fees for

serving as Direcfors.
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(N) Directors’ emoluments (auditable)

Annual Deferred Pensions
Salary/fees bonus bonus Benefits supplement 2012 fotal 2011 total
£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000
Chairman
Gareth Davis' 133 — — — - 133 48
Group Chief Executive
Miles Roberts 561 285 285 20 169 1,320 1,435
Group Finance Director
Steve Dryden 352 179 179 12 86 808 765
Non-Executives
Chris Bunker 56 - - - - 56 50
Philippe Mellier 48 - - - - 48 50
Jonathan Nicholls 53 - - - - 53 53
Total 1,203 464 464 32 255 2,418 2,401
1. Appointed Chairman on 4 January 2012
Compensation
Annual Deferred for loss
Salary/fees bonus bonus Benefits of office 2012 total 2011 tofal
Past Direcfors £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £000 £'000
Pefer Johnson 122 - - 17 - 139 194
Total 122 - - 17 - 139 194

Included in the pension supplement figure for Steve Dryden is the non-pensionable cash supplement of £65,000 during the year, as defailed

in section ().
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Remuneration Report continued

(O) Directors’ inferests under the Performance Share Plan (auditable)
Details of the Directors’ inferests in the PSP, which is described in more detail on page 48, are as follows:

Interests Awards Interests
under granted/ Market Market under
the PSP at - commitments Awards Awards price on price ot the PSPat Vesfing date if

Executive 30 April made  crystallised  Dividend lopsed Date of date of  date of 30 April  performance Expiry
Directors 2011 during year inyear  equivalent in year award  award (p) exercise (p) 2012 conditions met date
Miles Roberts 828,526 - - - - 1610 1406 - 828,526 16Jul13  16Jul 20
- 438,595 - - - 8Jul 11 265.6 - 438,585 8Jul 14 8 Jul 21
Steve Dryden 538,232 - 98,855 11,221 (439,377) 17 Sept 08 133.5 - 110,076 17 Sept 11 17 Sept 18
674,686 - - - - 2209 71.0 - 674,686 2212 2219
511,053 - - - - 1610 1406 - 511,063 1613 16Jul20
- 275944 - - - 8Jul 11 265.6 - 275944 8Jul 14 8Jul 21

During the year the Company made a nineforeight rights issue and the Directors’ interests in the PSP have been adjusted accordingly.

The vesting of each award granted in 2009 is split 80% based on the Company’s TSR compared fo the consfituents of the FTSE 250 Industrial
Goods and Services Supersector, and 20% based on the average ROACE. 25% of the TSR part vests if the Company is ranked median, rising
until 100% vests if the Company is ranked in the upper quartile. The threshold (at which 25% vests) and maximum targets are 10.3% and
11.5% for ROACE.

The vesting of each award granted in 2010 is split 50% based on the Company’s TSR compared fo the constituents of the FTSE 250 Industrial
Goods and Services Supersector, 25% based on average adjusted EPS and 25% based on the average ROACE. 25% of the TSR part vests if the
Company is ranked median, rising until 100% vests if the Company is ranked in the upper quartile. The threshold (at which 25% vests) and maximum
targefs are 10.2p and 12.1p for EPS and 11.1% and 12.2% for ROACE. The EPS targets have been adjusted fo reflect the increased shares

in issue following the Rights Issue.

The vesting of each award granted in 2011 is split 50% based on the Company’s TSR compared 1o the constituents of the FTSE 250 Industrial
Goods and Services Supersector, 25% based on average adjusted EPS and 25% based on the average ROACE. 25% of the TSR part vests if the
Compoany is ranked median, rising until 100% vests if the Company is ranked in the upper quartile. The threshold (at which 25% vests) and maximum
fargefs are 15.2p and 17.2p for EPS and 12.5% and 15.0% for ROACE. The EPS fargets have been adjusted fo reflect the increased shares

in issue following the Rights Issue.

For all of the above awards the TSR calculations have been prepared on the standard Datasiream basis for rights issues.

(P) Directors’ interests under the Deferred Share Bonus Plan (auditable)
Details of the Directors’ interests in the Plan are as follows:

Awards
Interests under granted/ Interests under
the Plon af  commitments Awards Awards Market price Market price the Plan at Vesting date if
Executive 30 April made  crystallised lopsed Date of  on date of at date of 30 April  performance Expiry
Directors 2011 during year in year in year award aoward [p)  exercise [p) 2012 conditions mef date
Miles Roberts - 109,029 - - 8Jul 11 2671 - 109,029 8Jul 14 8Jul 21
Steve Dryden 85,223 - - - 16Ju10 140.5 - 85223 16Ju 13 16Jul20
- 08,596 - - 8Jul 11 2671 - 68,596 8Jul 14 8 Jul 21

During the year the Company made a nineforeight rights issue and the Directors’ inferests in the Plan have been adjusted accordingly.
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(Q) Directors’ interests under the Replacement 2008 LTIP, Replacement Deferred Shares Award, Recruitment Award and Substitute Share
Bonus Award (auditable)

Interests under

Interesfs as af Awards Awards Market price Market price the Plan at  Vesting date if
Executive 30 April  crystallised lapsed Date of  on date of at date of 30 April  performance Expiry
Directors Scheme 2011 in year in year award oward [p)  exercise [p) 2012 conditions mef date
Miles Roberts Replacement
2008 TP 627,718 - - 1610 140.52 - 627,718 170Qct 11 16Jul 20
Replacement
Deferred Shares
Award 154,863 - - 1610 140.52 - 154,863 1Sept12  16Jul 20
Recruitment
Award 828,526 - - 1610 140.52 - 828,526 190ct12  16Jul 20
Subsfitute Share
Bonus Award 116,148 - - 1610 140.52 - 116,148 1 Sept13  16Jul 20

As disclosed previously, in order fo facilitate the recruitment of Miles Roberts in unusual circumstances, and to ensure that his inferests were directly
and immediately aligned with those of the Company’s shareholders, the Company granted several condifional share awards as detailed below
principally as compensation for lost entilements fo bonus, deferred share awards and longterm share incentive awards relafing fo his previous
employer, McBride plc.

The awards made fo him were as follows:

e Substitute Share Bonus Award as compensation for loss of his share bonus entiflement with his previous employer for the year 2009/10 as a result
of his recruitment by the Company. The value of shares awarded reflects the proportion of the period of 12 calendar months beginning on 1 July
2009 during which Miles Roberts was actively employed by McBride plc and was based on an assessment of the likely bonus which would have
become payable o him had he remained employed by McBride plc;

e Replacement Deferred Shares Award. This award reflects the value of shares as at October 2009 which Miles Roberts forfeited as a result of his
recruitment by the Company. As this award replaces an award with vesfing dependent only on continued employment, the vesfing of the
Replacement Deferred Shares Award is not subject fo performance conditions;

e The Replacement 2008 LTIP (subject to performance condifions as detailed below) was awarded in respect of an award made by his previous
employer and forfeited as a result of his recruitment. The value of this award was based on the value of shares under award at October 2009. The
award s subject to a performance condition measuring the TSR of McBride plc up to the date Miles Roberts joined the Company and thereafter the
Company’s TSR against a comparator group of companies comprising the FTSE 250 Index [excluding investment frusfs) consfituted as at the date of
grant of the award over a threeyear performance period commencing on 1 July 2008. The award vested in full and became exercisable on

17 October 2011; and

e The Recruitment Award (subject fo the 2010 PSP performance conditions as described in section (O) of this Report) was made fo facilitate his
recruitment and in lieu of the 2009 LTIP award which he would have been granted at McBride plc if he had remained in employment. The value
of the award was based on the normal grant policy of 150% of his basic salary.

During the year the Company made a nineforeight rights issue and the interests in the above plans have been adjusted accordingly.

(R) All-employee share schemes

In the UK a Sharesave Plan was introduced in January 201 1. Executive Directors are eligible (along with all UK employees of the Company and
pariicipating subsidiaries of the Group) to participate in this Plan. Under this HMRC approved Plan options are granted to participants who have
confracted to save up fo £250 per month over a period of three years at a discount of up of 20% fo the average closing mid-market price of @
DS Smith Plc ordinary share on the three dealing days prior to invitation. Options cannot normally be exercised until @ minimum of three years has
elapsed. In common with most plans of this type there are no performance condifions applicable fo options granted under this Plan. A similar Plan
is planned to be rolled out 1o other regions.

Options
Options held at Options Options Options held ot Dates
Execufive 30 April granted exercised lopsed 30 April Exercise from which Expiry
Directors 2011 during year in year in year 2012 price (p) exercisable date
Miles Roberts 7,551 - - - 7,551 119.2 T Apr 14 30 Sept 14
Steve Dryden 7,551 - - - 7,551 119.2 1T Apr 14 30 Sept 14

During the year the Company made a nineforeight rights issue and the Directors” inferests in the Plan have been adjusted accordingly.

DS Smith Pl
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Remuneration Report continued

(S) Directors’ inferests in shares
The beneficial inferests of the Directors and their families in the ordinary shares of the Company were as shown below. Each Director took up his full
entilement under the terms of the Rights Issue:

30 April 2011 30 April 2012
Name of Director Beneficial Non-beneficial Beneficial Non-beneficial
Gareth Davis 40,000 - 85,000 -
Miles Roberts 109,549 - 232,791 -
Steve Dryden Q1,994 - 195,487 -
Chris Bunker 20,000 - 42,500 -
Philippe Mellier 20,000 - 42,500 -
Jonathan Nicholls 19,130 - 109,307 -

There have been no changes to the shareholdings set out above between the financial year end and the date of the Report. It is currently infended
that any ordinary shares required fo fulfil entiflements under the PSP, the DSBP, the Substitute Share Bonus Award, the Replacement Deferred Share
Award, the Replacement 2008 LTIP and the Recruitment Award will be provided by the David S Smith Group General Employee Benefit Trust
the Trust'), which buys shares on the market to do so. The Trust will also be used to fulfil certain entitlements under the Executive Share Option
Scheme and the Sharesave Plan (along with new issue shares for other entilements).

(T) Total shareholder return performance
The following graph illustrates the Company’s TSR performance since 1 May 2007, in accordance with paragraph 4 of the Directors” Remuneration
Report Regulations 2002, relative fo the FTSE 250 Index. The Company is @ member of the FTSE 250 Index and, accordingly, this index is

considered to be the most appropriate comparator group for this purpose.

Total shareholder return
(Value £)

150

120

2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
W DS Smith B FTSE 250 Index

Source: Thomson Reuters

This graph looks af the value, by 30 April 2012, of £100 invested in DS Smith over the last five financial years compared with that of £100
invested in the FTSE 250 Index. The other points plotted are the values at intervening financial year ends.

JIRS

On behalf of the Board
Chris Bunker, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee

27 June 2012
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Direcfors’ Report

The Directors submit their Annual Report and
the audited financial statements for the financial
year ended 30 April 2012. The Directors’
stafement as to disclosure of information fo
auditors, as required by Secfion 418(2) of

the Companies Act 2000, is on page 58.
Principal activities

The Company acfs as the holding company

of a group, which, during 2011/12, was
engaged in the international supply of recycled
packaging for consumer goods.

A full review of the activities during the financial
year ended 30 April 2012 is set out on pages
1 to 33. The principal risks and uncertainties
facing the Group are discussed on pages 29
fo 33. A discussion of future developments and
key performance indicators that management
use is set out in the Business Review on page
6. Financial information, including financial
insfruments, is shown on pages 17 1o 21.

The principal subsidiary undertakings are

listed in nofe 31 on page 101.

Business review

The information that fulfils the requirements
of the Business Review can be found in the
Business Review on pages 1 to 33, which
are incorporated in this Report by reference.

Corporate Governance statement

The information that fulfils the requirements of the
Corporate Governance statement can be found
in the Corporate Governance section on pages
36 1o 42 [and is incorporated info this report by
reference) with the exception of the information
referred 1o in the Financial Services Authority
Disclosure and Transparency Rules 7.2.6,
which is shown in the table above.

Cautionary statement

The purpose of the Annual Report is fo provide
information to the members of the Company,
as a body, and noone else. The Company, its
Directors, employees, agents and advisers do
not accept or assume responsibility fo any other
person fo whom this document is shown or

info whose hands it may come and any such
responsibility or liability is expressly disclaimed.

The Annual Report contains cerfain forward-
looking statements with respect fo the
operations, performance and financial
condition of the Group. By their nature, these
stafements involve uncertainty since future events
and circumstances can cause results and

Ordinary shares Ordinary shares

held as at held as at
30 April 2012 % 22 June 2012 %
Standard Life Investments Lid 112,659,283 12.2% 125,823,436 13.6%
Scottish Widows Investment Parinership 99 007,471 10.8% Q4 424 467 10.2%
Schroder Investment Management Ltd 45,445,598 4.9% 45,445,598 4.9%
Dimensional Fund Advisers 38,453,324 41% 38,453,324 4.1%
Legal & General Group Plc 15,673,009 1.6% 36,711,917 3.9%

Notifiable inferests in the Company’s issued ordinary share capital in accordance with the Disclosure and Transparency

Rules of the Financial Services Authority.

developments to differ from those anticipated.
The forwardHooking statements reflect
knowledge and information available at the
date of preparation of this Annual Report and
the Company undertakes no obligation to
update these forward-ooking statements.
Nothing in this Annual Report should be
construed as a profit forecast.

Resulis for the year
The financial results are shown on pages

60 to 102.

Dividends

An interim dividend of 2.8 pence net per
ordinary share was paid on 23 January 2012
and the Directors recommend a final dividend
of 4.0 pence net per ordinary share which,
together with the restated inferim dividend of
1.9 pence, increases the fofal dividend for the
vear, restated for the rights issue, af 5.9 pence
(2010/11: 4.5 pence). Subject to approval
of shareholders at the Annual General Meeting
fo be held on 4 September 2012, the final
dividend will be paid on 1 November 2012
to shareholders on the register af the close of
business on 5 Ocfober 2012. The dividends
per ordinary share sfated above are those
actually paid or o be paid. Historic dividends
per share have been restated in the five year
summary on page 107.

Share capital

Defails of the issued share capital and the
rights and restrictions attached to the shares,
together with details of movements in the
Company's issued share capital during the
year are shown in note 24. Following the
Rights Issue announced on 17 January
2012, 490,751,669 new ordinary shares
of 10 pence each were issued at a price of
£0.95 per share, resulting in net proceeds on
issue of approximately £450.2 million. These
new shares ranked equally in all respects with

the existing ordinary shares. Pursuant to the
Company’s employee share option schemes,
643,178 ordinary shares of 10 pence each
were issued during the year. No shares pursuant
fo the Company’s employee share option
schemes were issued between 30 April 2012
and 27 June 2012 inclusive. The Company
has not utilised its oufhorH\/ to make market
purchases of shares granted to it at the 2011
Annual General Meeting but will be seeking
fo renew such authority at this year's Meeting.

Acquisitions and divestments

SCA Packaging Kuban acquisition and disposal
The Group acquired 100% of the equity

of SCA Packaging Kuban in July 2011

for €5.0 million cash consideration and
€1.5 million deferred consideration payable
in December 2011, exclusively with a view
fo resale. The business was subsequently sold
in December 2011 o the Group's associate,
Rubezhansk, for €6.5 million with nil profit
or loss on disposal.

SCA Packaging acquisition

On 17 January 2012 the Directors
announced arrangements regarding the
proposed acquisition of the packaging
division of Svenska Cellulosa Akfiebolaget
SCA (publ) excluding the krafliner assets
['SCA Packaging') for €1.7 billion on a cash,
debt and, fo the extent legally possible and
commercially practicable, pension free basis
('the Acquisition’). Net consideration will be
approximately €1.6 billion after taking info
account a pension price adjusiment. In
addition, there will also be customary
postcomplefion adjustments.

On 25 May 2012, the European

Commission granted competition clearance

for the Acquisition. The clearance requires

DS Smith Plc fo divest three sites affer the
Acquisition, currently representing approximately

DS Smith Pl
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Directors’ Report continued

1% of the enlarged Group profit. Completion
is expected fo fake place on 30 June 2012.

The Group incurred Acquisition related cosfs
of £18.4 million on professional advisory fees
and due diligence costs. These fees have been
included in adminisfrative expenses in the
Group's Consolidated Income Statement. Due
to the nature of these cosfs, they have been
reported as exceptional costs.

Other acquisition

The Group made additional minor acquisitions
of subsidiary businesses of £2.3 million, of
which the maijority relafes fo the acquisition

of an additional 35% shareholding in Rapak
AD, which brings the Group’s holding in
Rapak AD at 30 April 2012 to 85%.

Disposal

On 30 December 2011 the Office Products
Wholesaling division was sold to Unipapel
SA. Office Products Wholesaling principally
comprises Spicers Limited, Spicers (Ireland)
Limited, Spicers France SAS, Spicers Belgium
NV and Spicers Nederland BV.

Discontinued operations relafes fo the disposal
of the Office Products VWholesaling division.
The gain on sale of the discontinued operation
was £67.1 million before tax (£58.0 million

after tax).

Research and development

One of the key ways in which the Group seeks
to differentiate itself is the use of sophisticated
design fools to ensure that the best packaging
designs are offered, in order to opfimise
packaging in our customers” supply chain and
bring reductions in carbon footprint. Research

is conducted into design tool development, new
types of corrugated packaging and innovative
applications of it, such as RFlute®, which is then
rolled out through the organisation. The Group
has a number of patented designs that are
offered to customers across the business.

Directors

The biographies of the present Directors are
on pages 34 and 35. All the Directors served
throughout the year except as follows: Peter
Johnson resigned as Chairman of the Board

www.dssmith.uk.com
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on 7 October 2011 and resigned as

a Director on 4 January 2012. Gareth Davis
was appointed as Deputy Chairman of the
Board on 7 October 2011 and was confirmed
as Chairman on 4 January 2012. Other than
as previously disclosed in this Report and in
respect of existing service agreements, no
Director, either during or at the end of the
financial year, has been materially interested
in any significant confract or arrangement

in relation fo the Group's business.

The rules regarding the appoiniment and
replacement of Directors are contained in the
Company's Articles of Association ['Arficles’),
which may only be amended with shareholder
approval in accordance with relevant
legislation. The powers of the Direcfors are
contained in the Company’s Arficles. The
Articles give the Directors powers, subject fo
relevant legislation, to authorise the issue and
buy-back of the Company's shares by the
Company, subject to authority being given
fo the Direcfors by shareholders in general
meefing. The Company annually seeks the
authority of shareholders to authorise the
exercise by Directors of these powers.

Re-election of Directors

The Articles require that all Directors who have
either been appointed by the Board since the
last Annual General Meeting, or for whom the
forthcoming Annual General Meeting s the
third Annual General Meeting since they were
elected or last reelected by the Company in
general meeting, refire from office but they are
eligible fo submit themselves for reelection by
the shareholders. However, in accordance with
the UK Corporate Governance Code, which
recommends that all directors of FTSE 350
companies be subject to annual re-election,

the Board has resolved that all Directors will
retire and stand for re-election at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeting on 4 Sepfember
2012 and annually thereafter.

Formal performance evaluation has confirmed
that the individual performance of the Directors
offering themselves for reelection has been
effective and they have demonstrated
commitment fo the role.

Directors’ inferests in shares

The interests of the Directors and their immediate
families in the ordinary shares of 10 pence
each of the Company (in ferms of shares,
opfions and condifional share awards), were
as shown in the tables on pages 52 to 54.

Directors’ indemnities

The Company has entered info qualifying
third-party indemnity arrangements for the
benefit of its Directors in a form and scope
which comply with the requirements of the

Companies Act 2006.

Group Company Secretary

Matt Jowett was appointed as Group
General Counsel and Company Secrefary
of the Company on 1 July 2011 in place
of Carolyn Cattermole, who stepped down

on 30 June 2011.

Employee involvement and communications
The Group is commitied fo frequent and
effective employee communications to promote
the understanding and involvement of all its
employees in the Group’s business objectives
and performance. Communications and
personnel policies have been developed

fo reflect the philosophy of operating
management. Information is regularly
communicated by briefings and newsletters.
The Group operates a European Works
Council, with representatives drawn from
across the entire workforce in the EU countries
in which the Group operates. Meetings are
held to provide an exchange of information

of transnational importance and to consult with
employees on the strategy and direction of the
Company. At each meefing, presentations are
made on the Group's business strategy, financial
results, health and safety and environmental
performance. The Group also has a number
of divisional national Consultation Forums which
promote information exchange, consuliation
and representation between the Group and

its employees. Business decisions concerning
capital investment, employment and training
fake into account the Group's public and local
responsibilities. The Group supports the
involvement of its operations in local
community activities.



Equal opportunities

DS Smith is an equal opportunities employer.
The Group is firmly commitied to both the
principle and realisation of equal opportunities
and its policies are designed fo provide such
equality irespective of age, disability, sex,
sexual orientation, race, religion or nationality.
Every possible step is taken to ensure that
individuals are treated equally and fairly.

The Group applies the same criferia to people
with disabilities as it does to other employees.
Where appropriate, facilities are adapted
and refraining s offered o any employee who
develops a disability during their employment.

Pension fund

The Group had, in the year under review, four
UK pension arrangements: one defined benefit
scheme (which closed to future service benefits
with effect from 30 April 2011 and all affected
members of the defined benefit scheme were
offered membership of the Group’s defined
contribution scheme for future service), one
defined contribution scheme, which was
infroduced for new employees joining the
Group on or dfter 1 May 2005, one Group
personal pension plan (which closed and

all members were invited fo fransfer info

the Group's defined confribution scheme

on 1 March 2012) and a sfatutory
Stakeholder arrangement.

The defined benefit scheme is a trustbased
arrangement and the investments of the assets
are managed on a discrefionary basis by a
number of Investment Managers, in either
segregated or pooled arrangements.

The defined confribution scheme is a trustbased
arrangement offering members a range of
investments. The frustees have selected Friends
life as the preferred provider. The Group
personal pension plan was a contractbased
arrangement offering members a range of
investments with AVIVA and other external
invesiment fund managers, and the Stakeholder
arrangement is provided through Investment
Solutions Limited. All such assets are held
independently from the Group. The frustees

of the defined benefit scheme and the defined
confribution scheme send an Annual Report

fo all members of the respective schemes. The
Trustee Company of the defined benefit scheme
has an Investment Sub-Committee, established
in line with the recommended guidelines of the
Myners Report. Peter Murray of AllenbridgeEpic
Investment Advisers is appointed as an
independent adviser fo the Investment Sub-
Commitiee of the defined benefit scheme.

Health and safety

The Group recogpnises ifs responsibilities

and continues fo promote all aspects of health
and safety in the interests of its employees
and members of the public. A Health and
Safety Policy Statement has been approved
by the Board.

Significant agreements

The Company is required to disclose any
significant agreements that fake effect, alter
or terminate on a change of control of the
Company. The Company has a number

of borrowing and related derivative facilities
provided by various lenders. These facilities
agreements generally include change of control
provisions which, in the event of a change
of ownership of the Company, could result in
renegotiation or withdrawal of these facilities.
These significant agreements are as sef out

in note 18.

There are a number of other agreements that
fake effect, alier or terminate upon a change

of confrol of the Company following a takeover
bid, such as commercial contracts and joint
venture agreements. None is considered fo

be significant in terms of their potential impact
on the business of the Group as a whole.

Payment to suppliers

Although the Company does not follow any
formal code or standard on payment practice,
the Company agrees ferms and conditions

in the UK with each supplier, which include
ferms of payment. The Company pays each
supplier accordingly, subject fo all the terms
and condifions of the order being satisfied
by such supplier. As DS Smith Plc is a holding
company, whose principal business is to

hold shares in Group companies, it has

no trade creditors.

Charitable and political donations

The Group confributed £78,000
[2010/11: £76,000] to charities.

No payments were made fo polifical
parties. Donations were made by operating
divisions fo support their local communities.
The Group also supported a number of
other charities across a range of causes.

During the year the DS Smith Charitable
Foundation was esfablished to provide
support fo charities in areas aligned with
the activities and values of the business.

Annual General Meeting

The notice of the Annual General Meeting

of the Company fo be held on 4 September
2012, together with explanations of the
Resolutions to be proposed and details of the
proxy appoiniment deadline and voting record
date, appears at the back of this Annual Report.

Auditor
Each Director confirms that:

(a) so far as he is aware, there is no relevant
audit information of which the Company’s
Auditor is unaware; and

[b) he has taken all the steps he ought fo have
taken as a Director in order to make himself
aware of any relevant audit information and
fo esfablish that the Company’s Auditor is
aware of that information.

Resolutions to reappoint Deloitie LLP as Auditor
of the Company and to authorise the Directors
fo determine the remuneration will be put fo the
Annual General Meefing.

By Order of the Board

Matt Jowett, Group General Counsel and
Company Secretary
27 June 2012

DS Smith Pl
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Directors’ Report continued

Directors’ responsibilities statement

The Directors are responsible for preparing
the Annual Report and the financial statements
in accordance with applicable law

and regulations.

Company law requires the Directors fo prepare
financial statements for each financial year.
Under that law the Directors are required

to prepare the Group financial statements

in accordance with Infernational Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by

the European Union and Article 4 of the IAS
Regulation and have chosen fo prepare

the parent Company financial stafements in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice (United Kingdom
Accounting Standards and applicable law).
Under company law the Directors must not
approve the accounts unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state
of affairs of the Company and of the profit

or loss of the Company for that period.

In preparing the parent company financial
stafements, the Direcfors are required fo:

® select suitable accounting policies and
then apply them consistently;

® make judgements and accounting estimates
that are reasonable and prudent;

® siate whether applicable UK Accounting
Standards have been followed, subject
fo any material departures disclosed and
e><|o|cﬂned in the financial statements;

e prepare the financial statements on the
going concem basis unless it is inappropriate
fo presume that the Company will confinue
in business.

www.dssmith.uk.com
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In preparing the Group financial statements,
International Accounting Standard 1 requires
that Directors:

® properly select and apply
accounting policies;

present information, including accounting
policies, in a manner that provides
relevant, reliable, comparable and
understandable information;

provide addifional disclosures when
compliance with the specific requirements
in IFRSs is insufficient fo enable users

fo understand the impact of particular
transactions, other events and conditions
on the entity’s financial position and
financial performance; and

make an assessment of the Company’s
ability to confinue as a going concern.

The Directors are responsible for keeping
adequate accounting records that are
sufficient to show and explain the Company’s
fransactions and disclose with reasonable
accuracy at any fime the financial position

of the Company and enable them 1o ensure
that the financial statements comply with

the Companies Act 20006. They are also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and hence for faking reasonable
steps for the prevention and defection of
fraud and other iregularities.

The Direcors are responsible for the
maintenance and infegrity of the corporate
and financial information included on the
Company's website. legislation in the United
Kingdom govemning the preparation and
dissemination of financial statements may
differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Responsibility statement
We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

® ihe financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the relevant financial
reporting framework, give a true and fair
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position
and profit or loss of the Company and the
undertakings included in the consolidation
taken as a whole; and

the management report, which is
incorporated info the Directors’ Report,
includes a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and

the position of the Company and the
underiakings included in the consolidation
faken as a whole, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties

that they face.

By Order of the Board

Miles Roberts, Group Chief Executive
27 June 2012

Steve Dryden, Group Finance Director

27 June 2012



Financial Statements

Independent Auditor’s Report to the members

of DS Smith Plc

We have audited the financial statements of DS Smith Plc for the year
ended 30 April 2012 which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement,
the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated
Statement of Financial Position, the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows,
the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity, the Parent Company
Balance Sheet, the related notes 1 to 31 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and the related notes 1 1o 11 to the Parent Company Balance
Sheet. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the
preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements is applicable law
and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union. The financial reporting framework that has been applied
in the preparation of the parent Company financial statements is applicable
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards {United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in
accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006.

Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s
members those matters we are required fo stafe fo them in an auditor’s report
and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not
accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the
Company's members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for

the opinions we have formed.

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditor

As explained more fully in the Directors’ Responsibiliies Statement, the
Directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and
for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view. Our responsibility is fo
audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board's
Ethical Standards for Auditors.

Scope of the audit of the financial statements

An audit involves obtfaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures

in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance that the
financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by
fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies
are appropriate fo the Group's and the parent Company's circumstances and
have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness
of significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall
presentation of the financial statements. In addition, we read all the

financial and nondinancial information in the annual report to identify material
inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware

of any apparent material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the
implications for our report.

Opinion on financial statements
In our opinion:

o the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the
Group's and of the parent Company's affairs as at 30 April 2012
and of the Group's profit for the year then ended;

o the Group financial statfements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Union;

o the parent Company financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice; and

e the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the Group
financial statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Separate opinion in relation to IFRSs as issued by the IASB

As explained in note 1{a) to the Group financial statements, the Group

in addifion fo complying with its legal obligation to apply IFRSs as adopted
by the European Union, has also applied IFRSs as issued by the Internafional
Standards Board ({IASB).

Opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

o the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006; and

o the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year
for which the financial stafements are prepared is consistent with
the financial statements.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required 1o report fo you ff,
in our opinion:

¢ adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent
Company, or refurns adequate for our audit have not been received
from branches not visited by us; or

o the parent Company financial statements and the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report fo be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and refurns; or

o certain disclosures of Directors' remuneration specified by low are
not made; or

o we have nof received all the information and explanations we
require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required fo review:

o the Direcfors’ statement contained within Corporate Governance
in relation to going concern; and

o the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating fo the
Company's compliance with the nine provisions of the June 2008
Combined Code specified for our review; and

o certain elements of the report to shareholders by the Board on
Directfors’ remuneration.

Peter O'Donoghue FCA

(Senior statutory auditor)

for and on behalf of Deloitte LLP

Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditor
London, United Kingdom

27 June 2012

DS Smith Pl
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Financial Statements

Consolidated Income Statement

Year ended 30 April 2012

Exceptional items

(note 4)
SCA
Before Packaging Other After Before After
exceptional acquisition  exceptional  exceptional  exceptional Exceptional exceptional
items costs items items items items items
2012 2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011
Continuing operations Note £m £m £m £m £m* Em* Em*
Revenue 21,9694 - - 1,969.4 11,7593 - 1,7593
Cost of sales (1,505.4) - - [1,505.4) (1,341.0) (1.0} (1,342.0)
Gross profit 464.0 - - 464.0 418.3 (1.0) 417.3
Operating expenses 3,4 (322.0) - (70.1)  (392.1) (307.4) Q.1 (298.3)
Operating profit before amortisation and
acquisition related costs 2 142.0 - (70.1) 71.9 110.9 8.1 119.0
Amortisation of infangible assets and acquisition
related costs 4,10 (8.1) (18.4) - (26.5) (6.8) 7.2) (14.0)
Operating profit 133.9 (18.4) (70.1) 45.4 104.1 0.9 105.0
Finance income 5 2.1 - - 2.1 0.8 - 0.8
Finance costs 5 (20.5) - - (20.5) (20.8) - (20.8)
Employment benefit net finance expense 23 (4.8) - - (4.8) (7.4) - (7.4)
Net financing costs (23.2) - - (23.2) (27.4) - (27.4)
Profit after financing costs 110.7 (18.4) (70.1) 22.2 76.7 0.9 77.6
Share of loss of associate 12 (0.5) - - (0.5) - - -
Profit before income tax, amortisation and acquisition
related costs 118.3 - (70.1) 48.2 83.5 8.1 1.6
Amortisation of infangible assets and acquisition
related costs 4,10 (8.1) (18.4) - (26.5) (6.8) (7.2) (14.0)
Profit before income tax 110.2 (18.4) (70.1) 21.7 76.7 0.9 77.6
Income tax (expense)/credit 7 (30.6) 1.9 15.4 (13.3) (21.6) (2.9) (24.5)
Profit for the year from continuing operations 79.6 (16.5) (54.7) 8.4 55.1 (2.0) 53.1
Discontinued operations
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 29 9.3 - 58.0 67.3 17.4 0.2 17.6
Profit for the year 88.9 (16.5) 3.3 757 72.5 (1.8) 70.7
Profit for the year attributable to:
Owners of the parent 88.5 (16.5) 3.3 753 71.9 (1.8) 70.1
Non-controlling interests 0.4 - - 0.4 0.6 - 0.6
Earnings per share™ 2012 2011
Adjusted from continuing operations™""
Basic 8 12.8p 10.0p
Diluted 8 12.7p Q.8p
From continuing operations
Basic 8 1.2p 8.6p
Diluted 8 1.2p 8.4p
From continuing and discontinued operations
Basic 11.1p 11.5p
Diluted 10.9p 11.2p

*

** restated for rights issue (note 22)

*** adjusted for amortisation and exceptional items
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restated following the sale of the Office Products Wholesaling division and subsequent classification as a discontinued operation (note 29)




Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

Year ended 30 April 2012

2012 2011
Note £m £m
Actuarial gains on defined benefit pension schemes 23 16.1 14.4
Foreign currency franslation differences (14.2) 1.9
Reclassification from translation reserve to income statement arising on divestment (9.8) -
Movements in cash flow hedges (6.6) 154
Income tax on other comprehensive income 7 (14.3) (10.3)
Other comprehensive (expense)/income for the year, net of tax (28.8) 21.4
Profit for the year 757 70.7
Total comprehensive income for the year 46.9 92.1
Total comprehensive income attributable fo:
Owners of the parent 47.0 Q1.4
Non-controlling inferests (0.1) 0.7
DS Smith Plc

Annual Report & Accounts 2012
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Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

At 30 April 2012

2012 2011

Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Infangible assets 10 309.7 344.8
Property, plant and equipment 11 508.3 640.5
Investment in associafe 12 9.5 -
Other investments - 0.3
Deferred tax assets 20 46.1 59.6
Other receivables 14 2.4 3.8
Derivative financial instruments 19 7.6 13.2
Total non-current assets Q73.6 1,062.2
Current assets
Inventories 13 146.8 226.4
Other investments 0.1 0.2
Income fax receivable 0.7 1.6
Trade and other receivables 14 2901.7 450.4
Cash and cash equivalents 17 664.5 114.3
Derivative financial instruments 19 3.1 8.5
Total current assets 1,106.9 801.4
Total assets 2,080.5 1,863.6
Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Interestbearing loans and borrowings 18 (227.6) (407.9)
Post-retirement benefits 23 (104.2) (147.5)
Other payables 15 (9.9) (9.3)
Provisions 21 (7.4) (9.6)
Deferred tax liabilities 20 (51.9) 62.9)
Derivative financial instruments 19 (3.4) (36.2)
Total non-current liabilities (404.4) (673.4)
Current liabilities
Bank overdrafts 17 (11.3) (26.1)
Inferestbearing loans and borrowings 18 (93.4) (4.4)
Trade and other payables 15 (431.6) (535.7)
Income tax liabilities (25.4) (24.4)
Provisions 21 (36.7) (8.2)
Derivative financial instruments 19 (20.2) 7.2)
Total current liabilities (618.6) (606.0)
Total liabilities (1,023.0) (1,279.4)
Net assets 1,057.5 584.2
Equity
Issued capital 22 92.7 43.6
Share premium 710.2 309.1
Reserves 256.6 233.6
Total equity attributable to equity shareholders of the Company 1,059.5 586.3
Non-controlling interests (2.0) (2.7)
Total equity 1,057.5 584.2

Approved by the Board of Directors of DS Smith Plc, (company registered number 1377658) on 27 June 2012 and signed on its behalf by

M W Roberts, Director S W Dryden, Direcfor
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 30 April 2012

Total reserves
attributable Non-
Share Share Hedging ~ Translation Own Retained to equity | controlling Total
capital premium reserve reserve shares earnings shareholders interests equity
Note £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 May 2010 39.3 2631 (7.4) 33.0 (4.2) 151.0 474.8 (1.6)| 473.2
Profit for the year - - - - - 70.1 70.1 0.6 70.7
Actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension schemes 23 - - - - - 14.4 14.4 - 14.4
Foreign currency translation differences - - - 1.8 - - 1.8 0.1 1.9
Cash flow hedges fair value changes - - 18.5 - - - 18.5 - 18.5
Movement from cash flow hedge reserve
to income statement - - (3.1) - - - (3.1) - (3.1)
Income tax on other
comprehensive income - - (5.0) 3.0 - (8.3) (10.3) - (10.3)
Total comprehensive income - - 10.4 4.8 - 76.2 Q1.4 0.7 92.1
Acquisitions/divestments - - - - - - - 2.5 2.5
Acquisition of non-controlling interests
without @ change in control - - - - - (5.2) (5.2) (3.3) (8.5)
Issue of share capifal 4.3 46.0 - - - - 50.3 - 50.3
Ordinary shares purchased - - - - (6.5) - (6.5) - (6.5)
Employee share trust - - - — 1.3 - 1.3 - 1.3
Share-based payment expense - - - - - 2.4 2.4 - 2.4
Dividends paid Q - - - - - (22.6) (22.6) - (22.6)
Transactions with noncontrolling inferests
(Toscana Ondulati SpA) 22 - - - - - 0.4 0.4 (0.4) -
Other changes in equity in the year 4.3 46.0 - - 5.2) (25.0) 20.1 (1.2) 18.9
At 30 April 2011 43.6  309.1 3.0 37.8 (9.4) 202.2 586.3 (2.1)] 584.2
Profit for the year - - - - - 75.3 75.3 0.4 757
Actuarial gains on defined benefit
pension schemes 23 - - - - - 16.1 16.1 - 16.1
Foreign currency translation differences - - - (13.7) - - (13.7) (0.5) (14.2)
Reclassification from translation reserve to
income stafement arising on divestment - - - (2.8) - - (2.8) - (9.8)
Cash flow hedges fair value changes - - (10.0) - - (10.0) - (10.0)
Movement from cash flow hedge reserve
to income statement - - 3.4 - - - 3.4 - 3.4
Income tax on other
comprehensive income - - 1.7 (7.9) - (8.1) (14.3) - (14.3)
Total comprehensive (expense)/income - - (4.9) (31.4) - 83.3 47.0 (0.1) 46.9
Issue of share capital 49.1 401.1 - - - - 450.2 -| 4502
Ordinary shares purchased - - - - 0.3) - (0.3) - (0.3)
Employee share frust - - - - 1.8 - 1.8 - 1.8
Share-based payment expense - - - - - 6.2 6.2 - 6.2
Dividends paid 9 - - - - - (31.5) (31.5) - (31.5)
Transactions with non-controlling inferests 22 - - - - - 0.2) 0.2) 0.2 -
Other changes in equity in the year 49.1 4011 - - 1.5 (25.5) 426.2 0.2| 4264
At 30 April 2012 Q2.7 710.2 (1.9) 64 (7.9 260.0 1,059.5 (2.0)| 1,057.5
DS Smith Plc

Annual Report & Accounts 2012
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Financial Statements
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

Year ended 30 April 2012

2012 2011
Continuing operations Note £m £m*
Operating activities
Cash generated from operations 25 199.0 141.1
Interest received 04 0.4
Interest paid (20.2) (16.2)
Tax paid (25.3) (16.0)
Cash flows from operating activities 153.9 109.3
Investing activities
Acquisition of subsidiary businesses 29 (2.3) (158.9)
Divestment of subsidiary business 29 184.5 4.8
Capital expenditure (94.2) (62.3)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment and infangible assets 8.0 4.6
Proceeds from sale of investments in associate and other investments 0.3 0.5
Cash flows from/(used in) investing activities 96.3 (211.3)
Financing activities
Proceeds from issue of share capital 450.2 50.1
Purchase of own shares (0.3) (6.5)
Acquisition of non-controlling inferest - (2.3)
[Repayment of] /increase in borrowings (72.0) 1216
Repayment of finance lease obligations (2.7) (2.5)
Dividends paid 9 (31.5) (22.6)
Cash flows used in financing activities 343.7 1308
Increase in cash and cash equivalents from continuing operations 593.9 28.8
Discontinued operations
Cash (used in)/generated from discontinued operations 29 (29.0) 26.2
Increase in cash and cash equivalents 564.9 55.0
Net cash and cash equivalents at 1 May 88.2 32.8
Exchange gains on cash and cash equivalents 0.1 0.4
Net cash and cash equivalents at 30 April 17 653.2 88.2

* restated following the sale of the Office Products VWholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Significant accounting policies

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared and approved
by the Directors in accordance with Infernational Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU [‘adopted IFRSs’), and have also applied
IFRSs as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The
Company has elected to prepare ifs parent Company financial statements
in accordance with UK GAAP; these are presented on pages 102 to 1006.

The consolidated financial statements are prepared on the historical

cost basis except that assets and liabilities of certain financial instruments,
defined benefit pension plans and share-based payments are stated af their
fair value.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concem basis as set out on page 42 of the Corporafe Governance section.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements requires management

to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect whether and how
policies are applied and affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities,
income and expenses. Judgements made by management in the application
of adopted IFRSs that have a significant effect on the financial statements and
estimates with a significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are
discussed in accounting policy [v).

No changes have been made to the Group's accounting policies in the

year ended 30 April 2012. The accounting policies set out below have been
applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial
statements. The accounting policies have been applied consistently by all
Group entities.

(b) Basis of consolidation

(i) Subsidiaries

The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences until the date
that control ceases. Control is achieved where the Company has the power
to govern the financial and operating policies of an investee entity so as

fo obtain benefits from its acfivities. The results of subsidiaries acquired

or disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated income
statement from the effective date of acquisition or up to the effective date
of disposal, as appropriate. Infra-group balances and any unrealised gains
and losses or income and expenses arising from infra-group fransactions
are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements.

(i) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence

and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a joint venture. Significant
influence is the power to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint control over those policies.
The consolidated financial statements include the Group's share of the tofal
recognised gains and losses of associates on an equity accounted basis,
from the date that significant influence commences until the date that
significant influence ceases.

(iii) Non-confrolling interests

Non-controlling inferests are shown as a component of equity in the
statement of financial position net of the value of options over interests
held by minorities in the Group's subsidiaries.

(c) Revenue

Revenue comprises the fair value of the sale of goods and services, net of
value added tax, rebates and discounts and dfter eliminating sales within the
Group. Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised in the income statement
when the significant risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred

to the buyer.

(d) Government grants

(i) Emission quotas

The Group participates in Phase Il of the EU Emissions Trading Scheme.
Emission quotas received in a period are initially recognised at a nominal
value of nil. As a result, no asset or liability is recognised on the statement

of financial position at initial recognition. A provision is recognised if there

is any anticipated shortfall in the level of quotas received or purchased when
compared with actual emissions in any given period, measured at the market
price of such quotas at the balance sheet date. Excess emission quotas
acquired as part of a business combination are recognised as an intangible
asset af their fair value on the date of acquisition.

(i) Other

Other government grants are recognised in the stafement of financial position
initially as deferred income when there is reasonable assurance that they will
be received and that the Group will comply with the conditions attaching to
them. Granfs that compensate the Group for expenses incurred are offsef
against the expenses in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.

(e) Dividends
Dividends attributable to the equity holders of the Company paid during
the year are recognised directly in equity.

(f) Foreign currency translation

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into sterling af the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets

and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet

date are franslated into sterling at the foreign exchange rates ruling at that
date. Foreign exchange differences arising on franslation of monetary assets
and liabilities are recognised in the income statement. Non-monefary assets
and liabilities that are measured at historical cost in a foreign currency

are franslated using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.

SjuswWeyS |oIduUDUIY

The assets and liabilities of all the Group entities that have a functional
currency other than sferling are translated at the closing exchange rate

at the date of the statement of financial position. Income and expenses for
each income statement are translated at average exchange rates [unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of
the rates prevailing on the fransaction dates, in which case income and
expenses are franslated af the date of the transactions).

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the

net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings, and other financial
instruments designated as hedges of such investments, are recognised in the
translation reserve. On the disposal of foreign currency entities, the cumulative
exchange difference recorded in the translation reserve is taken fo the income
stafement as part of the gain or loss on disposal.

DS Smith Pl
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Significant accounting policies continued

(g) Intangible assets

(i Goodwill

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition
method. Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures represents the difference between the cost of the acquisition
and the fair value of the net identifiable assefs acquired.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. The useful
life of goodwill is considered to be indefinite. Goodwill is allocated to
cash-generating units and is tested annually for impairment.

(ii] Research and development

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining
new scientific or technical knowledge and understanding, is recognised

in the income statement as an expense as incurred.

Expenditure on development acfivities, whereby research findings are
applied to a plan or design for the production of new or substantially
improved products and processes, is capitalised if the product or process is
technically and commercially feasible and the Group has sufficient resources
to complete development. The expenditure capitalised includes the cost

of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of overheads.
Other development expenditure is recognised in the income sfatement as

an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated

af cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(iii] Computer software

Computer software that is integral fo a related item of hardware is included
within tangible fixed assefs. All other computer software is freated as an
infangible asset.

(iv] Intellectual property
Intellectual property is stated at cost less accumulated amortisation
and impairment losses.

(v] Other intangible assets
Other infangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated
at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment losses.

(vi] Amortisation

Amortisation of intangible assets (excluding goodwill) is charged 1o

the income sfafement on a straightline basis over the estimated useful lives
of infangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets (other
than goodwill) are amortised from the date they are available for use.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Intellectual property Up to 20 years

Customer relationships 10 years

Computer software 3 =5 years

Goodwill is systematically tested for impairment at each balance sheet date,
and when there is an indication of impairment.
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(h) Property, plant and equipment and other investments
ltems of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses.

Depreciation is charged to the income statement on a straightHine basis over
the estimated useful lives of each item of property, plant and equipment, and
major components that are accounted for separately (or in the case of leased
assets, the lease period, if shorter]. Lland is not depreciated.

The estimated useful lives are as follows:

Freehold and long leasehold properties 10 - 50 years
Plant and equipment, fixtures and fittings

(including IT hardware) 3 =20 vears
Motor vehicles 3 -5 years

Other investments consist of available for sale investments in unquoted
equity and debt securities and are carried at cost, less any impairment.

(i) Impairment

The carrying amounts of the Group's assets, including tangible and
intangible non-current assefs, other than inventories and deferred tax assets
are reviewed at each reporting dafe to determine whether there is any
indication of impairment. If any such indication exisfs, the asset's recoverable
amount is estimated. An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying
amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit exceeds its recoverable
amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the income statement.

(i) Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group's asses is calculated as the value in
use, being the present value of expected future cash flows, using a pretax
discount rate that reflects the current assessment of the time value of money
or the net selling price, if greater. For an asset that does not generate largely
independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is defermined for the
cash-generating unit fo which the assef belongs.

(ii) Reversals of impairment

Impairment losses in respect of goodwill are not reversed. In respect of

other assets, an impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the
estimates used fo determine the recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
reversed only fo the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed
the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation
or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

(j) Derivative financial instruments

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, primarily inferest rate,
currency and commodity swaps, fo manage inferest rate, currency and
commodity risks associated with the Group's underlying business activities
and the financing of these activities. The Group has a policy not to, and
does not underiake any speculative activity in these instruments.

Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered info and
are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are carried as
assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when the fair
value is negative.

Derivative financial instruments are accounted for as hedges when
designated as hedges af the inception of the confract and when the
financial instruments provide an effective hedge of the underlying risk.
Any gains or losses arising from the hedging instruments are offset against
the hedged items.



1. Significant accounting policies confinued
(i) Derivative financial instruments continued
For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

o fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair
value of a recognised asset or liability;

e cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash flows
that is aftributable to a particular risk associated with either a statement
of financial position itfem or a highly probable forecast fransaction; or

o hedges of the nef investment in a foreign entity.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of all other
derivatives are faken to the income sfatement. These may arise from
derivatives for which hedge accounting is not applied because they
are not effective as hedging instruments.

The treatment of gains and losses arising from revaluing derivatives
designated as hedging instruments depends on the nature of the
hedging relationship as follows:

Fair value hedges: the carrying amount of the hedged item is adjusted

for gains or losses atiributable fo the risk being hedged; the derivative is
remeasured at fair value and gains and losses from both are taken fo the
income statement. The Group discontinues fair value hedge accounting if
the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, the hedge
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting or the Group revokes

the designation.

Cash flow hedges: the effective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging
instrument is recognised directly in equity, while the ineffective portion is
recognised in the income stafement. Amounts taken 1o equity are fransferred
fo the income statement when the hedged transaction affects profit or loss,
such as when a forecast sale or purchase occurs. Where the hedged item

is the cost of a nonfinancial asset or liability, the amounts taken to equity are
transferred fo the initial carrying amount of the nonfinancial asset or liability.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised

without replacement or rollover, the hedged transaction ceases to be highly
probable, or if its designation as a hedge is revoked, amounts previously
recognised in equity remain in equity until the forecast fransaction occurs

and are fransferred to the income statement or to the inifial carrying amount

of a nonfinancial asset liability as above. If a forecast fransaction is no longer
expected to occur, amounts previously recognised in equity are transferred

to the income statement.

Hedges of net investment in a foreign entity: the effective portion of the
gain or loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in equity, while
the ineffective portion is recognised in the income statfement. Amounts taken fo
equity are transferred to the income statement when the foreign entfity is sold.

The net present value of the expected future payments under options over
inferests held by minorities in the Group's subsidiaries are shown as a
financial liability. At the end of each period, the valuation of the liability is
reassessed with any changes recognised in the profit or loss for the period.

(k) Treasury shares

When share capital recognised as equity is repurchased, the amount of
the consideration paid, including directly afiributable costs, is recognised
as a change in equity. Repurchased shares are classified as freasury shares
and presented as a deduction from total equity.

(I) Trade and other receivables
Trade and other receivables are stated af their cost less impairment provisions.

(m) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net
realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of
business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.

The cost of inventories is based on the firstin firstout principle and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them fo their
existing locafion and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and
work in progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based
on normal operating capacity.

(n) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits.
Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part
of the Group's cash management are included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows.

(o) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially af fair value, less attributable transaction
costs. Subsequent fo initial recognition, inferestbearing borrowings are stated
at amortised cost with borrowing costs being accounted for on an accruals
basis in the income statement using the effective interest method.

At the reporting date, accrued interest is recorded separately from the
associated borrowings within current liabilities.

(p) Employee benefits

(i) Defined contribution schemes

Contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an
employee benefit expense within personnel expenses in the income statement,
as incurred.

(i) Defined benefit schemes

The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension schemes
is calculated separately for each scheme by estimating the amount of future
benefit that employees have eamed in retum for their service in the current
and prior periods; that benefit is discounted fo its present value amount and
recognised in the income sfatement as personnel expense; a corresponding
liability for all future benéfits is established on the statement of financial
position and the fair value of any schemes’ assets is deducted.
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The discount rate is the yield af the reporting date on AA credit rated

bonds that have maturity dates approximating fo the duration of the schemes’
obligations. The calculation is performed by a quadlified actuary using the
projected unit method. Actuarial gains and losses are recognised immediafely
in the statement of comprehensive income.

(iii) Share-based payment transactions

The Group operates equity-sefiled, share-based compensation plans.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the options is recognised as personnel expense, with a corresponding
increase in equity, over the period that the employees unconditionally
become enfifled to the awards. The fair value of the options granted is
measured using a stochastic model, taking info account the terms and
conditions upon which the options were granfed. The total amount fo be
expensed over the vesting period is determined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market
vesting conditions.

For options remaining outstanding under the Executive Share Option
Scheme (1999), which ceased to be operated from September 2008
(see note 24), non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions
about the number of options that are expected to become exercisable.

At each reporting date, the enfity revises its estimates of the number of
options that are expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact
of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the income statement, and
a corresponding adjusiment fo equity.

DS Smith Pl
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

1. Significant accounting policies continued

(q) Provisions

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past
event, and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation,
and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required to
sefile the obligation and are discounted to present value where the effect

is material.

(r) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are stated at their cost.

(s) Leases

(i) Finance leases

Assets held under finance leases are recognised as assets of the Group at the
inception of the lease af the lower of their fair value and the present value of
the minimum lease payments. Depreciation on leased assefs is charged to the
Consolidated Income Statement on the same basis as owned assets. Leasing
payments are freated as consisting of capital and interest elements and the
inferest is charged to the Consolidated Income Statement as it is incurred.

(i) Operating leases

Operating lease rentals are charged fo the Consolidated Income
Statement on a straightline basis over the lease ferm. Any premium or
discount on the acquisition of a lease is spread over the life of the lease
on a straightine basis.

(1) Taxation

Income tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred
tax. Income fax is recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement except
to the extent that it relates to ifems recognised directly to equity, in which
case if is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year,
using fax rates enacted at the balance sheet date, and any adjusiment o
tox payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is provided for using the balance sheet liability method,
providing for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assefs
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for
taxation purposes.

The tax effect of certain temporary differences is not recognised,

principally with respect to goodwill; temporary differences arising on the
initial recognition of assets or liabilities (other than those arising in a business
combination or in a manner that initially impacted accounting or taxable
profit); and temporary differences relating fo investment in subsidiaries and
associates fo the extent that they will probably nof reverse in the foreseeable
future and the Group is able to control the reversal of such temporary
differences. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected
manner of realisation or setlement of the carrying amount of assets and
liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the balance
sheet date.

A deferred fax asset is recognised only fo the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the assef can be utilised.
Deferred tax assets are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that the related tax benefit will be realised.

(u) Assets held for sale

Non-current assets, or disposal groups comprising assets and liabilities,

that are expected fo be recovered primarily through sale rather than

through continuing use, are classified as held for sale. Immediately before
classification as held for sale, the assets, or components of a disposal
group, are remeasured in accordance with the Group's accounting policies.
Thereafter, generally the assets, or disposal group, are measured at the
lower of their carrying amount and fair value less cost to sell.
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Any impairment loss on a disposal group s first allocated to goodwill,

and then fo remaining assets and liabilities on pro rata basis, except that

no loss is allocated to inventories, financial assets, deferred tax assets and
employee benefit assets, which continue to be measured in accordance with
the Group's accounting policies. Impairment losses on inifial classification

as held for sale and subsequent gains or losses on remeasurement are
recognised in profit or loss. Gains are not recognised in excess of any
cumulative impairment loss.

(v) Critical accounting policies

The application of the Group's accounting policies requires management
to make estimates and assumptions; these esfimates and assumptions affect
the reported assefs and liabilities and financial results of the Group. Actual
outcomes could differ from the estimates and assumptions used.

The Group's accounting policies that are most critical to an understanding
of the results and position of the Group, and the judgements involved in
their application, are as follows:

(i) Impairments

When applying IAS 36, 'Impairment of Assets’, the Group compares
the carrying value of goodwill and intangible assets with the higher
of their net realisable value and value in use to determine whether
an impairment exists.

Value in use is calculated by discounting the cash flows expected 1o

be generated by the asset/group of assefs being tested for evidence of
impairment. The use of different estimates, assumptions and judgements,

in particular those involved in (a) defermining a value based on our current
expectations of future conditions and the associated cash flows from the
Group's operations, (b) our defermination of the level at which groups of
assets can be reasonably tested for impairment separately from other parts
of the business and (c) our freatment of centrally held assets, could each
result in materially different carrying values of assefs and assessments of
impairment. See note 10 for additional information.

(ii] Pensions and other post-retirement benefits

IAS 19, 'Employee Benefits', requires the Group to make assumptions
including, but not limited to, future assef returns, rates of inflation, discount
rafes and life expectancies. The use of different assumptions, in any of the
above calculations, could have a material effect on the accounting values of
the relevant statement of financial position assets and liabilities which could
also result in a change to the cost of such liabilities as recognised in profit
or loss over time. These assumptions are subject fo periodic review. See
note 23 for additional information.

(iii) Accounting for carbon dioxide (COx) emissions

There are currently no accounting standards that specifically address
accounting for emission allowances. The Group has applied a net liability’
approach. Under a 'net liability' approach, no assets or government grants
are recognised when allowances are initially received. This is because they
are ascribed a nominal value of nil. As allowances granted to the Group
are used fo offset the liability from CO2 emissions, no accounting entries
are required so long as the related emissions generated are within the
allowance received from the government. If such emissions are in excess
of the allowance received (known as a shortfall position) a provision is
made at the current market price for carbon credits. In the case where
emission quotas are acquired through an acquisition, any surplus emission
quotas are fair valued in accordance with IFRS 3 'Business Combinations’.



1. Significant accounting policies confinued

(w) IFRS standards and interpretations in issue but not yet effective

The Intfernational Accounting Standards Board (IASB| and Infernational Financial Reporting Inferpretations Commitiee (IFRIC) have issued new standards
and inferpretations with an effective date after the date of these financial statements.

IAS 19 (revised 201 1) ‘Employee Benefits’ is considered fo be the most significant of the upcoming changes which is effective for the year ended

30 April 2014 and requires the replacement of the expected rate of refurn on assets and interest charge on pension scheme liabilities with a net financing
cost based on the discount rate. The Group does not anficipate that the adoption of the remaining standards and interprefations that are effective for the
year ending 30 April 2014 will have a material effect on ifs financial statements on initial adoption. None of these standards have currently been endorsed
by the EU.

Effective date —

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS/IAS) financial years ending

IAS 19 Amendments to IAS 19 ‘Employee Benefits’ 30 April 2014

IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements 30 April 2014

IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements 30 April 2014

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Inferests in Other Entities 30 April 2014

IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures 30 April 2014

Amendments fo IAS 1 Presentation of ltems of Other Comprehensive Income 30 April 2014

IAS 27 Separate Financial Stafements 30 April 2014

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures 30 April 2014

IFRS @ Financial Insfruments 30 April 2016
g.
g
%)
g
[}
z
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

2. Segment reporting
Operating segments

IFRS 8 'Operating Segments’, requires operating segments to be identified on the same basis as is used infernally for the review of performance and allocation
of resources by the Group Chief Executive (who is the Chief Operating Decision Maker as defined by IFRS 8]. Further details of these business segments are
given in the Business Review. Segment results include items directly affributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable basis.
Central administration costs are allocated to the individual segments on a consistent basis year on year. Assets and liabiliies have been analysed by segment
ot a capital employed level, which excludes items of a financing nature, taxation balances, postretirement benéfit liabilifies and non-current asset investments.

Debt and associated interest is managed at a Group level and therefore has not been allocated across the business areas. The Office Products and

Wholesaling division has been classified as a discontinued operation and was sold during the year ended 30 April 2012 (note 29).

Continental
European Total
UK Corrugated Plastic Continuing  Discontinued Total
Year ended 30 April 2012 Noo ccioge  Pockospy  Fockeggg  Operatrs  Cpempr O
External revenue 960.2 743.9 265.3 1,969.4 455.8 2,425.2
EBITDA 96.0 79.6 30.3 205.9 14.8 220.7
Depreciation 11 (31.6) (24.0) (8.3) 63.9) (0.6) (64.5)
Operating profit * 64.4 55.6 22.0 142.0 14.2  156.2
Amortisation 10 (2.8) (4.6) (0.7) (8.1) (0.2) (8.3)
Other exceptional items (67.5) 6.3) 6.3) (80.1) 67.1 (13.0)
Segment result (5.9 44.7 15.0 53.8 81.1 134.9
Unallocated items
Exceptional gain — investment in associate 4 10.0
Exceptional costs — SCA Packaging acquisition costs 4 (18.4)
Total operating profit (continuing operations) 45.4
Analysis of total assets and total liabilities
Segment assefs 513.7 696.9 138.3 1,348.9
Unallocated items
Investments, associate and other assets Q.6
Derivative financial instruments 10.7
Cash and cash equivalents 664.5
Tax balances 46.8
Total assets 2,080.5
Segment liabilities (239.2) (220.9) (16.6) (476.7)
Unallocated items
Borrowings and accrued inferest (341.2)
Derivative financial instruments (23.6)
Tax balances (77.3)
Postretirement benefits (104.2)
Total liabilities (1,023.0)

* adjusted for amortisation and exceptional ifems
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2. Segment reporting confinued
Operating segments confinued

Continental
European Total
UK Corrugated Plastic Continuing Discontinued Total

Year ended 30 Aprl 2011 - Pockoggg Pockaggg Pockog;g Operoh;r:; Operat\gomn Grogr;:]
External revenue Q7.7 509.4 242.2 1,759.3 7152 2,474.5
EBITDA 88.3 62.9 26.8 177.8 28.8 206.8
Depreciation (34.1) (23.1) 9.9) 67.1) (3.6) (70.7)
Operating profit * 54.2 39.8 169 1109 252 136.1
Amortisation (2.6) (3.1) (1.1 (6.8) (1.1 (7.9
Exceptional items 4 Q.5 (8.4) 0.2) 0.9 0.3 1.2
Segment result 61.1 28.3 15.6 105.0 24.4 1294
Analysis of total assets and total liabilities
Segment assets 703.4 566.8 161.1 1,431.3 234.6 1,665.9
Unallocated items

Investments, associate and other assets 0.5

Derivative financial instruments 21.7

Cash and cash equivalents 114.3

Tax balances 61.2
Total assets 1,863.6
Segment liabilities (211.0)  (168.9) [46.9)  (426.8) (126.1) (552.9)
Unallocated items

Borrowings and accrued inferest 448.3)

Derivative financial instruments (43.4)

Tax balances (87.3)

Post-retirement benefits (147.5)
Total liabilities (1,279.4)

* adjusted for amortisation and exceptional ifems

Geographical areas
In presenting information by geographical area, external revenue is based on the geographical location of customers. Non-current assets exclude invesiments
and derivative financial instruments and are based on the geographical location of asses.

External revenue Non-current assets Capital expenditure
Continuing operations 20215 2O;n1* 202% 2021n1* 20215 2O£]nl*
UK 988.4 Q49.6 479.7 545.2 61.3 30.2
France 606.6 503.4 78.1 301.5 29.5 19.6
Rest of Western Continental Europe 180.7  117.6 308.7 69.1 12.3 4.4
Eastern Continental Europe 109.9 110.7 54.6 48.6 9.6 54
Rest of the World 83.8 /8.0 354 35.8 2.8 3.6

1,9069.4 1,759.3 956.5 1,000.2 1155 632

* restated following the sale of the Office Products Wholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

3. Operating profit

Continuing operations 2O§1§ Qogn:*

Operating expenses

Distribution 156.1 1455

Administrative 236.0 152.8

392.1 298.3

Details of exceptional items included in operating profit are set out in nofe 4.

Operating profit is stated after charging/(crediting) the following:

Continuing operations 202% 2Ogn1*

Depreciation - owned assefs 62.3 6538
— leased assets 1.6 1.3

Amortisation of infangible assets 8.1 6.8

Hire of plant and machinery 120 122

Other operating lease rentals 8.3 6.4

Research and development 3.8 3.8

Gain on sale of land and buildings - (0.7

* restated following the sale of the Office Products Wholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)

A description of the work of the Audit Committee is set out in the Corporate Governance section on pages 39 to 40 and includes an explanation of how

the Auditor’s objectivity and independence is safeguarded when non-audit services are provided by the Auditor.

2012 2011
UK Overseas Total UK Overseas Total
Auditor's remuneration £m £m gm £m £m m
Fees payable fo the Company's auditor for audit of the

Company’s annual accounts 0.1 - 0.1 0.2 - 0.2
Fees payable to the Company’s auditor and their associates for other services:

Audit of the Company’s subsidiaries, pursuant fo legislation 0.3 0.5 0.8 0.4 0.8 1.2

Corporate finance services 1.2 - 1.2 1.2 - 1.2

Tax and other services 0.1 - 0.1 0.1 0.2 0.3

1.7 0.5 2.2 1.9 1.0 2.9

Auditor’s remuneration includes continuing and discontinued operations. Total non-audit fees were £1.3m (2010/11: £1.5m).
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4. Exceptional items
ltems are presented as 'exceptional’ in the financial statements where they are significant items of financial performance that the Directors consider should be
separately disclosed to assist in the understanding of the frading and financial results of the Group.

SCA Packaging Other Total Tofal
acquisition excepfional exceptional exceptional
costs items items items
2012 2012 2012 2011
Continuing operations £m £m £m Em*
Restructuring costs
UK Packaging - (30.6) (30.6) 0.9)
Continental European Corrugated Packaging - (6.3) (6.3) (2.3)
Plastic Packaging - (5.4) (5.4) (0.5)
Total resfructuring cosfs - (42.3) (42.3) (3.7)
Acquisition related costs (18.4) - (18.4) 7.2)
Pension curtailment - - - 30.3
Impairment of assets - (36.5) (36.5) (15.9)
Investment in associate - 10.0 10.0 -
Disposal costs - - - (2.6)
Other - (1.3) (1.3) -
Total pretax exceptional items (recognised in operating profit) (18.4) (70.1) (88.5) 0.9
Income tax credit/(charge) on exceptional items 1.9 15.4 17.3 2.9)
Total postax exceptional items (16.5) (54.7) 71.2) (2.0)

* restated following the sale of the Office Products VWholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)

2011/12

SCA Packaging acquisition costs of £18.4m relate fo the planned acquisition of the packaging division of Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget SCA and
consist of professional advisory fees, due diligence cosfs and other acquisition related costfs. Due 1o the nature of these costs, they have been reported
as exceptional cosfs.

The UK Packaging restructuring costs of £30.6m primarily relate to the restructuring of the UK Packaging business, and the exit costs from the closure and
sale of two paper mills. Continental European Corrugated Packaging costs of £6.3m relate fo restructuring in France and Plastic Packaging costs of £5.4m
primarily relate to restructuring in the UK and Germany.

Total intangible asset, tangible fixed asset and inventory impairment charges are £36.5m and primarily relate to property, plant and equipment within the
UK, primarily relating fo paper assets.

The exceptional gain of £10.0m relates fo the Group's associate investment in OJSC Rubezhansk Paper and Packaging Mill (Rubezhansk]. In 2008,/09 an
exceptional loss of £18.1m was incurred when the carrying value of the Group's investment was writtien down fo £nil due to the uncertainty in the financial
position of the business, following a breach of its banking covenants caused by exchange rate movements. In November 2011, revised facilities were
agreed with the banks and hence it was considered appropriafe to re-instate the investment in associate at fair value.

2010/11

The UK Packaging restructuring costs of £0.9m relate to two small packaging plants in the UK and Plastic Packaging costs of £0.5m relate to restructuring
in France. Following the acquisition of Ofor in September 2010, a restructuring programme was put in place in France to facilitate Otor’s integration with
the Group. This resulted in restructuring costs of £2.3m within Continental European Corrugated Packaging.

The acquisition related cosfs relate o the acquisition of Otor. The pension curtailment gain primarily relates to the closure of the UK Group Scheme to
future accrual and is described in note 23. Impairment charges relate to intangible assets and property, plant and equipment within the UK Packaging and
the Plastic Packaging segments. Disposal costs predominantly relate to the disposal of Copikas, the Group's subsidiary in Turkey, and a small packaging
business in the UK.
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

5. Finance income and costs

2012 2011
Continuing operations £m Sm*
Interest on loans and overdrafts 19.6 18.3
Finance lease inferest 0.3 0.2
Other 0.6 2.3
Finance costs 20.5 20.8
Interest income from financial assets (1.6) (0.5)
Other (0.5) (0.3
Finance income (2.1) 0.8)
* restated following the sale of the Office Products Wholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)
Included within other finance costs is £nil (2011: £1.2m) of hedge ineffectiveness on net investiment hedges and fair value hedges.
6. Personnel expenses

2012 2011
Continuing operations £m $m*
Wages and salaries 204.4  293.2
Social security cosfs 34.8 26.3
Contributions to defined contribution pension plans 6.5 1.5
Service costs for defined benefit schemes (note 23) 0.9 8.3
Share-based payment expense (note 24| 4.0 2.9
Personnel expenses 340.6 332.2
Average number of employees during the financial year by geographical region

Nomber _ Nurber

UK 5216 5,336
France 2,717 1,954
Rest of Western Continental Europe 443 487
Eastern Continental Europe 1,241 1,120
Rest of the World 533 519
Average number of employees 10,150 9,416
* restated following the sale of the Office Products VWholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)
7. Income tax expense

2012 2011
Continuing operations £m Sm*
Current fax expense
Current year (36.6) (21.4)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 5.4 -

31.2) (1214

Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences (1.8) (7.0)
Reduction in UK fax rate from 28% to 26% 3.0 2.7
Adjustment in respect of prior years (0.6) 4.1
Total income tax expense before exceptional items (30.6)  (21.9)
Tox relating to SCA Packaging acquisition costs [note 4) 1.9 -
Tax relafing fo other exceptional itfems (note 4) 154 (2.9)
Total income tax expense in the income statement from continuing operations (13.3) (24.5)
Discontinued operations
Total income fax expense before exceptional items (4.8) (7.0)
Tax relating to other exceptional items (@.1) -
Total income tax expense in the income statement from discontinued operations (13.9) (7.0)

* restated following the sale of the Office Products VWholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)
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7. Income tax expense continued
The reconciliation of the actual tax charge to that at the domestic corporation tax rate is as follows:

2012 2011
£m £m

Profit before income tax —
Continuing operations 21.7 /7.6
Discontinued operations 81.2 24.6
Share of loss of associate 0.5 -
Profit before tax and share of loss of associate 103.4 102.2
Income tax at the domestic corporation tax rate of 25.83% (2010/11: 27.83%) (26.7) (28.4)
Effect of tax rates in overseas jurisdictions (7.0) (4.9)
Non-deducfible expenses (9.1) (5.3)
Gain on disposal of Office Products VWholesaling division 8.2 -
Utilisation/(origination) of tax losses not recognised 0.1 (0.5)
Adjustment in respect of prior years 3.2 4.2
Effect of change in UK corporation tax rafe 3.1 2.7
Other 1.0 0.7
Income tax expense — total Group (27.2) (31.5)
Income fax expense from continuing operations (13.3) (24.5)
Income tax expense from discontinued operations (13.9) (7.0)

The Emergency Budget on 22 June 2010 announced that the UK current tax rate would reduce from 28% to 24% over a period of four years from 201 1.
In the 2012 Budget, a reduction from 1 April 2012 to 24%, a reduction from 1 April 2013 1o 23% and further changes to reduce the rate to 22% by
April 2014 were announced. The rate reduction to 24% was substantively enacted on 26 March 2012 and was effective from 1 April 2012. Accordingly
the rafe applying to UK assets and liabilities has also been reduced from 26% to 24%, creating a rate adjustment, which is partly reflected in the
Consolidated Income Statement, and partly in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income or Equity.

The rate reduction from 24% to 22% has not yet been substantively enacted; had it been, the effect would have been to reduce the net deferred tax asset
in the UK by £2.2m, of which it is estimated that £3.0m would have been credited fo the Consolidated Income Statement and £5.2m would have been
charged to the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income.

Tax on other comprehensive income and equity

Tax credit/ Tax credit/

Gross (charge) Net Gross [charge) Net

2012 2012 2012 2011 2011 2011

£m £m £m £m £m £m

Actuarial gains on defined pension schemes 16.1 (8.1) 8.0 14.4 (8.3) 6.1

Foreign currency franslation differences and reclassification

from translation reserve to income statement arising on divesiment (24.0) (7.9) (31.9) 1.9 3.0 4.9

Movements in cash flow hedges (6.6) 1.7 4.9) 15.4 (5.0) 10.4

Other comprehensive (expense)/income (14.5) (14.3) (28.8) 31.7 (10.3) 214

Issue of share capital 450.2 - 450.2 50.3 - 50.3
Ordinary shares purchased (0.3) - (0.3) (6.5) - (6.5)
Employee share trust 1.8 - 1.8 - - -
Share-based payment expense 4.0 2.2 6.2 2.9 0.8 3.7

Acquisitions/disposals - - - 2.5 - 2.5
Acquisition of non-controlling interests without a change in control - - - (8.5) - (8.5)
Dividends paid to Group shareholders (31.5) - (31.5) (22.6) - (22.6)

Other comprehensive income/(expense) and equity 409.7 (12.1) 397.6 49.8 (9.5) 403
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

8. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share from continuing operations

2012 2011*
Profit from continuing operations affributable to ordinary shareholders £8.0m £52.5m
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 April 680.6m 613.1m
Basic eamings per share 1.2p 8.6p
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operations
2012 2011*
Profit from continuing operations affributable to ordinary shareholders £8.0m £52.5m
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 April 680.6m 613.1m
Potentially dilutive shares issuable under share-based payment arrangements 13.5m 12.5m
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted] at 30 April 694.1m 625.6m
Diluted earnings per share 1.2p 8.4p
Basic earnings per share from discontinued operations
2012 2011*
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders £67.3m £17.6m
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 April 680.6m 613.1m
Basic earnings per share 9.9p 2.9p
Diluted earnings per share from discontinued operations
2012 2011*
Profit attributable to ordinary shareholders £67.3m £17.6m
Weighted average number of ordinary shares at 30 April 680.6m 613.1m
Potentially dilutive shares issuable under share-based payment arrangements 13.5m 12.5m
Weighted average number of ordinary shares (diluted] at 30 April 694.1m  625.6m
Diluted earnings per share 9.7p 2.8p
The number of shares excludes the weighted average number of the Company’s own shares held as treasury shares during the year of 7.0m
[2010/11: 3.4m).
Adjusted earnings per share from continuing operations
The Direcfors believe that the presentation of an adjusted eamings per share amount, being the basic eamings per share adjusted for exceptional
items and amortisation of intangible assets, helps to explain the underlying performance of the Group. A reconciliation of basic to adjusted earnings
per share is as follows:
2012 2011~
Basic — Diluted — Basic - Diluted -
pence pence pence pence
£m per share per share £€m per share  per share
Basic earnings 8.0 1.2p 1.2p 52.5 8.6p 8.4p
Add back amortisation 8.1 1.2p 1.2p 6.8 1.1p 1.1p
Add back exceptional items, after tax 71.2 10.4p 10.2p 2.0 0.3p 0.3p
Adijusted earnings 87.3 12.8p 12.6p 61.3 10.0p 9.8p

* restated for the bonus effect of the rights issue [note 22)
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9. Dividends proposed and paid

2012 2011
Pence per Pence per

share £m share* £m
Interim dividend — paid *1.9p 12.1 1.4p 8.7
Final dividend — proposed 4.0p 36.8 3.1p 19.6
5.9p 48.9 4.5p 28.3
2012 2011
£m £m
Paid during the year 31.5 22.6

* restated for the bonus element of the rights issue (note 22)

A final dividend in respect of 2011/12 of 4.0 pence per share (£36.8m) has been proposed by the Directors after the balance sheet date and has not been

included as a liability in these financial statfements.

10. Intangible assets

Intellectual
Goodwill Software property Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1T May 2011 316.3 39.4 18.0 38.1 411.8
Acquisitions 0.3 - - - 0.3
Additions - 4.3 0.2 0.9 54
Adijustment relafing fo business combination in previous year 2.1 - - - 2.1
Divestments (8.8) (16.9) (2.1) - (27.8)
Disposals - (0.6) - (1.9 (2.5)
Currency franslafion (10.9) (1.7) 0.7) (2.2) (15.5)
At 30 April 2012 299.0 24.5 15.4 34.9 373.8
Amorfisation and impairment
At T May 2011 (21.2) (30.0) [7.7) (8.1) (67.0)
Amortisation - (2.2) (1.0) (5.1 (8.3)
Impairment (6.6) (0.7) - - (7.3)
Divestments - 13.1 0.8 - 13.9
Disposals - 0.5 - 1.7 2.2
Currency franslation 0.4 1.4 0.2 0.4 2.4
At 30 April 2012 (27.4) (17.9) (7.7) (11.1) (64.1)
Carrying amount
At T May 2011 2951 9.4 10.3 30.0 344.8
At 30 April 2012 271.6 6.6 7.7 23.8 309.7

The amortisation charge for the year of £8.3m (2010/11: £7.9m) is included within continuing operating expenses (£8.1m) and profit from

discontinued operations (£0.2m).

The impairment charge for the year of £7.3m (2010/11: £3.4m) is included within exceptional items and relates to impairments in the UK Packaging segment.

The other items above mainly relate fo customer relationships. Also within other items are acquired emissions quotas which are capitalised as an asset
when granted to the Group and treated as a disposal when used to satisfy the Group's obligations or sold, as explained in nofe 1.

An adjusiment of £2.1m was made fo the fair value of goodwill in 2011/12 relating to the acquisition of Otor in 2010/11.

The divestment of goodwill relates to the sale of the Office Products Wholesaling division.
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

10. Intangible assets confinued

Intellectual
Goodwill Software property Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 May 2010 216.1 35.6 13.3 14.8 279.8
Acquisitions Q5.9 2.5 4.1 19.9 122.4
Additions - 3.6 0.1 1.6 53
Disposals (2.8) (3.2) - - 6.0)
Currency franslafion 7.1 0.9 0.5 1.8 10.3
At 30 April 2011 316.3 39.4 18.0 38.1 411.8
Amortisation and impairment
At 1 May 2010 (19.0) (31.2) (5.8 (2.6) (58.9)
Amortisation - (1.9 (1.2) (4.8) (7.9)
Impairment (2.2) - - (1.2) (3.4)
Disposals - 3.3 - - 3.3
Currency franslation - 0.2) 0.7) 0.5 (0.4)
At 30 April 2011 (21.2) (30.0) (7.7) (8.1) (67.0)
Carrying amount
At 1 May 2010 197.1 4.4 7.5 12.2 221.2
At 30 April 2011 2951 9.4 10.3 30.0 344.8
Impairment tests for cash-generating units containing goodwill
The following segments have cash-generating units (CGUs) containing significant carrying amounts of goodwill:
2012 2011
£m £m
UK Packaging 130.9 137.3
Continental European Corrugated Packaging 102.6 110.2
Plastic Packaging 38.1 40.3
271.6 287.8
Segments with no CGUs containing individually significant goodwill - 7.3
Total goodwill 271.6 295.1

The Group tests goodwill annually for impairment or more frequently if there are indications that goodwill might be impaired. The recoverable amounts
of the CGUs are determined from value in use calculations.

The key assumptions in the value in use calculation were:

o cash forecasts derived from the latest budgets and forecasts for the two years ending 30 April 2014 as approved by the Directors. Cash flows beyond
the forecast period were extrapolated assuming a growth rafe of 3% (2010/11: 3%); and

o the pretax discount rate for the Group is 10.1% (2010/11: 11.0%). The Group believes that the risk profiles across the significant markets in which
it operates are not significantly different, hence the same discount rate is applied across all CGUs [except for the Group's investment in associate).

The value in use is based upon anticipated discounted future cash flows. The Directors believe the assumptions used are appropriate, but in addition have
conducted sensitivity analysis fo defermine the changes in assumptions that would result. Based on this analysis the Directors believe that no reasonably
possible change in any of the key assumptions detailed above would cause the carrying value of CGUs 1o exceed their recoverable amounts. Therefore
at 30 April 2012 no impairment charge is required against the carrying value of goodwill above those specific impairments detailed above.
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11. Property, plant and equipment

Lland and Plant and Fixtures Under
buildings equipment and fittings  construction Total
£m £m £m £m £m

Cost
At 1 May 2011 364.0 1,202.5 58.0 244  1,6489
Additions 4.5 755 1.1 30.8 111.9
Divestments (36.4) (20.5) (34.2) - @1.1)
Disposals (5.6) (32.8) (1.4) - (39.8)
Transfers 1.8 12.5 0.5 (14.8) -
Currency franslation (14.1) 47.6) (2.0) (1.4) 65.1)
At 30 April 2012 314.2 1,189.6 22.0 39.0 1,564.8
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 May 2011 (101.4) (859.9) 46.5) [0.6) (1,008.4)
Depreciation charge (7.4) (55.8) (1.3) - 64.5)
Divestments 13.0 16.9 30.0 - 59.9
Disposals 4.1 24.2 1.4 - 29.7
Impairment - (23.7) - - (23.7)
Currency franslation 5.3 33.6 1.6 - 40.5
At 30 April 2012 (86.4) (864.7) (14.8) (0.6) (966.5)
Carrying amount
At 1 May 2011 262.6 342.6 11.5 23.8 640.5
At 30 April 2012 227.8 324.9 7.2 38.4 598.3

The depreciation charge for the year of £64.5m (2010/11: £70.7m| is included within continuing operating expenses (£63.9m) and profit from
discontinued operations (£0.6m|. The impairment charge for plant and equipment is recognised in profit and loss in exceptional items of which the majority

relates to the UK Packaging segment.

The amounts above include land and buildings held under finance lease agreements. At 30 April 2012, the carrying amount of land and buildings held under

finance leases was £4.5m (30 April 2011: £16.9m).

Assets under construction mainly relate to production machines being built for various sites across the Group.

land and Plant and Fixtures Under
buildings equipment and fittings consfruction Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Cost
At 1 May 2010 328.2 1,116.2 58.3 154  1,518.1
Acquisitions 30.4 26.7 0.7 3.9 61.7
Additions 1.1 46.7 2.0 12.9 62.7
Disposals (4.6) (9.3 (4.0) - (17.9)
Transfers 1.3 6.5 0.3 (8.1) -
Currency franslation 7.6 15.7 0.7 0.3 24.3
At 30 April 2011 364.0 1,202.5 58.0 244  1,648.9
Depreciation and impairment
At 1 May 2010 (89.1) (720.9) (47.3) - (927.3)
Depreciation (7.3) 61.0) (2.4) - (70.7)
Disposals 2.3 12.0 3.9 - 18.2
Impairment (3.9) (8.0) - (0.6) (12.5)
Currency franslation (3.4) (12.0) 0.7) - (16.1)
At 30 April 2011 (101.4) (859.9) (46.5) (0.6) (1,008.4)
Carrying amount
At 1 May 2010 239.1 325.3 11.0 15.4 590.8
At 30 April 2011 262.6 342.6 11.5 23.8 640.5
DS Smith Plc
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

12. Investment in associate

2012 2011

£m £m

At 1 May - -
Reinstatement of investment in associate at fair value 10.0 -
Share of loss of associate affer interest and tax (0.5) -
At 30 April 9.5 -

Principal country Ownership inferest

Nature of business of operation Financial year end 2012 2011

QJSC Rubezhansk Paper and
Packaging Mill (Rubezhansk| Manufacturer of paper and packaging Ukraine 31 December 49.6% 49.6%

Rubezhansk is accounted for using the equity method within these financial statements.

In 2008,/09, the Group fully impaired the carrying value of its invesiment in Rubezhansk due fo a breach in Rubezhansk’s banking covenants caused by
foreign exchange losses following the significant decline in the Ukrainian Hryvnia against the US dollar.

Whilst the uncertainty of the financial position continued at Rubezhansk, the Group did not recognised any profits in respect of its investment in the associate.

In November 2011, revised facilities were agreed with the banks and hence it was considered appropriate to re-instate the investment in associate in the
Group balance sheet at fair value of £10.0m and resume recognition of the Group's share of profit or loss from that date.

The Group accounts for its investment in Rubezhansk as an associate because the Group has the ability to exercise significant influence over the invesiment
due fo the Group's 49.6% equity holding. The Group does not have control over Rubezhansk under IAS 27 "Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements’
because it does not, by virtue of its shareholding or other agreement, have more than half the voting rights.

Summary of financial information of associate
31 December 31 December

2011 2010
£m £m
Rubezhansk
Assets 190.0 173.7
Liabilities 59.2) 62.1)
Revenue 121.2 Q3.5
Profit after tax 10.7 13.3
13. Inventories
2012 2011
£m £m
Raw materials and consumables 83.4 96.4
Work in progress 57 54
Finished goods 57.7 124.6
146.8 226.4
Provisions against inventories at 30 April 2012 were £15.2m (30 April 2011: £20.9m).
14. Trade and other receivables
2012 2011
Non-current Current Non-current Current
£m £m £m £m
Trade receivables - 268.1 - 427 .4
Provisions for bad and doubtful receivables - (9.3) - (17.5)
Prepayments and other receivables 2.4 32.9 3.8 40.5
2.4 291.7 3.8 450.4
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15. Trade and other payables

2012 2011
Non-current Current Non-current Current
£m £m £m em
Trade payables - 278.1 - 363.2
Non+rade payables and accrued expenses 9.9 153.5 Q.3 172.5
9.9 431.6 9.3 535.7
16. Net cash/(debt)
2012 2011
£m €m
Non-current liabilities (227.6)  (407.9)
Current liabilities (93.4) (4.4)
Derivative financial instruments (10.5) (26.9)
Net cash and cash equivalents 653.2 88.2
Net cash/(debt) 321.7  (351.0)
The movement in net cash/(debt) is as follows:
Foreign
At Movement Continuing ~ Discontinved  Acquisitions exchange At
1 May into current operations operations and and fair value 30 April
2011 debt cash flow cash flow disposals movements 2012
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 114.3 - 582.2 (6.4) (23.3) (2.3) 664.5
Overdrafts (26.1) - 1.7 - 0.7 2.4 (11.3)
Net cash and cash equivalents 88.2 - 503.9 (6.4) (22.6) 0.1 653.2
Interestbearing loans and borrowings due — after one year (399.1) Q1.5 70.7 - 3.8 7.9 (225.2)
Interestbearing loans and borrowings due — within one year (1.4) (91.5) 1.3 - 0.5 (0.6) 91.7)
Finance leases (11.8) - 2.7 - 4.1 0.9 (4.1)
Derivative financial instruments
— assets 7.3 - - - - 0.6 7.9
— liabilities (34.2) - - - - 15.8 (18.4)
(439.2) - 747 - 8.4 24.6 (331.5)
Net (debt)/cash (351.0) - 668.6 (6.4) (14.2) 24.7 321.7
17. Cash and cash equivalents
2012 2011
£m £m
Bank balances 449 Q7.0
Shortterm deposits 619.6 17.3
Cash and cash equivalents (consolidated statement of financial position) 664.5 114.3
Overdrafts (11.3) (26.1)
Net cash and cash equivalents (consolidated statement of cash flows| 653.2 88.2
DS Smith Plc
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

18. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings

2012 2011
Current  Non-current Current Non-current
£m £m £m £m
Borrowings measured at amortised cost
Bank and other loans 0.2) (0.4) (1.4) (72.0)
Note purchase agreements - (142.4) - (149.7)
Finance lease liabilities (1.7) (2.4) (3.0) (8.8)
(1.9)  (145.2) (4.4)  (230.5)
Borrowings in a fair value hedge relationship
Note purchase agreements (91.5) (82.4) - (177.4)
(93.4)  (227.6) (4.4)  [407.9)
Bank loans, other loans and overdrafts of certain subsidiaries fotalling £0.3m (2011: £1.5m) are secured over cerfain properties and machinery of these
companies. The holder of the security does not have the right fo sell or re-pledge the assets as security.
The repayment dates of the Group's borrowings are as follows:
2012
1 year 1-2 2-5 More than
or less years years 5 years Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Interestbearing loans and borrowings
Fixed-rate (37.8) (0.7) (67.2) (97.3)  (208.0)
Floatingrate (55.6) 0.3) (62.1) - (118.0)
Total interest-bearing loans and borrowings (93.4) (1.0)  (129.3) (97.3) (321.0)
2011
1 year 1-2 25 More than
or less years years 5 years Total
£m £m £m £m £m
Interestbearing loans and borrowings
Fixed-rate (2.5) (17.8) (67.9)  (151.6) (239.8)
Floating-rate (1.9) (78.3) (76.4) (15.6)  (172.5)
Total interestbearing loans and borrowings (4.4) (96.1) (144.3) (167.5)  (412.3)
The Group's borrowings, after taking info account the effect of crosscurrency swaps and interest rate swaps, are denominated in the following currencies:
Sterling Euro US dollar Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 30 April 2012
Interestbearing loans and borrowings
Fixed-rate (46.2)  (141.1) (15.7) - (203.0)
Floating-rate (25.4) (92.6) - - (118.0)
(71.6)  (233.7) (15.7) - (321.0)
Net cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts)
Floatingrate 621.2 10.6 4.9 16.5 653.2
Net cash/(borrowings) at 30 April 2012 549.6 (223.1) (10.8) 16.5 332.2
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18. Interest-bearing loans and borrowings continued

Sterling Euro US dollar Other Total
£m £m £m £m £m
At 30 April 2011
Inferestbearing loans and borrowings
Fixed-rafe 44.9 179.0 15.9 - 239.8
Floatingrate 26.4 146.1 - - 172.5
71.3 325.1 15.9 - 4123
Net cash and cash equivalents (including bank overdrafts)
Floatingrate (11.1) (51.1) (10.3) (15.7) (88.2)
Net borrowings/(cash) at 30 April 2011 60.2 274.0 5.6 (15.7) 3241
Of the total borrowing facilities available to the Group, the undrawn committed facilities available af 30 April were as follows:
2012 2011
£m £m
Expiring within one year - 17.8
Expiring between one and two years - -
Expiring between two and five years 610.0 287.5
610.0 305.3

At 30 April 2012, 73% (30 April 2011: 79%) of the Group's inferestbearing loans and borrowings, after taking into account the effect of cross-currency
swaps, were denominated in euros in order to hedge the underlying assets of the Group's relevant continental European operations. Interest rates on floating-
rafe borrowings are based on London Interbank Offered Rate [LIBOR|, Euro Interbank Offered Rate [EURIBOR) or base rates.

Bank loan facilities
In August 2010, the Group entered into a term loan facility of €8 1m with three banks, which would have matured on 29 August 201 3. This facility was
repaid in full in September 201 1.

In August 2008, the Group entered into a syndicated revolving credit facility of £287.5m, which would have expired on 29 August 2013. In September
2011 this facility was increased to £610.0m with a new expiry date of 23 September 2016. Advances drawn down under the facility bear inferest at
a margin over LIBOR or EURIBOR.

Note purchase agreements

In November 2002, the Group entered info a note purchase agreement with a number of institutions that purchased US$105m of DS Smith Plc’s

6.24% senior notes and £25m of 6.85% senior nofes, which will mature on 14 November 2012. The Group entered into a swap fransaction with

a bank counterparty under which it made a payment of US$80m in refurn for €81.6m. The swap counterparty also agreed to pay fixed-rate dollar interest
of 6.24% per annum in exchange for floating euro rate interest at rates linked to EURIBOR. In addition, swap counterparties also agreed fo pay fixed-rate
dollar interest of 6.24% per annum on a principal amount of US$25m in exchange for floating dollar interest linked 1o dollar LIBOR and fixed-rate sterling
inferest of 6.85% per annum on a principal of £25m in exchange for floating sterling interest linked to sterling LIBOR.

In August 2004, the Group entered into a further note purchase agreement with a number of institutions that purchased US$105m of DS Smith Plc's

5.66% senior notes and US$95m of 5.80% senior notes, which will mature on 25 August 2014 and 25 August 2016, respectively. The Group enfered

info swap transactions with a bank counterparty under which it made payments of US$105m and US$20m in return for €86.5m and €16.5m, respectively,
and a payment of US$75m in return for £40.8m. The swap counterparty agreed to pay fixed-rate dollar interest of 5.66% per annum and 5.80% per annum,
respectively, in exchange for floating euro rate interest at rates linked to EURIBOR and fixed-rate dollar inferest of 5.80% per annum in exchange for fixed-rate
sterling inferest af rates of 6.21% per annum.

In August 2010, the Group issued €59m of 4.395% senior notes, which will mature on 13 August 2018 and €59m of 4.825% senior notes which will
mature on 11 August 2020.

Finance lease liabilities

2012 2011
Future Present value Future Present value
minimum of minimum minimum of minimum
lease lease lease lease
payments Interest payments payments Inferest payments
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than one year 1.8 0.2) 1.7 3.1 (0.1) 3.0
Between one and five years 1.5 (0.2) 1.3 6.0 (0.8) 52
More than five years 1.4 (0.2) 1.1 3.7 (0.1) 3.6
Finance lease liabilities 4.7 (0.6) 4.1 12.8 (1.0) 11.8
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

19. Financial instruments

The Group's activities expose the Group o a number of key risks which have the potential to affect its ability to achieve its business objectives. A summary
of the Group's key financial risks and the policies and objectives in place fo manage these risks is set out in the Financial Review and Risk Management
sections of the Business Review.

The derivative financial instruments set out in this note have been entered into fo help achieve the Group's risk management objectives.
The Group's treasury policy is not fo engage in speculative transactions.

(a) Carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities
Set out below is the accounting classification of the carrying amounts and fair values of all of the Group's financial assets and liabilities.

2012 2011
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
£m £m €m £m
Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 664.5 664.5 114.3 114.3
Availableforsale:

Other investments 0.1 0.1 0.5 0.5
Loans and receivables:

Trade and other receivables 2941 294.1 4542 4542
Derivative financial instruments:

Other financial assets in designated hedge accounting relationships 10.7 10.7 21.7 21.7
Total financial assets 969.4 969.4 590.7 500.7
Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:

Trade and other payables (441.5) (441.5) (545.0)  (545.0)

Bank and other loans (0.9) (0.6) (73.4) (73.4)

Note purchase agreements (316.3) (345.7) (327.1)  (346.1)

Finance lease liabilities 4.1) 4.1) (11.8) (11.8)

Bank overdrafts (11.3) (11.3) (26.1) (26.1)
Derivative financial instruments:

Other financial liabilities in designated hedge accounting relationships (23.6) (23.6) (43.4) (43.4)
Total financial liabilities (797.4) (826.8) (1,026.8) (1,045.8)

The fair value is the amount for which an asset or liability could be exchanged or settled on an arm’slength basis. For financial instruments carried af fair
value, market prices or rates are used to determine fair value where an actfive market exists. The Group uses forward prices for valuing forward foreign
exchange and commodity confracts and uses valuation models with present value calculations based on market yield curves fo value note purchase
agreements, cross-currency swaps and interest rate swaps. All derivative financial assets and liabilities are shown at fair value on the Statement of Financial
Position. Under IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognifion and Measurement’ hedge accounting rules, only portions of the nofe purchase agreements which
form part of an effective fair value hedge are carried at fair value in the Statement of Financial Position. The fair value of financial assets and liabilities which
bear floating rates of interest is estimated o be equivalent to book value.

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures’ requires the classification of fair value measurements using the following fair value hierarchy that reflects
the significance of the inputs used in making the assessments:

o level 1 —quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities;

o level 2 —inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices); and

o level 3 —inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data {unobservable inputs).

All of the Group's financial instruments are Llevel 2 financial instruments. The Group does not hold any Level 1 or Llevel 3 financial instruments.
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19. Financial instruments continued

(b) Derivative financial instruments

The Group enters info derivative financial instruments, primarily inferest rate, currency and commodity swaps, to manage interest rate, currency and commodity
risks associated with the Group's underlying business activities and the financing of these activities. All derivatives have been designated as effective hedging
instruments and are carried at their fair value.

The assets and liabilities of the Group at 30 April in respect of derivative financial instruments are as follows:

Assets Liabilities Net
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
£m £m £m €m £m €m

Derivatives held fo:

Manage the inferest rate and CuIrency exposures on borrowings

and net investments 7.9 7.3 (18.4) (34.2) (10.5) (26.9)
Derivative financial instruments included in net debt 7.9 7.3 (18.4) (34.2) (10.5) (26.9)
Derivatives held to hedge future transactions

Energy costs 1.8 141 (3.8) 7.9) (2.0) 6.2

Foreign exchange on purchases and sales of goods and services 1.0 0.3 (1.4) (1.3) (0.4) (1.0)
Total derivative financial instruments 10.7 21.7 (23.6) (43.4) (12.9) 21.7)
Current 3.1 8.5 (20.2) 7.2) (17.2) 1.3
Non-current 7.6 13.2 (3.4) (36.2) 4.3 (23.0)

10.7 21.7 (23.6) (43.4) (12.9) (21.7)

(c) Cash flow, fair value and net investment hedges

(i) Cash flow hedging reserve movements g
The following table identifies the movements in the cash flow hedging reserve during the year. All figures are posttax. g
2012 2011 @
£m £m g
At 1 May 3.0 [7.4) 3
Unrealised fair value (loss)/gain on designated cash flow hedges
Forward exchange confracts (0.5) (0.6)
Cross-currency and interest rate swaps 0.8 0.3
Commodity contracts (7.8) 13.0
Loss/(gain) in equity recycled to the income statement
Forward exchange confracts 0.8 (1.0)
Cross-currency and inferest rate swaps - 1.9
Commodity contracts 1.8 (3.2)
At 30 April (1.9) 3.0
2012 2011
£m £m
Revenue (0.7) 0.6
Cost of sales 4.1 (3.7)
Income tax (0.8) 0.8
Total loss/(gain) in equity recycled to the income statement during the year 2.6 (2.3)

(ii) Fair value hedges

At 30 April 2012, the Group held interest rate and currency swap contracts as fair value hedges of the interest rate and currency risk on fixed rate

debt payable by the Group. The receive leg of the swap contracts is largely identical in all crifical aspects to the terms of the underlying debt and thus the
hedging is highly effective. The preax loss on the hedging derivative instruments taken fo the income statement in the year was £0.8m (2010/11: loss
of £13.5m) offset by a pre-fax gain on the fair value of the debt of £0.6m (2010/11: gain of £12.6m).

(iii) Hedges of net investments in foreign operations

The Group holds currency swap contracts as hedges of longerm invesiments in foreign subsidiaries. The pre-tax gain on the hedges recognised in equity in
the year was £14.8m (2010/11: loss of £4.7m|. The gain is maiched by a similar loss in equity on the refranslation of the hedged foreign subsidiary’s net
assets. During the year, hedge ineffectiveness arising from hedges of net investments resulted in a loss of £0.1m recognised in the Consolidated Income

Statement (2010/11: loss of £0.3m).
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

19. Financial instruments continued

(d) Risk identification and risk management

(i) Capital risk

The Group funds its operations from the following sources of cash: operating cash flow, borrowings, shareholders” equity and disposals of peripheral
businesses, where appropriate. The Group's objective is to achieve a capital structure that results in an appropriafe cost of capital whilst providing flexibility
in immediate and medium-erm funding so as fo accommodate material investments or acquisitions. The Group also aims fo mainfain a strong statement of
financial position and to provide continuity of financing by having a range of maturities and borrowings from a variety of sources.

The Group's overall treasury objectives are to ensure sufficient funds are available to carry out its strategy and to manage financial risks. The Group's freasury
strategy is controlled through the Treasury Committee, which meets regularly and includes the Group Chief Executive, the Group Finance Director, the Group
Financial Confroller, the Group Treasurer and the Group Tax Manager. The Group Treasury Function operates in accordance with policies and procedures
approved by the Board and controlled by the Group Treasurer. The function arranges funding for the Group, provides a service to operations and implements
strategies for interest rate, foreign exchange rate and energy exposure management.

(i) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument fluctuate because of a change in market prices. The Group is exposed
to changes in interest rates, foreign currency exchange rates and commodity prices.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to interest rate risk as entities in the Group borrow funds at both fixed and floating interest rates. The risk is managed by the
Group maintaining an appropriate mix between fixed and floating rate borrowings and by the use of interest rate swap contracts. Hedging activities
are evaluated regularly to align with expectations of changes in inferest rates; ensuring optimal hedging sfrategies are applied, by either positioning the
stafement of financial position or protecting inferest rate expense through inferest rate cycles. The Group's exposures fo interest rafes on financial assets
and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management section of this nofe.

At 30 April 2012, 63% (30 April 2011: 58%) of the Group's inferestbearing loans and borrowings were fixed. The sensitivity analysis below shows
the impact on profit and total equity of @ 100 basis points rise in market inferest rates (representing management's assessment of the reasonably possible
change in inferest rates) in all currencies in which the Group had variable rate borrowings at 30 Agpril.

To calculate the impact on the income stafement for the year, the interest rates on all external interestbearing loans and cash deposits have been increased
by 100 basis points, and the resulting increase in the net inferest charge has been adjusted for the effect of the Group's interest rate derivatives. The effect
on equity includes the above impact on the income statement and the impact of a 100 basis points increase in inferest rates on the market values of the
Group's inferest rate derivatives.

The results are presented before non-controlling interests and tax.

2012 2011
Impact on Impact on Impact on Impact on
profit  total equity profit  total equity
£m m €m €m
Increase in market inferest rates by 100 basis points 53 - (0.8) -

Under interest rate swap contracts the Group agrees fo exchange the difference between fixed and floating inferest rate amounts calculated on agreed
nofional principal amounts. At 30 April 2012, losses of £0.1m (30 April 2011: losses of £0.9m) (net of tax) are deferred in equity in respect of cash flow
hedges of interest rafe risk. This will be recycled to the income statement in the period in which the hedged item also affects the income statement, which
will occur over time to 2016.

Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk on invesiments

The Group is exposed fo foreign exchange risk arising from net invesiments in Group entities, the functional currencies of which differ from the Group's
presentational currency. The Group hedges this exposure through borrowings denominated in foreign currencies and through cross-currency swaps. Gains
and losses for hedges of net investments are recognised in reserves.

Foreign exchange risk on borrowings
The Group is exposed fo foreign exchange risk on borrowings denominated in foreign currencies. The Group hedges this exposure through cross-currency
swaps designated as either cash flow or fair value hedges.

Foreign exchange risk on transactions
Foreign currency fransaction risk arises where a business unit makes product sales and material purchases in a currency other than its functional currency.
Part of this risk is hedged using foreign exchange contracts which are designated as cash flow hedges.

At 30 April 2012, losses of £0.3m (30 April 201 1: losses of £0.6m) (net of tax) are deferred in equity in respect of cash flow hedges. This will be recycled

to the income statement in the period in which the hedged item also affects the income statement, which occurs within two years.
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19. Financial instruments continued

(d) Risk identification and risk management continued

(i) Market risk continued

Foreign exchange risk on transactions continued

The Group's main currency exposures are from the Euro and US dollar. The following significant exchange rates applied during the year:

2012 2011
Average Closing Average Closing
US dollar 1.592 1.624 1.565 1.668
Euro 1.167 1.227 1.176 1.124

The following sensifivity analysis shows the impact on the Group’s results of a 10% change in the yearend exchange rate of sterling against all other
currencies. 10% represents management's assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The analysis is only on financial
instruments denominated in a foreign currency and excludes the impact of financial instruments designated as net investment hedges. Loans that are freated
as nef invesiment hedges are nof recorded within the impact on the Group's profit as the impact of foreign exchange movements on these is offset by equal
and opposite movements in the foreign assets that the instruments hedge.

The results are presented before non-controlling interests and tax.

2012 2011
Impact on Impact on Impact on Impact on
profit  total equity profit  total equity
£m £m £m £m
10% strengthening of sterling 04 (0.4) (0.5) 0.5
10% weakening of sterling (0.5) 0.4 0.6 (0.7)

Commodity risk

The Group's main commodity exposures are fo changes in UK gas and UK electricity prices. Part of this commodity price risk is managed by a combination
of physical supply agreements and derivative instruments. At 30 April 2012, losses of £1.5m (30 April 2011: gains of £4.5m) [net of tax) are deferred

in equity in respect of cash flow hedges in accordance with IAS 39. This will be recycled fo the income statement in the period in which the hedged item
also affects the income statement, which will occur within two years.

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 10% increase in these prices, which is management's assessment of the reasonably possible
approximation of how much markets can move on average, over any given year. In some years prices will be less volatile and in others they may be
more volatile. A decrease of 10% in these prices would produce an opposite effect on equity. As all of the Group's commedity financial instruments
achieve hedge accounting under IAS 39, there is no impact on profit for either year.

The results are presented before non-controlling interests and tax.

2012 2011
Impact on Impact on Impact on Impact on
profit  total equity profit  total equity
£m m £m £m
10% increase in UK electricity prices - 0.3 - 1.7
10% increase in UK gas prices - 2.9 - 6.8

(iii] Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument will fail 1o perform or fail to pay amounts due, causing financial loss 1o the Group.
In the current economic environment, the Group has placed increased emphasis on the management of credit risk. The carmrying amount of financial assets

at 30 April 2012 was £969.4m (30 April 2011: £590.7m) and is analysed in note 19(a). This represents the maximum credit exposure.

The majority of the Group's frade receivables are due for maturity within 90 days. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to trade receivables are limited
due to the Group's customer base being large and diverse. Management believes there is no further credit risk provision required in excess of the normal
provision for bad and doubtful debts (note 14).

Net carrying Of which Of which past due but not impaired
amount  neither impaired 1 month 1-3 3-6 6-12  More than
(note 14) nor past due or less months months months 12 months
Trade receivables £m £m £m £m £m £m Sm
At 30 April 2012 259.5 236.3 16.6 4.7 1.2 0.5 0.2
At 30 April 2011 409.9 326.7 76.0 53 1.3 0.3 0.3
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

19. Financial instruments continued
(d) Risk identification and risk management continued
(i) Credit risk continued

Movement in the allowance for bad and doubtful receivables 202% QOQV‘H
At 1 May (17.5) (17.7)
Uncollectible amounts written off, net of receivables 04 1.1

(Increase)/decrease in allowance recognised in the income statement (0.3) 1.8

Disposals/[acquisitions) 7.1 (2.5)
Currency franslafion 1.0 0.2)
At 30 April (note 14) (2.3) (17.5)

Credit risk on financial instruments held with financial institutions is assessed through reference o the long-term credit ratings assigned to that counterparty
by Standard & Poor’s and Moody's.

(iv) Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group, although solvent, will have difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with its financial liabilities as they

fall due.

The Group manages its liquidity risk by maintaining adequate financial resources and by continuously monitoring forecast and actual cash flows and
by maiching these to the maturity profile of financial assets and liabilities.

The following table is an analysis of the undiscounted contractual maturities of financial liabilities (including the effect of cross-currency and inferest
rate swaps).

Contractual repayments

Carrying 1 year =5 More than
At 30 April 2012 e - e R
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 441.5 441.5 4316 9.9 -
Bank and other loans 0.6 0.6 0.2 0.4 -
Note purchase agreements 316.3 309.1 89.7 123.2 Q6.2
Finance lease liabilities 4.1 4.1 1.7 1.3 1.1
Bank overdrafts 11.3 11.3 11.3 - -
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 773.8 766.6 534.5 134.8 Q7.3
Confractual repayments
Carrying 1 year 15 More than
amount Total or less years 5 years
At 30 April 2011 £m £m £m £m £m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 545.0 545.0 5357 9.3 -
Bank and other loans 73.4 73.4 1.4 72.0 -
Note purchase agreements 327.1 312.8 - 150.9 161.9
Finance lease liabilities 11.8 11.8 3.0 52 3.6
Bank overdrafts 26.1 261 26.1 - -
Total non-derivative financial liabilities 083.4 9691 566.2 237.4 165.5

The tables above exclude interest expense estimated to be £14.8m in 2012/13, £9.2m in 2013/14, £2.0m in 2014/15, £8.3m in 2015/16,
£6.4m in 2016/17 and £11.6m in 2017/18 and thereafter (assuming interest rates with respect to variable rate debt remain constant and there
is no change in the aggregate principal amount of debt other than as a result of repayment at scheduled maturity).

The above fable does not include forecast data for liabilities which may be incurred in the future which are not contracted at 30 April 2012.

Refer to nofe 27 for an analysis of the Group's future operating lease payments and to note 28 for a summary of the Group's capital commitments.
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19. Financial instruments continued

(d) Risk identification and risk management continued

(iv) Liquidity risk continued

The following table is an analysis of the undiscounted contractual maturities of derivative financial liabilities. Where the payable and receivable legs
of these derivatives are denominated in foreign currencies, the confractual payments/receipts have been calculated based on exchange rates at the

respective year ends.

Where applicable, interest and foreign exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date are assumed fo remain constant over the future confractual maturities.

Contractual payments//(receipts)

Carrying 1 year More than
amount Total or less 1-5 years 5 years
At 30 April 2012 £m £m £m gm £m
Derivative financial liabilities
Energy derivatives 2.0 2.0 0.9 1.1 -
Inferest rate and currency swaps:
Outflow 18.4 213.0 75.6 137.4 -
Inflow (7.9)  (203.3) (62.6) (140.7) -
Foreign exchange:
Outflow 1.4 59.3 45.9 13.4 -
Inflow (1.0) (58.9) (45.5) (13.4) -
Total net derivative financial liabilities/(assets) 12.9 12.1 14.3 (2.2) -
Contractual payments/(receipts)
Carrying 1 year More than
amount Total or less 1-5 years 5 years
At 30 April 2011 Sm ¢m £m £m £m
Derivative financial liabilities
Energy derivatives 6.2) 6.2) (2.4) (3.8) -
Inferest rate and currency swaps:
Outflow 34.2 241.6 1.1 173.5 57.0
Inflow (7.3) (211.6) (13.4) (139.6) (58.6)
Foreign exchange:
Outflow 1.3 40.3 37.8 2.5 -
Inflow (0.3) (39.3) (36.8) (2.5) -
Total net derivative financial liabilities/(assets) 21.7 24.8 3.7) 30.1 (1.6)
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

20. Deferred tax assets and liabilities
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are atiributable to the following items:

Assets Liabilities Net
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
£m £m £m £m £m £m
Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets - - (51.9) 62.9) (51.9) 62.9)
Employee benefits including pensions 34.0 41.3 - - 34.0 41.3
Other items 12.1 18.3 - - 12.1 18.3
Tax assets/|liabilities) 46.1 59.6 (51.9) (62.9) (5.8) (3.3)

The Group has fofal unrecognised deferred tax assets relating to tax losses of £4.2m (30 April 2011 £4.4m). These losses have no fime restriction over when
they can be utilised. Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of these ifems because it is not probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the Group can utilise these benefis.

Analysis of movements in recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year
Property, plant

and equipment Employee benefits
and intangible assets including pensions Other Total
2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011 2012 2011
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 May (62.9) (60.5) 41.3 61.1 18.3 20.3 (3.3) 20.9
Acquired 0.5 (7.6) - - - - 0.5 (7.6)
Credit/(charge) for the year 7.7 6.3 (1.4) (12.3) - - 6.3 (6.0)
Recognised directly in equity - - 5.9) (7.5) (6.2) (2.0) (12.1) (@.5)
Currency franslafion 2.8 (r.m - - - - 2.8 (1.1)
At 30 April (51.9) (62.9) 34.0 41.3 12.1 18.3 (5.8) (3.3)

At 30 April 2012, deferred tax assets and liabilities were recognised for all taxable temporary differences:
o except where the deferred tax liability arises on goodwill;

e except on initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither
the accounting profit nor the taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

21. Provisions

Employee

benefits Restructuring Other Total

£m £m £m £m

At 30 April 2011 3.4 10.3 4.1 17.8
Divested - (3.2) (0.6) (3.8)
Charged - 23.3 347 58.0
Utilised (0.2) (7.4) (16.0) (23.6)
Released - - (1.0) (1.0)
Reclassified (2.5) - - (2.5)
Currency franslation 0.2) 0.3) 0.3) 0.8)
At 30 April 2012 0.5 227 20.9 441
Non-current - 3.2 4.2 7.4
Current 0.5 19.5 16.7 36.7
0.5 22.7 20.9 44.1

The provision for employee benefits mainly represents that for long-service awards. The resfructuring provision includes amounts associated with the closures
and restructuring costs described in note 4. Other provisions mainly relate fo an acquired onerous service confract and to provisions for vacant leaseholds
and various legal claims. The timing of the utilisation of these provisions is uncertain, except where the associated costs are contractual, in which case the
provision is utilised over the fime period specified in the contract.
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22. Capital and reserves
Share capital
Number of shares

2012 2011 2012 2011
Millions Millions £m £m

Ordinary equity shares of 10 pence each:
Issued, allotted, called up and fully paid 927.0 435.6 92.7 43.6

On 22 February 2012 the Company issued 490,751,669 new ordinary shares in respect of a 9 for 8 rights issue at a price of 95 pence per share.
The gross proceeds of the rights issue were £466.2m. The related transaction costs amounting fo £16.9m have been nefted against proceeds.

Of the remainder issued, the maijority relates fo a placing in respect of employee share options of 43,178 ordinary shares of 10 pence.

The number of shares in issue up to and including 2011 has been revised fo reflect the bonus element of the rights issue as required by IAS 33
‘Earnings Per Share’” which has restated the comparative eamings per share and dividend per share.

The net movement in share capital and share premium is disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.

The holders of ordinary shares are entifled to receive dividends as declared from fime to time and are entifled fo one vote per share af meetings of
the Company. In respect of the Company's shares that are held by the Group (see below), all rights are suspended until those shares are reissued.

The concept of authorised share capital was abolished in October 2009 pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; therefore authorised
share capital has not been presented at 30 April 201 2.

Translation reserve
The translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign operations and the
translation of liabilities that hedge the Company’s nef investment in a foreign subsidiary.

Hedging reserve
The hedging reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments related to hedged
fransactions that have nof yet occurred.

Share premium
The share premium account represents the difference between the issue price and the nominal value of shares issued.

Own shares

The reserve for the Company’s own shares comprises the cost of the Company’s shares held by the Group. The Group operates a General Employee
Benefit Trust, which acquires shares in the Company that can be used 1o satisfy the requirements of the Executive Share Option Scheme, Performance Share
Plan [PSP), Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP), Replacement 2007 and 2008 Long Term Incentive Plans, Replacement Deferred Share Award, Substitute
Share Bonus Award and Recruitment Award. At 30 April 2012, the Trust held 6.3m shares (30 April 2011: 5.2m shares). The market value of the shares
at 30 April 2012 was £10.6m (30 April 2011: £11.3m). Dividends receivable on the shares owned by the Trust have been waived.

Non-controlling interests

The Group had a liability of £5.2m at 30 April 2012 {30 April 2011: £5.5m) and a corresponding entry against non-confrolling interests in respect of the
non-controlling shareholders’ put opfion in Toscana Ondulati SpA. This amount was calculated with reference to the recent profitability of the company using
a multiple based formula. The fair value of the put options decreased during the year by £0.2m (2010/11: £0.4m increase). This charge was recorded
within finance costs through the income statement and then transferred out of refained earnings into non-controlling interests.

23. Post-retirement benefits

Liability for defined benefit obligations

The Group operates a funded, defined benefit scheme in the UK, the DS Smith Group Pension scheme ('the Group scheme’). On 30 April 2011,

the Group scheme was closed for future accrual. The Group made agreed confributions of £29.8m to the Group scheme in 2011/12 (2010/11: £30.1m).
The Group operates various local pension arrangements for overseas operations and unfunded arrangements for senior executives; these are, in aggregate,
not significant to the Group. The following financial information includes amounts related to these other arrangements, where appropriate. A charge over
certain assets of the Group has been made as security for certain of the unfunded arrangements. The most recent full actuarial valuation of the Group

scheme was at 30 April 2010. All UK valuations used the projected unit method.

Liability for defined benefit obligations

Principal actuarial assumptions are as follows:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Discount rate for scheme liabilities 5.0% 5.3% 5.6% 6.4% 5.9%
Inflation 2.4% 2.8% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5%
Future salary increases N/A N/A 4.5% 4.3% 4.5%
Future pension increases for pre 30 April 2005 service 2.4% 2.8% 3.5% 3.3% 3.5%
Future pension increases for post 30 April 2005 service 2.2% 2.3% 2.4% 2.3% 2.3%
Expected refurn on plan assets 5.3% 5.8% 6.5% 6.7% 6.7%
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

23. Post-retirement benefits continued

The sensitivity of the liabilities in the main UK scheme to the key assumptions above is summarised below:

Increase in
pension
liability

£m
0.5% decrease in discount rate (70.0)
0.5% increase in inflation (61.0)
1 year increase in life expectancy (22.0)
As part of the actuarial valuation exercise the mortality fables have been amended as follows:
2012 2011
Male Female Male Female
Life expectancy at age 65
Pensioner currently aged 65 21.1 23.3 21.0 23.2
Member currently aged 45 22.5 24.8 22.4 24.8

A change in the statufory revaluation of deferred pension increases, which will be based on the Consumer Prices Index (CPI) (previously indexation was
referenced to the Refail Prices Index (RPI)) has been reflected in the actuarial assumptions for the Group scheme. A similar change in assumptions has been

made for future pension increases, but it should be noted that the Trustee of the Group scheme will keep this indexation under review.

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Financial Position in respect of postretirement benefits and the expected long-term rates of return applied fo the

schemes' assets in the relevant financial period are as follows:

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
Expected Market Expected Market Expected Market Expected Market Expected Market
rate of value rate of value rate of value rate of value rate of value
refumn £m refum Sm refum Sm refurn Sm refum Sm
Equities 6.9% 4421 7.5% 435.9 7.9% 420.1 7.4% 349.8 7.6% 490.8
Bonds, gilts and cash 3.1% 323.0 4.5% 295.6 4.9% 269.0 5.1% 205.5 4.4% 231.0
Total market value of assets 765.1 731.5 689.1 555.3 721.8
Present value of
schemes’ liabilities (869.3) (879.0) (892.2) (746.6) (797.7)
Deficit (104.2) (147.5) (203.1) (191.3) (75.9)
Related deferred tax asset 27.1 35.7 57.0 53.3 21.4
Net pension liability (77.1) (111.8) (146.1) (138.0) (54.5)
Movements in the liability for defined benefit schemes’ obligations recognised in the statement of financial position
2012 2011 2010 2009 2008
£m £m £m £m £m
Schemes' liabilities at 1 May (879.0) (892.2) (746.6) (797.7)  [756.5)
Interest cost (45.6) (49.0) (46.7) (46.4) (40.1)
Service cost recognised in the income statement 0.9) (2.3) (9.6) (11.7) (9.8)
Member contributions - (4.4) (5.6) 6.2) (6.4)
Curtailment gains 0.7 35.3 - - -
Pension payments 42.3 51.7 47.4 31.6 28.0
Pension Protection Fund Payments 1.0 1.0 1.1 1.5 -
Actuarial gains/(losses) 6.5 (1.1 (132.3) 84.0 (10.8)
Currency franslafion 2.2 (0.5) (0.5) (1.7) (2.1)
Divestment/{acquisition) 6.0 (10.5) - - -
Reclassified (2.5) - - - -
Reclassification to held for sale - - 0.6 - -
Schemes' liabilities at 30 April (869.3) (879.0) (892.2) (746.6)  (797.7)
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23. Post-retirement benefits continued

Movements in the fair value of defined benefit schemes’ assets recognised in the statement of financial position

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m £m £m
Schemes’ assets at 1 May 731.5 689.1 555.3 /721.8 737.9
Employer contributions 30.4 32.3 17.1 16.9 16.8
Member contributions - 4.4 5.6 6.2 6.4
Other confributions - - - - 0.7
Expected refurn on schemes’ assets 41.8 41.6 352 47.9 48.9
Actuarial gains/(losses) Q.6 15.5 122.0 (207 .4) (62.2)
Divestment (4.8) - - - -
Pension payments (42.3) (51.7) [45.7) (31.4) (27.8)
Currency franslation (1.7) 0.3 0.4) 1.3 1.1
Schemes’ assets at 30 April 765.1 731.5 689.1 555.3 721.8
Expense recognised in the income statement

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m £m £m
Current service cost 0.9) (8.3) 7.9) (9.7) (8.3)
Past service cost - - 0.9) 0.8) (1.1)
Pension Protection Fund levy - (1.0) (r.m (1.2) 0.4)
Total service cost (0.9) (9.3) (9.6) (11.7) (9.8)
Interest cost on schemes' liabilities (45.6) 49.0) 46.7) (46.4) (40.1)
Expected refurn on schemes’ assets 41.8 41.6 35.2 47.9 48.9
Pension Protection Fund levy (1.0) - - - -
Employment benefit net finance (expense|/income (4.8) (7.4) (11.5) 1.5 8.8

The expected rates of refurn on scheme assets have been derived based on the weighted average of the expected returns on the individual asset classes.

In 2011/2012, the Pension Protection Fund levy was included as part of the employment benefit nef finance expense. In 2010,/2011 and previously

it was included in fotal service cost.

As a result of the disposal of the Office Products Wholesaling division, a curtailment gain of £0.7m (2010/11: £35.3m] was recognised. This is included

as part of the profit on disposal.

Analysis of amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m £m £m

Actual return less expected refurn on pension schemes’ assets 9.6 15.5 122.0 (207.4) 62.2)
Experience gains arising on schemes' liabilities - - - - 16.1

Changes in assumptions underlying present value of schemes' liabilities 6.5 (1.1 (132.3) 84.0 (26.9)

Actuarial gains/(losses) recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 16.1 14.4 (10.3) (123.4) (73.0)

The cumulative amount of actuarial losses recognised in other comprehensive income since the date of fransition fo IFRS is £136.0m (2010/11: £152.1m).

History of experience gains and losses

2012 2011 2010 2009 2008

£m £m £m £m £m

Difference between expected and actual returns on schemes' assets 9.6 15.5 122.0 (207 .4) (62.2)

Above as a percenfage of schemes’ assets 1% 2% 18% (37%) (@%)
Experience gains arising on schemes' liabilities - - - - 16.1
Above as a percenfage of the present value of schemes' liabilities - - - - 2%

Total amount recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income 16.1 14.4 (10.3) (123.4) (73.0)

Above as a percentage of the present value of schemes’ liabilities 2% 2% (1%) (17%) (9%)

The actual refurn on scheme assefs was £51.4m (2010/11: £57.1m). The Group expects to pay approximately £15m in contributions to the Group defined

benefit pension schemes in the year ending 30 April 2013.
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

24. Share-based payment expense
The Group's share-based payment arrangements are as follows:

(i)

(i)

(i)

(iv)

v

i)

(vii)

(viii)

A Performance Share Plan (PSP). Awards under the PSP normally become exercisable after three years subject to remaining in service and the safisfaction
of performance condifions measured over the three financial years commencing with the year of grant. Awards have been made under the PSP in 2008,

2009, 2010 and 201 1. The performance conditions are as defailed below.
e The 2008 award is subject fo three equally-weighted performance measures:

(i) the Company's fotal shareholder return (TSR} compared to the constituents of the Indusfrial Goods and Services Supersector within
the FTSE 250;

[i) average adjusted earnings per share (EPS); and
(i) average adjusted refumn on average capital employed (ROACE).

For those senior executives working in one of the three Business Segments, the three measures [equally weighted) are TSR (as above),
average adjusted operating profit and average adjusted ROACE for the relevant segment.

e The 2009 award is subject fo two performance measures:

()  80% of each award based on a TSR component as per above; and

(i)  20% of each award based on average adjusted ROACE.

For those senior executives working in one of the three Business Segments, the two measures are TSR and ROACE for the relevant segment.
e The 2010 and 2011 awards are subject fo three performance measures:

() 50% of each award based on a TSR component as per above;

(i) 25% of each award based on average adjusted EPS; and

(i) 25% of each award based on average adjusted ROACE.

Replacement 2007 and 2008 Long Term Incentive Plans for Mr M W Roberts. The Replacement 2007 LTIP vested on 10 October 2010 and the
Replacement 2008 LTIP became exercisable on 17 October 201 1. The Replacement 2008 LTIP vested in full on 17 October 2011 but has not yet
been exercised. The Replacement 2008 LTIP award was subject to a performance condition measuring the TSR of McBride Plc up to the date Mr Roberts
joined the Company and thereafter the Company’s TSR against a comparator group of companies comprising the FTSE 250 Index (excluding investment
trusts) constituted as at the date of grant of the award over a three-year performance period commencing on 1 July 2008.

The Replacement Deferred Shares Award and the Substitute Share Bonus Award are subject to substantially the same terms as the Company's Deferred
Share Bonus Plan, except that they will vest on 1 September 2012 and 1 September 2013 respectively. Mr Roberts will be entitled fo a cash payment
on vesting, representing a value equivalent fo the dividends which would have been paid on his vested shares while they were subject to his awards.
There are no performance conditions governing the vesting of the Replacement Deferred Shares Award and the Substitute Share Bonus Award because
the awards they replicate had no performance conditions attaching fo them.

The Recruitment Award is subject to substantially the same terms as the awards made under the Company’s PSP in 2009. The award is due fo vest

on 19 October 2012.

A Deferred Share Bonus Plan (DSBP) is operated for Executive Directors and, from 2012,/13, for senior executives. Shares awarded under the Plan
will vest automatically if the Director or senior executive is still employed by the Company three years after the grant of the award.

A Share Maiching Plan (SMP) is operated for Executive Directors and senior executives with the first award due to be made in 2012/13. The award
will normally vest after three years subject o remaining in service and the safisfaction of performance conditions measured over the three financial years
commencing with the year of grant. The performance conditions, which will be set on award, will be against EPS and ROACE.

An Executive Share Option Scheme (ESOS). This scheme ceased to be operated from September 2008. In normal circumstances, the vesting of any
options granted under the ESOS is subject to remaining in service and to the growth in the Company’s normalised earnings per share equaling or
exceeding the growth in the UK Retail Prices Index plus an average of 3% per annum over the three financial years commencing with the year of grant.

A Sharesave Plan was introduced in the UK in January 2011. All UK employees of the Company and participating subsidiaries of the Group are eligible
fo participate in this Plan. Under this HMRC approved Plan options are granted fo participants who have contracted to save up to £250 per month over
a period of three years at a discount of up to 20% to the average closing mid-market price of a DS Smith Plc ordinary share on the three dealing days
prior to invitation. Options cannot normally be exercised until a minimum of three years has elapsed. In common with most plans of this type there are

no performance conditions applicable to options granted under this Plan.

Full details of the awards described in {i), {ii), (iii), (iv) and (v} and [vi] are sef out in the Remuneration Report.
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24. Share-based payment expense continued
Options outstanding and exercisable under share arrangements at 30 April 2012 were:

Options outstanding Options exercisable

Weighted
average Weighted Weighted
remaining average average
Number Option price confract life exercise Number exercise
of shares range (p) lyears) price (p) exercisable price [p)
Executive Share Option Scheme (1999) 333,810 100.5-109.5 3.2 103.7 333,810 103.7
Performance Share Plan 15,160,401 Nil 0.9 Nil 324,552 Nil
Replacement 2008 Llong Term Incentive Plan 627,718 Nil Nil Nil 627,718 Nil
Replacement Deferred Shares Award 154,863 Nil 0.3 Nil Nil Nil
Recruitment Award 828,526 Nl 0.5 Nil Nl Nil
Substitute Share Bonus Award 116,148 Nil 1.3 Nil Nil Nil
Deferred Share Bonus Plan 262,848 Nil 1.9 Nil Nil Nil
Sharesave Plan 6,927,641 119.2 1.9 Nil Nil Nil

The effect on eamings per share of potentially dilutive shares issuable under share-based payment arrangements is shown in note 8.

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices are as follows:

Replacement 2008

Replacement

Executive Share Option Performance long Term Deferred Shares
Scheme (1999) Share Plan Incentive Plan Award
Weighted Weighted Weighted
Weighted average average average
average exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options
2012 price [p) ("0O00s) price (p) |'000s) price (p) '000s) price (p) |'000s)
At T May 2011 148.6 1,077 Nil 11,719 Nil 432 Nl 107
Adjustment for rights issue” (46.2) 486 Nil 4,056 Nil 196 Nil 48
Granted Nil - Nil 2,677 Nil - Nil -
Exercised 102.6 (867) Nil (493) Nil - Nil -
lapsed 102.0 (362) Nil (2,799) Nil - Nil -
At 30 April 2012 103.7 334 Nil 15,160 Nil 628 Nil 155
Exercisable at 30 April 2012 103.7 334 Nil 324 Nil 628 Nil Nil
Substitute Share Deferred Share
Recruitment Award Bonus Award Bonus Plan Sharesave Plan
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
Weighted average average average average
. average exercise exercise exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options
2012 continued price [p) price (p) price (p) ['000s) price (p) ("000s) price (p) '000s)
At 1 May 2011 Nil 571 Nil 80 Nil 59 - -
Adjustment for rights issue” Nil 257 Nil 36 Nil 26 - -
Granted Nil - Nil - Nil 178 119.2 7,977
Exercised Nil - Nil - Nil - Nil (49)
lapsed Nil - Nil - Nil - Nil (1,000)
At 30 April 2012 Nil 828 Nil 116 Nil 263 119.2 6,928
Exercisable at 30 April 2012 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
* The exercise prices and number of shares under option have been adjusted to reflect the bonus element of the rights issue in February 2012 (note 22)
DS Smith Ple
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

24. Share-based payment expense continued

Executive Share Option Performance Replacement 2008 Long Replacement Deferred
Scheme [1999) Share Plan Term Incentive Plan Shares Award
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average average
exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options
2011 price (p) ('000s) price (p) ("000s) price (p) ('000s) price (p) ('000s)
At 1 May 2010 161.6 5,188 Nil 9,939 Nil - Nil -
Granted Nil - Nil 4,096 Nil 432 Nil 107
Exercised 147.6 (2,929) Nil (217) Nil - Nil -
Llapsed 200.4 (1,182) Nil (2,099) Nil - Nil -
At 30 April 2011 148.6 1,077 Nil 11,719 Nil 432 Nil 107
Exercisable at 30 April 2011 148.6 1,077 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil
Substitute Share long Term Deferred Share Replacement Deferred
Recruitment Award Bonus Award Incentive Plan Bonus Plan Share Bonus Plan
Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted Weighted
average average average average average
. exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options exercise Options
2011 continued price (p) ("000s) price (p) ('000s) price (p) ("000s) price (p) ('000s) price (p) ('000s)
At 1 May 2010 Nil - Nil - Nil 691 Nil 222 Nil 75
Granted Nil 571 Nil 80 Nil - Nil 59 Nil -
Fxercised Nil - Nil - Nil - Nil (222) Nil (75)
Lapsed Nil - Nil - Nil (691) Nil - Nil -
At 30 April 2011 Nil 571 Nil 80 Nil Nil Nil 59 Nil Nil
Exercisable at 30 April 2011 Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil

The average share price of the Company during the financial year was 150.2 pence [2010/11: 169.6 pence).

The fair value of awards granted in the period relates o the PSP, DSBP, Replacement Long Term Incentive Plans, the Recruitment Award and Sharesave
Plan schemes.

The fair value of the PSP award granted during the year, defermined using the stochastic valuation model, was £3.9m. The significant inputs into the model

were: a share price of £2.662 for the PSP at the grant date; the exercise prices shown above; an expected initial volafility of the share price of 29.2% and
long term volatility of 28.7%; the scheme life disclosed above; an annual risk-free interest rate of 1.3% and an expected dividend yield of nil%. The volatility
of share price retums measured as the standard deviation of expected share price retums is based on statistical analysis of average weekly share prices from

1 January 1970.

The fair value of Sharesave options granted during the period, defermined using the stochastic valuation model, was £2.4m. The significant inputs info the
model were: a share price of £2.127; the exercise prices shown above; an expected initial volatility of the share price of 33.9% and long term volatility
of 28.7%; the options life disclosed above; an annual risk-free interest rate of 2.2%; and an expected dividend yield of 2.9. The volatility of share price
refurns measured as the standard deviation of expected share price refurns was based on statistical analysis of daily share prices from 1 January 1970.

The total charge for the year relating fo share-based payments recognised as personnel expenses was £4.0m (2010/11: £2.9m).
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25. Cash generated from operations

2012 2011
Continuing operatfions £m Em*
Profit for the year 8.4 53.1
Adjustments for:
Pre-fax exceptional items charged/(credited) to income statement 70.1 (8.1)
Amortisation and acquisition related cosfs 26.5 14.0
Cash outflow for SCA Packaging acquisition costs (7.0) -
Cash outflow for other exceptional ifems (19.5)  (15.1)
Depreciation 63.9 67.1
Loss/[profit) on sale of non-current assets 0.8 (0.6)
Share of loss of associate 0.5 -
Employment benefit net finance expense 4.8 7.4
Sharebased payment expense 4.0 2.9
Finance income (2.1) (0.8)
Finance costs 20.5 20.8
Other non-cash items 0.1) 0.6
Income tax expense 13.3 24.5
Provisions and employee benefits (28.8) (24.9)
Cash generation before working capital movements 155.3  140.9
Changes in:
Inventories 2.1 (18.7)
Trade and other receivables 2.9 (16.1)
Trade and other payables 38.7 35.0
Working capital movement 43.7 0.2
Cash generated from continuing operations 199.0  141.1
* restated following the sale of the Office Products VWholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)
DS Smith Ple
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Financial Statements

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

26. Reconciliation of net cash flow to movement in net debt

2012 2011
£m £m*

Continuing operations
Operating profit before amortisation and exceptional items 142.0 110.9
Depreciation 63.9 67.1
Adjusted EBITDA 205.9 1780
Working capital movement 43.7 0.2
Provisions and employee benefits (28.8)  (24.9)
Other 4.7 2.9
Cash generated from operations before exceptional cash items 2255 156.2
Capital expenditure (94.2)  (62.3)
Proceeds from sales of assets and invesiments 8.3 9.9
Tax paid (25.3)  (16.0)
Net interest paid (19.8)  (15.8)
Free cash flow 94.5 72.0
Exceptional cash costs — SCA Packaging acquisition (7.0) -
Exceptional cash costs — other (19.5)  (15.0)
Dividends paid to Group shareholders (31.5) (22.6)
Acquisition of subsidiary businesses (2.3) (165.1)
Divestment of subsidiary business 184.5 -
Net cash flow 218.7 (130.8)
Proceeds from issue of share capital 450.2 50.1
Purchase of own shares (0.3) (6.5)
Net cash,/debt acquired/disposed (14.2) (36.6)
Net movement on cash/(debt) 654.4  (123.8)
Foreign exchange and fair value movements (note 16) 24.7 (14.7)
Net debt movement — continuing operations 679.1  (137.9)
Net debt movement — discontinued operations (6.4) 264
Opening net debt (351.0) (239.5)
Closing net cash/(debt) 321.7 (351.0)
* restated following the sale of the Office Products Wholesaling division which is classified as a discontinued operation (note 29)
27. Operating leases
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

2012 2011

£m €m

Less than one year 15.0 255
Between one and five years 33.0 60.6
More than five years 2.8 32.2

50.8 118.3

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Group for certain of its properties, machines, vehicles and office equipment.
At 30 April 2012, the Group's future minimum sub-lease receipts totalled £0.5m (30 April 2011: £0.8m).

28. Capital commitments

At 30 April 2012, the Group had committed fo incur capital expenditure of £31.0m (30 April 2011: £25.4m).

www.dssmith.uk.com
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29. Acquisitions and divestments
(a) Office Products Wholesaling

On 30 December 2011 the Office Products Wholesaling division was sold to Unipapel SA. Office Products Wholesaling principally comprised
Spicers Limited, Spicers (Ireland) Limited, Spicers France SAS, Spicers Belgium NV and Spicers Nederland BV. The comparative Consolidated Income
Statement has been restated to present the Office Products VWholesaling division as discontinued operations. The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

has also been restated, presenting a single amount of net cash flow from discontinued operations.

Discontinued operations

2012 2011
£m £m

Revenue

Cost of sales

455.8 715.2
(344.2) (543.9)

Gross profit

111.6 171.3

Operating expenses (97.4) (146.7)
Operating profit before amortisation and exceptional items 14.2 25.2
Amortisation of infangible assets (0.2) (1.1 ]|
Operating profit 14.0 241
Net financing income 0.1 0.2
Profit before income tax 14.1 24.3
Income tax expense (4.8) (6.9)
Profit for the year from discontinued operations 9.3 17.4
Cash generated from discontinued operations
2012 2011
£m £m
Net cash from operating activities (2.0) 30.9
Cash and cash equivalents disposed (22.6) -
Net cash used in investing activities 2.8 4.1)
Net cash used in financing activities (0.2) (0.6)
Net cash flows for the year (29.0) 26.2
Effect of disposal on the financial position of the Group
en
Infangible assets 13.9
Property, plant and equipment 31.2
Inventories 68.1
Trade and other receivables 140.4
Trade and other payables (109.4)
Other liabilities (2.6)
Net assets and liabilities disposed 141.6
Total disposal consideration 204.7
Reclassification from foreign exchange reserve arising on disposal 9.8
Transaction cosfs 5.8)
Profit on disposal before tax 67.1
Tax charge on profit on disposal (9.1)
Profit on disposal after tax 58.0
Cash inflow on disposal
Consideration received 204.7
Defined benefit pension scheme contribution paid on disposal (16.3)
Transaction costs paid (3.9)
Net cash inflow 184.5
DS Smith Pl
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Financial Statements
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued

29. Acquisitions and divestments confinued

(b) SCA Packaging Kuban acquisition and disposal

The Group acquired 100% of the equity of SCA Packaging Kuban in July 2011 for €5.0m cash consideration and €1.5m deferred consideration payable
in December 2011, exclusively with a view fo resale. The business was subsequently sold in December 2011 fo the Group's associate, OJSC Rubezhansk
Paper and Packaging Mill for €6.5m with nil profit or loss on disposal.

(c) Other acquisitions
The Group made additional minor acquisitions of subsidiary businesses, net of cash and cash equivalents of £2.3m, of which the majority relates o a the

acquisition of an additional 35% shareholding in Rapak AD, which brings the Group’s holding in Rapak AD at 30 April 2012 to 85%.

Acquisition related costs

SCA Packaging

On 17 January 2012 the Directors announced arrangements regarding the proposed acquisition of the packaging division of Svenska Cellulosa Aktiebolaget
SCA (publ] excluding its kraffliner assets ['SCA Packaging') for €1.7bn on a cash, debt and, to the extent legally possible and commercially practicable,
pension free basis. Net consideration will be approximately €1.6bn after taking info account a pension price adjusiment. In addition, there will also be
cusfomary postcomplefion adjustments.

On 25 May 2012, the European Commission granted competition clearance for the acquisition. The clearance requires the Group fo divest three sites
after the acquisition, currently representing approximately 1% of the enlarged Group profit. Completion is expected on 30 June 2012.

The Group incurred acquisition related costs of £18.4m on professional advisory fees and due diligence costs connected with the acquisition. These fees
have been included in administrative expenses in the Group's Consolidated Income Statement. Due to the nature of these costs, they have been reported
as exceptional costs.

2010/11

Otor

On 1 September 2010, the Group acquired 100% of the voting share capital of Otor Finance S.A., a holding company which owns and controls

80% of Otor S.A. On this date and as part of the same acquisition, the Group acquired an additional 15% of the voting share capital of Otor S.A.

As a result, the Group's fotal voting and ownership interest in Otor S.A. at acquisition date was 95%. Total consideration transferred comprised cash of
£156.6m. In October 2010 the Group increased its ownership inferest to 100%. Professional advisory fees and due diligence costs connected with the

acquisition of Otor in 2010/11 were £7.2m.
An adjustment of £2.1m was made fo the fair value of goodwill in 2011/12 relating to the acquisition of Otor in 2010/11.
30. Related parties

Identity of related parties
In the normal course of business the Group underiakes a wide variety of fransactions with certain of its subsidiaries and associates.

The key management personnel of the Company comprise the Chairman, Executive Directors and non-Executive Directors. The compensation of key
management personnel can be found in the Remuneration Report. Certain key management also participate in the Group's share option programme
[note 24). Included within the share-based payment expense is a charge of £1.2m (2011: £1.3m| relating to key management.

Other related party transactions

2012 2011

£m £m

Purchases from associate 0.2 0.3
Amounts due to associate (0.1) -
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31. DS Smith Group companies
Control of the Group
The Group's ultimate parent company is DS Smith Plc.

List of key consolidated companies

Ownership
Country of inferest at
incorporation 30 April
or registration 2012
UK Packaging
DS Smith Paper Limited England 100%
DS Smith Logistics Limited England 100%"
DS Smith Packaging Limited England 100%"
Continental European Corrugated Packaging
DS Smith Kaysersberg S.A.S. France 100%"
DS Smith Polska S.A. Poland 100%"
DS Smith Packaging France S.A.S. France 100%"
Otor S.A. France 100%"
Toscana Ondulati SpA ltaly Q2%"
Plastic Packaging
DS Smith Plastics Limited England 100%"
DS Smith Cartén Pléstico s.a. Spain 100%
D.W. Plastics NV Belgium 100%"
DS Smith Ducaplast S.A.S. France 100%
David S. Smith America Inc. USA 100%"
DSS Rapak Inc. USA 100%"
StePac L.A. Limited Israel 100%"
Rapak GmbH Germany 100%"
Rapak Asia Pacific Limited New Zealand 100%"
* indirectly held by DS Smith Plc
A complete list of the Group's companies is available from the registered office.
DS Smith Pl
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Financial Statements

Company Balance Sheet Prepared in Accordance with UK GAAP

At 30 April 2012

2012 2011

Note £m £m*
Fixed assets
Tangible assets 3 1.5 2.2
Investments 4 534.1 357.0
535.6 359.2
Current assets
Debtors: amounts falling due within one year 5 13.8 19.2
Debitors: amounts falling due after more than one year 5 980.2 1,950.8
Cash at bank and in hand 648.9 32.5
1,642.9 2,002.5
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Trade and other creditors 6 (53.2) (29.5)
Borrowings 6 (91.6) (62.5)
Net current assets 1,498.1 1,910.5
Total assets less current liabilities 2,033.7 2,269.7
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year
Trade and other creditors 6 (3.1) (36.1)
Borrowings 6 (945.6) (1,644.8)
Provisions for liabilities 7 (17.1) 4.0)
Net assets 1,067.9 584.8
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 8 92.7 43.6
Share premium account Q 710.2 309.1
Profit and loss account Q 265.0 232.1
Shareholders’ funds 1,067.9 5848

* Restated for change in accounting policy (note 1a)

Approved by the Board of Directors of DS Smith Plc (company registered number 1377658) on 27 June 2012 and signed on its behalf by

M W Roberts, Director S W Dryden, Director

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

www.dssmith.uk.com
Annual Report & Accounts 2012

102



Financial Statements

Notes to the Company Balance Sheet

1. Significant accounting policies
A summary of the significant accounting policies, which have been applied
consistently, is set out below:

(a) Accounting basis

The financial statements of DS Smith Plc {the Company) have been prepared
on a going concem basis and under the historical cost convention and
have been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2006 and

UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice (GAAP).

Under section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is
exempt from the requirement to present its own profit and loss account.

Under FRS 1 'Cash Flow Statements’, the Company is exempt from
the requirement to prepare a cash flow statement on the grounds that
the parent undertaking includes the Company in its own consolidated
financial statements.

The Company has also taken advantage of the exemption in FRS 29
"Financial Instruments: Disclosures’, not to present Company only information
as the disclosures provided in the nofes to the consolidated financial
statements comply with the requirements of this standard.

The Company balance sheet at 30 April 2011 has been restated to

remove the net defined benefit pension liability. In accordance with

FRS 17 'Retirement Benefits', the Company has chosen to take the multi-
employer exemption from disclosing the assefs and liabilities of the scheme
as it is not possible to separately identify those that relate to the Company
employees. This exemption is considered to be consistent with current market
practice and therefore restatement is considered appropriate. The net pension
liability of £99.1m af 30 April 2011 has been reduced to £nil and there

is a corresponding increase in shareholders’ funds to £584.8m.

(b) Income recognition
Dividend income from subsidiary undertakings is recognised in the
profit and loss account when declared by the subsidiary undertaking.

(c) Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.
Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost or valuation less the estimated
residual value of all tangible fixed assets in equal annual instalments over their
estimated useful lives at the following rates:

Plant and equipment 3 -5 years

Leasehold improvements over the period of the lease

Land is not depreciated.

(d) Fixed asset investments
Fixed assef invesiments are valued at cost less provisions for impairment.

(e) Deferred taxation

In accordance with FRS 19 ‘Deferred Tax', deferred tax is provided in full
on fiming differences that result in an obligation at the balance sheet date to
pay more tax, or a right fo pay less tax, at a future date, af rates expected
to apply when they crystallise, provided at current tax rafes and based on
current legislation. Timing differences arise from the inclusion of items of
income and expenditure in taxation computations in periods different from
those in which they are included in the financial statements.

Deferred tax assefs are recognised to the extent that it is regarded
as more likely than not that they will be recovered. Deferred tax assets
and liabilities are not discounted.

(f) Foreign currencies

Monetary assefs and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
translated at the rates of exchange ruling af the financial year end. Exchange
differences arising on translation are taken 1o the profit and loss account.

(g) Pension contributions

The Company participates in a funded, defined benefit scheme in
the UK, the DS Smith Group Pension scheme ('the Group scheme’).
On 30 April 2011, the scheme was closed for future accrual.

As the Company is unable to identify its share of scheme assefs and
liabilities on a consistent and reasonable basis, the Company freafs
confributions to defined benefit schemes as if they were contributions fo

a defined contribution scheme in accordance with the exemption permitted
by FRS 17 ‘Retirement Benefits’. As a result the amount charged fo the profit
and loss account represents the confributions payable to the scheme in
respect of the relevant accounting period.

(h) Financial instruments
Financial instruments are reported in accordance with FRS 26 ‘Financial
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’.

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, primarily inferest rate,
currency and commodity swaps, fo manage inferest rate, currency and
commodity risks associated with the Group's underlying business activities
and the financing of these activities. The Group has a policy not to, and
does not undertake any speculative activity in these instruments.

Such derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on
the date on which a derivative contract is entered info and are subsequently
remeasured af fair value. Derivatives are carried as assets when the fair value
is positive and as liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Derivative financial instruments are accounted for as hedges when designated
as hedges at the inception of the contract and when the financial instruments
provide an effective hedge of the underlying risk.

Any gains or losses arising from the hedging instruments are offset against
the hedged ifems.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

o fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes in the fair
value of a recognised asset or liability; and

o cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability in cash
flows that is either affributable to a particular risk associated with @
recognised asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction.

(i) Share options

The Company operates an equity-settled, share-based compensation plan.
The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant
of the opfions is recognised as an expense. The fair value of the options
granted is measured using a stochastic model, taking info account the terms
and conditions upon which the options were granted. The total amount fo
be expensed over the vesting period is defermined by reference to the fair
value of the options granted, excluding the impact of any non-market vesting
conditions. Non-market vesting conditions are included in assumptions about
the number of options that are expected to become exercisable. At each
balance sheet date, the entfity revises its estimates of the numbers of options
that are expected to become exercisable.

It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the
income sfafement, and a corresponding adjustment fo equity.

Where applicable, the fair value of employee services received by subsidiary
undertakings within the DS Smith Plc Group in exchange for options granted
by the Company is recognised as an expense in the financial statements of
the subsidiary by means of a recharge from the Company.

DS Smith Pl
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Financial statfements
Notes to the Company Balance Sheet confinued

2. Employee information
The average number of employees employed by the Company during the year was 41 (2010/11: 38).

2012 2011
£m £m
Wages and salaries 6.8 7.9
Social security costs 1.8 2.5
Pension costs 0.3 0.3
Total 8.9 10.7
Note 24 1o the consolidated financial statements sets out the disclosure information required for the Company’s share-based payments.
3. Tangible fixed assets
land and Plant and
buildings equipment Total
£m £m £m
Cost
At 1 May 2011 1.4 1.7 3.1
Additions - 1.1 1.1
Disposals (1.4) - (1.4)
At 30 April 2012 - 2.8 2.8
Depreciation
At 1 May 2011 - [0.9) (0.9)
Depreciation charge for the year - (0.4) (0.4)
At 30 April 2012 - (1.3) (1.3)
Carrying amount
At 1 May 2011 1.4 0.8 2.2
At 30 April 2012 - 1.5 1.5

4. Fixed asset investments
Shares in Group
undertakings

£m
At 1 May 2011 357.0
At 30 April 2012 534.1

The Company'’s principal trading subsidiary undertakings at 30 April 2012 are shown in note 31 of the consolidated financial statements.
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5. Debtors

2012 2011
£m £m
Amounts falling due within one year
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 0.4 0.7
Corporation tax 2.5 8.9
Other debtors 4.8 1.3
Prepayments and accrued income 3.7 0.1
Derivative financial insfruments 2.4 8.2
13.8 19.2
Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings 966.0 11,9353
Deferred tax asset 6.9 2.2
Derivative financial instruments 7.3 13.3
980.2 1,950.8
Total debtors 994.0 1,970.0
6. Creditors
2012 2011
£m £m
Trade and other creditors falling due within one year
Amounts owed fo subsidiary undertakings 0.5 -
Other tax and social security payables 6.6 54
Accruals and deferred income 26.9 18.1
Derivative financial instruments 19.2 6.0
53.2 29.5
Trade and other creditors falling due after more than one year
Derivative financial instruments 3.1 36.1
3.1 36.1
Borrowings falling due within one year
Bank loans and overdrafts 0.1 62.5
Other loans 91.5 -
Q1.6 62.5
Borrowings falling due affer more than one year
Bank loans - 72.0
Loans from subsidiary undertakings 720.8 1,246.7
Other loans 224.8 326.1
945.6 11,6448
Total creditors 1,093.5 11,7729
DS Smith Ple
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Financial statfements
Notes to the Company Balance Sheet confinued

7. Provisions for liabilities

Restructuring Other Total
£m £m £m
At 1 May 2011 1.9 2.1 4.0
Charged fo the income statement 3.1 26.0 29.1
Utilised (1.4)  (14.9) (16.0)
Ar 30 April 2012 36 135 17,1
8. Share capital
Number of shares
2012 2011 2012 2011
Millions Millions £m £m
Ordinary equity shares of 10 pence each
Issued, allotted, called up and fully paid 927.0 435.6 92.7 43.6
On 22 February 2012 the Company issued 490,751,669 new ordinary shares in respect of a 9 for 8 rights issue at a price of 95 pence per share.
The gross proceeds of the rights issue were £466.2m. The related transaction costs amounting fo £16.9m have been nefted against proceeds.
Of the remainder issued, the majority relates to a placing in respect of employee share options of 643,178 ordinary shares of 10 pence.
The net movement in share capital and share premium is disclosed in the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity.
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time fo time and are entitled to one vote per share af meefings
of the Company. In respect of the Company’s shares that are held by the Group (see below), all rights are suspended until those shares are reissued.
The concept of authorised share capital was abolished in October 2009 pursuant fo the provisions of the Companies Act 2006; therefore authorised
share capital has not been presented at 30 April 2012.
9. Reserves
Share Profit and loss account
premium Own Hedging
account shares reserve Other Total
£m £m £m £m* £m
At 1 May 2011 309.1 (©.4) 3.4 238.1 232.1
Issue of share capital 401.1 - - - -
Profit for the year - - - 67.8 67.8
Dividends paid (31.5) (31.5)
Purchase of own shares - (0.3) - - (0.3)
Changes in the fair value of cash flow hedges (including tax) - - (11.1) - (11.1)
Share-based payment expense 6.2 6.2
Employee share trust - 1.8 - - 1.8
At 30 April 2012 710.2 (7.9 (7.7) 280.6 265.0

The Company made a profit for the year of £67.8m (2010/11: profit of £25.4m* restated) including the recognition of infra-group dividends.

* Restated for change in accounting policy [note 1a)

10. Contingent liabilities

The Company has guaranteed the gross overdrafts and loans of certain subsidiary undertakings, which at 30 April 2012 amounted to £26.3m

(30 April 2011: £17.4m).

11. Related party disclosure

The Company has identified the Directors of the Company, its key management and the UK pension scheme as related parties for the purpose of
FRS 8 'Related Party Disclosures'. Details of the relevant relationships with these related parties are disclosed in the Directors’ Remuneration Report,

and note 30 of the consolidated financial statements respectively.

As permitted by FRS 8, no related party disclosures in respect of transactions between the Company and its wholly owned subsidiaries have

been included.
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Financial statements

Five-Year Financial Summary

Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended  Year ended
30 Apri 30 April 30 Aprl 30 Aprl 30 April
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
£m £m £m £m £m
Revenue
UK Packaging 753.2 785.8 750.2 Q17.7  960.2
Continental European Corrugated Packaging 346.0 363.4 355.4 599.4  743.9
Plastic Packaging 223.4 236.9 231.3 2422 2653
Group revenue — continuing operations 1,322.6  1,386.1 1,336.9 11,7593 1,969.4
Operating profit
UK Packaging 69.6 37.6 37.0 54.2 64.4
Continental European Corrugated Packaging 20.6 30.6 23.1 39.8 55.6
Plastic Packaging 11.5 7.9 16.6 16.9 22.0
Group operating profit! — continuing operations 101.7 76.1 76.7 110.9  142.0
Amortisation (2.2) 2.2) (2.9) 6.8) (8.1)
Share of profit/(loss) of associates 3.4 0.6 0.2 - 0.5)
Net finance cost (23.2) (25.9) (15.3) (20.0)  (18.4)
Employee benefit net finance income/(expense| 8.8 1.5 (11.4) (7.4) 4.8)
Profit before taxation and exceptional items 88.5 50.1 47.3 76.7 110.2
Acquisition related costs and other exceptional items (1.9) (52.6) (11.5) 0.9 (88.5)
Profit before income tax — continuing operations 86.6 (2.5) 35.8 /7.6 21.7
Adjusted refurn on sales' 7.7% 5.5% 57% 6.3% 7.2%
Average capital employed? 792.3 877.6 854.2 960.9 973.6
Adjusted return on average capital employed'* 12.8% 8.7% 9.0% 11.5% 14.6%
Adjusted earnings per share'* 11.3p 6.4p 6.3p 100p 12.8p
Dividends per share® 6.1p 3.0p 3.2p 4.5p 5.9p
1. from continuing operations, before amortisation and exceptional items
2. average capital employed is the average monthly capital employed
3. as restated — see note 22
4. adjusted refun on average capital employed is defined as operating profit before amortisation and exceptional items divided by average capital employed
DS Smith Ple
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Notice of Annual General Meeting 2012

Nofice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of DS Smith Plc will be held at the offices of Allen & Overy LLP, One Bishops Square,
Llondon E1 6AD, on Tuesday 4 September 2012 at 2.00pm fo consider and, if thought fit, pass the following resolutions, of which resclutions
1 1o 12 will be proposed as ordinary resolutions and resolutions 13 to 15 will be proposed as special resolutions.

To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report, the Auditor’s Report and financial statements for the year ended 30 April 2012.
To declare a final dividend on the ordinary shares.

To approve the Report on Remuneration.

To reelect Mr G Davis as a Director of the Company.

To reelect Mr MW Roberts as a Director of the Company.

To reelect Mr S W Dryden as a Director of the Company.

To reelect Mr C ] Bunker as a Director of the Company.

To reelect Mr P -C Mellier as a Director of the Company.

To reelect Mr ] C Nicholls as a Director of the Company.

= 0 ® N O Ok W~

0. To reroEpoim Deloitte LLP as Auditor of the Company fo hold office until the conclusion of the next general meeting at which accounts
are fo be laid before the Company.

11. To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of the Auditor.
12. That:
[a) the Directors be authorised to allot shares in the Company or grant rights to subscribe for, or convert any security info, shares in the Company:

i) in accordance with article 7 of the Company's Articles of Association ('the Articles’), up to a maximum nominal amount of
£30,899,204.50 (such amount fo be reduced by the nominal amount of any equity securities (as defined in article 8 of the Articles)
allotied under paragraph ii below in excess of £30,899,204.50); and

(ii) comprising equity securities (as defined in arficle 8 of the Articles), up to a maximum nominal amount of £61,798,409.10
[such amount fo be reduced by any shares dlloted or rights granted under paragraph (i) above) in connection with an offer by
way of a rights issue (as defined in article 8 of the Arficles).

(b) this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company affer the passing of this resclution, or,
if earlier, at the close of business on 1 November 2013; and

[c) all previous unutilised authorities under section 551 of the Companies Act 2006 shall cease to have effect (save fo the extent that the
same are exercisable pursuant o section 551(7) of the Companies Act 2006 by reason of any offer or agreement made prior fo the
date of this resolution which would or might require shares fo be allotted or rights to be granted on or dffer that date).

13. That:

[a) in accordance with article 8 of the Articles, the Directors be given power, under sections 570 and 573 of the Companies Act 2006,
to allot equity securities for cash;

(b) the power under Forogroph [a) above (other than in connection with a rights issue, as defined in arficle 8 of the Articles) shall be limited
fo the alloiment of equity securities having a nominal amount not exceeding in aggregate £4,634,880.60;

c) this authority shall expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company affer the passing of this resolution
or, if earlier, at the close of business on 1 November 2013; and

(d) all previous unutilised authorifies under sections 570 and 573 of the Companies Act 2006 shall cease fo have effect.

14. That in accordance with the Companies Act 2006, the Company is generally and unconditionally authorised to make market purchases
(within the meaning of secfion 693 of the Companies Act 2006) of ordinary shares of 10 pence each in the capital of the Company
in such manner and on such terms as the Direciors may from time fo fime defermine provided that:

[a) the maximum number of ordinary shares hereby authorised 1o be purchased is 92,697,610;
(b) the minimum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is 10 pence (exclusive of expenses payable by the Company);

[c) the maximum price which may be paid for each ordinary share is an amount equal fo the higher of 105% of the average of the middle market
quotations for an ordinary share as derived from the london Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five business days immediately
preceding the date of any such purchase and the amount sfipulated by Article 5(1) of the Buyback and Stabilisation Regulation 2003
(in each case exclusive of expenses payable by the Company|;

(d) the authority hereby conferred shall, unless previously varied, revoked or renewed, expire at the conclusion of the next Annual General
Meeting of the Company affer the passing of the resolution or, if earlier, af the close of business on 1 November 2013, save that the
Company shall be entitled under such authority to make at any time before the expiry thereof any confract or contracts fo purchase its
ordinary shares which will or might be concluded wholly or partly after the expiry of such authority and may make a purchase of
ordinary shares in pursuance of any such confract; and
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15.

le) all existing authorities for the Company fo make market purchases of ordinary shares are revoked, except in relation fo the purchase
of shares under a contract or contracts concluded before the date of this resolution and which has or have not yet been executed.

That, in accordance with the Company's Articles, a general meefing (other than an Annual General Meeting) may be called on not less
than 14 clear days’ nofice.

By Order of the Board

Matt Jowett, Company Secretary
Beech House, Whitebrook Park, 68 Llower Cookham Road, Maidenhead, Berkshire SL& 8XY

23 July 2012

NOTES

(i
(i)

i)

(iv)

v)
(vi)

(vii)

Only those Members registered in the Register of Members of the Company as af &pm on 2 September 2012 shall be entifled to attend
and vote at the Meefing in respect of the number of shares registered in their names at that fime.

Members are entifled fo appoint a proxy 1o exercise all or any of their rights fo afrend and speak and vote on their behalf at the Meefing.
A shareholder may appoint more than one proxy in relation to the Annual General Meeting provided that each proxy is appointed fo exercise
the rights atiached to a different share or shares held by that shareholder. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company.

A proxy may be appointed by any of the following methods:
o comp|eﬁng and refuming the enclosed Form of Proxy; or

® by logging onto the Registrars’ website www.sharevote.co.uk using the Voting ID, Task ID and Shareholder Reference Number printed on
the Form of Proxy enclosed. Shareholders who have already registered with the Registrars” online portfolio service Shareview can submit
a proxy by logging into their profile at www.shareview.co.uk and clicking on the link to vote under “Your DS Smith Plc holding details”; or

® members of CREST should use the CREST electronic appointment service (see |vii) below).

If two or more valid but differing appointments of a proxy are received in respect of the same share for use af the same meeting, the one which

is last received (regardless of its date or the date of ifs signature| shall be treated as replacing and revoking the others as regards that share; if the
Company is unable fo determine which was received last, none of them shall be freated as valid in respect of that share. To be effective, Forms
of Proxy must reach the Registrars at the address shown on the Form and the Registrars must receive any electronic appoiniment of proxy nof later
than 48 hours before the time of the Meetfing. Completion and return of the Form or appointing a proxy electronically will not, however, prevent
a Member from attending and voting af the Meefing. A Member must inform the Registrars in writing of any termination of the authority of a proxy.

Any person fo whom this nofice is sent who is a person nominated under Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 fo enjoy information rights
[a 'Nominated Person’] may, under an agreement between them and the shareholder by whom they were nominated, have a right fo be
appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual General Meeting. If a Nominated Person has no such proxy
appointment right or does not wish o exercise if, they may, under any such agreement, have a right to give insfructions to the shareholder

as to the exercise of voting rights.

The statement of rights of shareholders in relation to the appoiniment of proxies in Notes (i) and [jii) above does not apply fo Nominated Persons.
The rights described in these paragraphs can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company.

Nominated persons are reminded that they should contact the registered holder of their shares (and not the Company) on matters relating fo their
investments in the Company.

CREST Members who wish fo appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST elecironic proxy appoiniment service may do so for the Meeting
fo be held on 4 September 2012 and any adjoumnment(s| thereof by using the procedures >g/escribed in the CREST Manual. CREST personal
Members or other CREST sponsored Members, and those CREST Members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), should refer to their
CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able fo take the appropriate acfion on their behalf.

In order for a proxy appointment or insfruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a ‘CREST Proxy
Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear's specifications and must contain the information required for such
instructions, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether it consfitutes the appointment of a proxy or an amendment
fo the instruction given fo a previously appointed proxy must, in order fo be valid, be fransmitted so as to be received by the issuer's agent (ID
RAT9) by the latest time for receipt of proxy appoiniments specified in (i) above. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken fo be the
time (as defermined by the fimestamp applied to the message by the CREST Applications Host] from which the issuer's agent is able to refrieve
the message by enquiry fto CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this fime any change of instructions fo proxies appointed through
CREST should be communicated fo the appointee through other means.

CREST Members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers should nofe that Euroclear does not make available
special procedures in CREST for any particular messages. Normal system timings and limitations will therefore apply in relation to the input of
CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST Member concemed to take (or, if the CREST Member is a CREST personal Member
or sponsored Member or has appointed a voting service provider(s), fo procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) fakels]) such
actfion as shall be necessary fo ensure that a message is fransmitied by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection,
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Notice of Annual General Meeting 2012 continued

CREST Members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors or voting service providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST
Manual concerning practical limitations of the CREST system and fimings.

The Company may freat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated Securities
Regulations 2001. The CREST Manual can be reviewed at www.euroclear.com,/CREST.

(viii) As at 10 July 2012 (being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this document], the Company’s issued share capital consists
of 926,976,137 ordinary shares, carrying one vote each. Therefore, the fofal voting rights in the Company as at 10 July 2012 are
926,976,137.

ix) A member of the Company which is a corporation may authorise a person or persons fo act as ifs representative(s) at the Annual General
Meeting. In accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, each such representative may exercise [on behalf of the corporation) the
same powers as the corporation could exercise if it were an individual member of the Company, provided that they do not do so in relation to the
same shares.

(x)  Under section 527 of the Companies Act 2006 members meeting the threshold requirements set out in that section have the right fo require the
Company to publish on a website a statement setiing out any matter relating fo: (i) the audit of the Company’s accounts (including the Audior’s
Report and the conduct of the audit] that are to be laid before the Annual General Meeting; or (i) any circumstance connected with an auditor
of the Company ceasing fo hold office since the previous meeting at which annual accounts and reports were laid in accordance with section
437 of the Companies Act 2006. The Company may not require the shareholders requesting any such website publication fo pay ifs expenses
in complying with sections 527 or 528 of the Companies Act 2006. Where the Company is required fo place a stafement on a website under
section 527 of the Companies Act 20006, it must forward the statement to the Company’s Auditor not later than the time when it makes the
statement available on the website. The business which may be dealt with at the Annual General Meeting includes any statement that the
Company has been required under section 527 of the Companies Act 20006 to publish on a website.

(xi) Any member aftending the Meetfing has the right fo ask questions. The Company must cause fo be answered any such quesfion relating to the
business being dealt with af the Meefing but no such answer need be given if (a) to do so would interfere unduly with the preparation EEor the
Meeting or involve the disclosure of confidential information, (b) the answer has already been given on a website in the form of an answer 1o
a question, or (c] it is undesirable in the interests of the Company or the good order of the Meeting that the question be answered.

xii) A copy of this Notice, and other information required by section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, can be found in the Annual Report section
of the Investors page on our website www.dssmith.uk.com.

(xiii] Copies of the following documents will be available for inspection at the Company's Registered Office and af the offices of Allen & Overy
LLP. One Bishops Square, London ET 6AD during normal business hours from the date of this Notice and until the conclusion of the Meeting:

(a) service contracts of the Executive Directors; and
[b) lefters of appointment of the Chairman and the non-Executive Direcfors.
(xiv] The Chairmen of the Audit, Remuneration and Nomination Commitiees will be available fo answer relevant questions at the Meeting.

[xv] You may not use any electronic address provided either in this Notice of Meeting or any related documents (including the Form of Proxy)
fo communicate with the Company for any purposes other than those expressly stated.

Explanatory notes on the resolutions

Resolution 1:

Report and financial stafements

The Directors present fo shareholders at the Annual General Meeting the Reports of the Directors and Auditor and the financial statements of the
Company for the year ended 30 April 2012. These are contained in the Annual Report.

Resolufion 2:

Declaration of a final dividend

Final dividends declared by shareholders must not exceed the amount recommended by the Directors. By passing Resolution 2, shareholders will
declare a final dividend. The amount of the final dividend recommended by the Directors is 4.0 pence net per ordinary share.

Resolution 3:
Approval of Report on Remuneration
As required by section 439 of the Companies Act 20006, shareholder approval is sought for the Remuneration Report set out on pages 43 to 54.

Resolution 4-9:

Reelection of Directors

The Arficles of Association of the Company require that all Direciors refire from office at least once every three years but if eligible can submit themselves
for reelection by shareholders. However, in accordance with the UK Corporate Govermnance Code, which recommends that directors of companies

in the FTSE 350 be subject to annual reelection, the Directors have resolved that all Directors will refire and stand for relection at the forthcoming
Annual General Meeling.
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Mr Davis is Chairman of the Board and of the Nomination Committee. Mr Roberts is the Group Chief Executive, a member of the Nomination
Committee and Chairman of the General Purposes Committee. Mr Dryden is the Group Finance Director and a member of the General Purposes
Commitiee. Mr Bunker is the Senior Independent Director, Chairman of the Remuneration Committee and a member of the Audit and Nomination
Committees. Mr Mellier is a member of the Audit, Nomination and Remuneration Committees. Mr Nicholls is Chairman of the Audit Commitiee
and a member of the Nomination and Remuneration Committees.

Having considered the performance of and contribution made by each of the Directors and following formal performance evaluation, the Board
remains safisfied that and the Chairman confirms that the performance of each Director standing for re-election continues fo be effective and to
demonsfrate commitment fo the role and as such the Board recommends their reelection. A biography of each Director appears on pages 34
and 35 of the Annual Report and appears on the Company’s website af www.dssmith.uk.com.

Resolutions 10-11:

Re-appoinment of Auditor and Audifor’s remuneration

The auditor of @ company must be reappointed at each general meeting ot which accounts are presented. Resolution 10 proposes the reappointment
of the Company’s existing Auditor, Deloifte LLP, until the next Annual General Meeting and Resolution 11 gives authority fo the Directors to determine
the Auditor’s remuneration.

Resolution 12:

Authority to allot shares

At the Annual General Meeting held on 6 September 2011, shareholders authorised the Direciors, under section 551 of the Companies Act 2006,
fo allot shares without the prior consent of shareholders for a period expiring af the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting to be held in 2012 or,
if earlier, on 1 November 2012. It is proposed fo renew this authority and fo authorise the Directors under section 551 of the Companies Act 2006
fo allot ordinary shares or grant rights o subscribe for or convert any security info shares in the Company for a period expiring no later than

1 November 2013.

Paragraph (a)(i) of Resolution 12 will allow the Direciors to allot ordinary shares up to a maximum nominal amount of £30,899,204.57 representing
approximately one third (33.33%) of the Company’s existing issued share capital and calculated as at 10 July 2012 (being the latest practicable date
prior fo publication of this circular). In accordance with insfitutional guidelines issued by the Association of British Insurers, paragraph (alii) of Resolution
12 will allow Direcfors to allot, including the ordinary shares referred fo in paragraph (a)i) of Resolution 12, further of the Company's ordinary shares
in connection with a preemptive offer by way of a rights issue fo ordinary shareholders up fo a maximum nominal amount of £61,798,409.13,
representing approximately two thirds (66.67%) of the Company’s existing issued share capital and calculated as at 10 July 2012 (being the latest
practicable date prior to publication of this circular). The Directors have no present intention of exercising this authority. However, if they do exercise
the authority, the Directors intend fo follow emerging best practice as regards its use, as recommended by the Association of British Insurers.

Resolution 12 will be proposed as an ordinary resolution to renew this authority until the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting o, if earlier,
the close of business on 1 November 2013.

Resolution 13:

Direciors’ powers to disapply preemption rights

Also at last year's meefing, a special resolution was passed, under sections 570 and 573 of the Companies Act 2006, empowering the Directors to
allot equity securities for cash without first being required to offer such shares fo existing shareholders. It is proposed that this authority also be renewed.
IF approved, the Resolution will authorise the Directors to issue shares in connection with a rights issue and otherwise fo issue shares for cash up fo a
maximum nominal amount of £4,634,880.69 which includes the sale on a non preemptive basis of any shares the Company may hold in treasury
for cash. The maximum nominal amount of equity securities to which this authority relates represents approximately 5% of the issued share capital of
the Company as at 10 July 2012 [being the latest pracficable date prior to publication of this circular.

The Directors do not infend to issue more than /.5% of the issued share capital of the Company for cash on a non preemptive basis in any rolling
three year period without prior consultation with the shareholders and the Investment Commitiees of the Association of Brifish Insurers and the National
Association of Pension Funds. Resolution 13 will be proposed as a special resolution to renew this authority until the conclusion of the next Annual
Ceneral Meeting or, if earlier, the close of business on 1 November 2013.

Resolution 14:

Company’s authority fo purchase shares

This Resolution, which will be proposed as a special resolution, seeks to renew the existing authority for the Company fo purchase its own shares in
the market. This authority gives the Company greater flexibility in managing its capital resources. The Direciors have no specific intention of using this
authority and would do so only when, in the light of market conditions, they believed that the effect of such purchases would be fo increase earnings
per share, and that the purchases were in the interests of shareholders generally. The Directors would also give careful consideration to gearing levels
of the Company and its general financial position. The purchase price would be paid out of distributable profits. Resolution 14 specifies the maximum
number of shares which may be purchased (representing approximately 10% of the Company’s issued share capital at 10 July 2012, being the latest
practicable date prior fo publication of this document), the minimum and maximum prices at which they may be bought and when the authority

will expire, reflecting the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and the Listing Rules of the FSA. The minimum price at which the shares may

be purchased is their nominal value and the maximum price is the higher of 5% above the average of the middle market values of those shares for
the five business days before the purchase is made and the amount stipulated by Article 5(1) of the Buy-back and Stabilisation Regulation 2003.
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Notice of Annual General Meeting 2012 continued

The Companies Act 2006 enables certain listed companies to hold shares in treasury, as an alternative to cancelling them, following a purchase of
own shares by the Company. Shares held in treasury may subsequently be cancelled, sold for cash or used to satisly share options and share awards
under the Company’s share schemes. Once held in freasury, the Company is not entifled to exercise any rights, including the right fo attend and vote
af meefings, in respect of those shares. Further, no dividend or distribution of the Company’s assets may be made to the Company in respect of those
shares whilst held in treasury. Accordingly, if the Directors exercise the authority conferred by Resolution 14, the Company will have the option of
holding those shares in treasury rather than cancelling them. The total number of ordinary shares that are under option through the Company’s share
option schemes at 10 July 2012 [being the latest practicable date prior to publication of this nofice) is 7,261,451 of which 333,810 are options
over unissued ordinary shares. The proportion of issued ordinary share capital that the options over unissued ordinary shares represented on this

date was 0.04% and the proportion of issued ordinary share capital that they will represent if the full authority to purchase shares [existing and being
sought] is used is 0.03%. The authority will expire at close of business on 1 November 2013 or at the conclusion of the next Annual General Meefing
(whichever is the earlier). It is the present infention of the Direcfors to seek a similar authority annually.

Resolution 15:

Notice of general meefings

The notice period required by the Companies Act 2006 for general meefings of the Company is 21 days unless shareholders approve a shorter
nofice period, which cannot however be less than 14 clear days. (Annual General Meetings must always be held on at least 21 clear days’ nofice. )

At last year's Annual General Meeting, shareholders authorised the calling of general meetings other than an Annual General Meeting on not less
than 14 clear days’ notice and it is proposed that this authority be renewed. The authority granted by this resolution, if passed, will be effective unti
the Company’s next Annual General Meefing, when it is infended that a similar resolution will be proposed.

Note that if a general meeting is called on less than 21 clear days’ nofice, the Company will make a means of electronic voting available fo dll
shareholders for that meeting. The flexibility offered by this resolution will be used where, faking info account the circumstances, the Directors consider
this appropriate in relation fo the business of the meeting and in the inferests of the Company and shareholders as a whole.

Recommendation

Your Directors believe that all the proposals in the resolutions o be considered af the Annual General Meefing are in the best interests of the Company
and its shareholders and recommend shareholders to vote in favour of the resolutions. The Directors will be voting in favour of the resolutions in respect
of their own shareholdings.

Important notes about the Annual General Meeting

Date
Tuesday 4 September 2012.

Location
At the offices of Allen & Overy LLP. One Bishops Square, Llondon E1 6AD.

Timing
The Meeting will start prompily at 2.00pm and shareholders wishing to attend are advised to be in the venue no later than 1.50pm. The reception
area will be open from 1.30pm, from which time tea and coffee will be served.

Travel information
A map on the reverse of the Admitiance Card shows the location of the offices of Allen & Overy LLP and the nearest underground and railway stations.
The venue is less than five minutes’ walk from Liverpool Street station. There are no carparking facilities at the venue.

Admission

Please bring the Admitiance Card (which is the tearoff section 1o the right of the Form of Proxy) with you to the Meeting. You may be asked to show
the Card before being admitted fo the venue. Shareholders and proxy holders may also be required to provide proof of identity. The registration
process may fake longer without these documents. Shareholders are politely requested to bring no more than one guest o the Meeting except by
prior arrangement with the Company Secrefary.

Facilities

The offices of Allen & Overy LLP have wheelchair access. If you are planning to come fo the Meeting and are a wheelchair user, please call

020 3088 4040 when nearing the building.

Enquiries and questions
Shareholders who intend to ask a question related fo the business of the Meeting are asked to provide their name, address and question at
the Registration desk. Staff from Equinifi will be on hand to provide advice and assistance.
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Shareholder Information

Financial diary

4 September 2012
Annual General Meefing

3 October 2012
Exdividend date for final dividend

1 November 2012
Payment of final dividend

6 December 2012"

Announcement of halfyear results for the six months ended 31 October 2012
3 Apiil 2013"

Ex-dividend date for interim dividend

| May 2013

Payment of inferim dividend

27 June 2013"

Announcement of final results for the year ended 30 April 2013

* provisional date

Company website

The Company’s website at
www.dssmith.uk.com contains the

latest information for shareholders,
including press releases and an updated
financial diary. E-mail alerts of the latest
news, press releases and financial reports
about DS Smith Plc may be obtained

by registering for the e-mail news alert
service on the website.

Share price information

The latest price of the Company’s ordinary
shares is available from the FT Cityline service.
Calls within the UK are charged at 75 pence
per minute at all times. To access this service,
telephone 09058 171 690. Alternatively click
on www.londonstockexchange.com. DS Smith’s
ticker symbol is SMDS. It is recommended that
you consult your financial adviser and verify
information obtained from these services

before making any investment decision.

Registrars

Please contact the Registrars af the address
below to advise of a change of address
or for any enquiries relafing to dividend
payments, lost share certificates or other
share registration matters.

The Registrars provide on-line facilities af
www.shareview.co.uk. Once you have
registered you will be able to access
information on your DS Smith Plc shareholding,
update your personal defails and amend your

dividend payment instructions online without
having to call or write fo the Regisfrars.

Dividends

Shareholders who wish to have their
dividends paid direcily info a bank or building
society account should contact the Registrars.
In addifion, the Registrars are now able to
pay dividends in 36 foreign currencies.

This service is called ‘TAPS" and enables

the payment of your dividends directly into
your bank account in your home currency.

A charge of £2.50 is deducted from each
dividend payment fo cover the costs involved.
Please contact the Registrars fo request
further information.

Share dedling services

The Registrars offer a reaktime telephone and
infernet dealing service. Further details including
terms and rates can be obtained by logging on
fo the website at www.shareview.co.uk/dealing
or by calling 0845 603 7037 . lines are open
between 8am and 4.30pm, Monday fo Friday.

J.P. Morgan Cazenove operates a low-cost

share dedling service for private invesfors who
wish to buy or sell ordinary shares of the
Company. This is an execution-only service and
further details can be obtained from The Share
Dealing Service, J.P. Morgan Cazenove,

10 Aldermanbury, london EC2V 7RF.
Telephone: 020 7155 5155. Please

nofe there is a minimum fransaction level

of £500 for using this service.

Registered Office and advisers
Secretary and Registered Office
Matt Jowett

Beech House

Whitebrook Park

68 Llower Cookham Road
Maidenhead

Berkshire SL6 8XY

Registered in England No: 1377658

Auditor

Deloitte LLP

2 New Street Square
london EC4A 3BZ

Solicitors

Allen & Overy LLP
One Bishops Square
london ET 6AD

Principal clearing bank
The Royal Bank of Scotland
135 Bishopsgate

london EC2M 3UR

Stockbroker

J.P. Morgan Cazenove
10 Aldermanbury
london EC2V /RF

Registrars
Equiniti
Aspect House
Spencer Road
Lancing

West Sussex BNOQ 6DA

Registrars queries

Information on how to manage

your shareholdings can be found af
hitps:/ /help.shareview.co.uk. The

pages at this web address provide
answers fo commonly asked questions
regarding shareholder registration, links fo
downloadable forms and guidance nofes.

If your question is not answered by the
information provided, you can send your
enquiry via secure email from these pages.
You will be asked to complete a structured
form and fo provide your Shareholder
Reference, Name and Address. You will also
need fo provide your email address if this is
how you would like fo receive your response.

Alternatively, telephone: 0871 384 2197.
lines are open 8.30am fo 5.30pm Monday
fo Friday. Calls to this number will be charged
at 8 pence per minute from a BT landline.
Other telephone providers' costs may vary.

Overseas telephone: +44 121 415 7047,
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DS SmithPlc
T~

DS Smith Plc

Beech House
Whitebrook Park

68 Lower Cookham Road
Maidenhead

Berkshire SL6 8XY

Telephone +44 (0) 1628 583 400
Fax +44 (0) 1628 583 401

E-mail ir@dssmith.co.uk
www.dssmith.uk.com

®
MIX
Paper from

responsible sources
Eﬁg FSC® C022913

Prined in the UK by Pureprint Group using their
pureprint® environmental print fechnology on

Core Silk made from FSC® certified fibre.

Pureprint Group is a carbon neutral company
registered to EMAS, the Eco Management Audit
Scheme and certified o ISO 14001 Environmental
Management Sysfem.

Design and production by Black Sun Plc (London)
www.blacksunple.com

+44(0) 20 7736 0011

Principal Offices

Corporate Head Office
DS Smith Plc

Beech House

Whitebrook Park

68 Lower Cookham Road
Maidenhead

Berkshire SL6 8XY

Telephone +44 (0) 1628 583 400

Businesses

DS Smith Kaysersberg
CS 10

77 Route de lapoutroie
68240 Kayersberg
France

Telephone +33 (0) 3 89 78 30 00

DS Smith Packaging

Beech House

Whitebrook Park

68 Lower Cookham Road
Maidenhead

Berkshire SL6 8XY

Telephone +44 (0) 1753 754 380

DS Smith Packaging France
8 Terrasse Bellini

©2800 Puteaux

France

Telephone +33 (0) 1 49 01 48 48

DS Smith Paper

Head Office

Kemsley Mil

Sittingbourne

Kent METO 2TD

Telephone +44 (0) 1795 518 900

DS Smith Plastics

Butlers leap

Clifton Road

Rugby

Warwickshire CV21 3RQ
Telephone +44 (0) 1788 532 861

DS Smith Recycling

Ty Gwyrdd

11 Beddau Way

Caerphilly

Mid Clamorgan CF83 2AX
Telephone +44 (0) 2920 718 400



